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2020 SALIENT POINTS
Long-term funding

Corporate social investment spend

US$5 million

R10,520 million

72%

Obtained to finance the expansion of underground operations

(2019: R6,125 million)

Revenue

Three lost-time incidents

R260,394 million

(2019: two)

14%

(2019: R302,122 million)

Investment in property, plant and equipment

R51,578 million

17%

(2019: R62,215 million)

Investment in Nuco Chrome

Basic and headline (loss)/earnings per share
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Bauba Resources Limited
(Bauba, the group or the
company) is pleased to
present its integrated
annual report. This is our
principal communication
with all stakeholders which
is published amid the
COVID-19 pandemic and
details our ability to create
sustainable value over time.

Boundary and scope
This integrated annual report covers our
performance for the year ended 30 June 2020.
The report informs you about our operational
and financial performance in relation to our
previously stated plans, stakeholder relationships,
governance, material issues, risks and
opportunities and how these factors influence our
strategic objectives and future plans. We show
how we create value and impact and how we will
ensure that our value creation is sustainable in
the short, medium and long term.

Reporting principles
and assurance

Report on Corporate Governance for South
Africa 2016 (King IV) and the International
Integrated Reporting Framework (<IR>
Framework) of the International Integrated
Reporting Council.
The Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
report complies with the South African Code
for the Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves,
2016 edition (SAMREC Code).
The Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves report is presented on
page 28.
Our annual financial statements were prepared
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the requirements
of the Companies Act of South Africa (Act 71
of 2008), as amended (Companies Act) and
the listings requirements of the JSE Limited
(JSE Listings Requirements).
For more information, see the audit
and risk committee report presented
on page 78.
Bauba receives external assurance from its
independent, external auditor, BDO South
Africa Incorporated, on the fair presentation of
the annual financial statements. The external
auditor reviewed the integrated annual report
to ensure consistency with the audited annual
financial statements, but they did not issue an
opinion thereon.

This report is compiled and presented
considering the requirements of the King IV

The independent auditor’s report is
presented on page 80.

Forward-looking
statements
This integrated annual report contains forwardlooking statements that, unless otherwise
indicated, reflect the group’s expectations as at
30 June 2020. Actual results may differ materially
from the group’s expectations if known or
unknown risks or uncertainties affect its business,
or if estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate.
The group cannot guarantee that any
forward-looking statement will materialise
and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements. The group disclaims any intention
and assumes no obligation to update or revise
any forward-looking statement even if new
information or conditions manifest as a result
of future events, or for any other reason, as is
required by legislation or regulation.

Materiality
We concentrate on items of both a qualitative
and quantitative nature that are material
to Bauba’s ability to deliver on its strategy.
We define material issues as those which have
the potential to substantially impact our ability to
create and sustain value for our stakeholders.
In identifying matters which are material, we
have consistently applied the same resources
as in the prior year. By applying the principle
of materiality, we determined which issues
could influence the decisions, actions and
performance of Bauba. Management is not
aware of the unavailability of any reliable
information or any legal prohibitions to disclosing
any material information.

Approval by the board
The board is ultimately responsible for ensuring the integrity of the integrated annual report, assisted by the audit and risk committee and further supported
by management, which contracted the relevant skills and experience to undertake the reporting process and provided management oversight. Internal
parties have devoted significant thought to how best communicate the Bauba story.
The board, after applying its collective mind to the preparation and presentation of the report, concluded that it was presented materially in accordance with
the <IR> Framework and approved it for publication on 15 January 2021:

NMP
Nico van der Hoven
Chairperson

Martin Luyt
Independent non-executive
director

Nick van der Hoven
Chief executive officer

Damian Smith
Independent non-executive
director

Jonathan Knowlden
Financial director

Thabile Makgala
Independent non-executive
director

Dr Mathews Phosa
Non-executive director
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ABOUT BAUBA
Bauba is a mining and exploration company, listed on the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange (JSE) since September 2010, and fully compliant with the Mining Charter.

Our purpose
We want to create value for our
stakeholders.

Our strategic intent
Our strategy is to reward shareholders, employees, communities and countries by discovering, acquiring
and mining low-cost, high-return natural resources through efﬁcient and responsible mining practices.

Our strategy is supported by:
An experienced
leadership team with
a strong track record
of developing mines
and delivering value to
shareholders

A robust pipeline of
development assets
for growth which spans
chrome, vanadium and
platinum group metals
(PGMs)

A focus on low-cost
cash-generative assets

Funding and net cash
of R49 million

Additional asset currently
being acquired or applied
for and partnering with
local communities

Our primary business focus areas:
Creating value from
our chrome ore mining
operation
Bauba has a 30-year mining right for
chrome ore on the farm Moeijelijk 412KS.
The Moeijelijk Chrome Mine is an
operating and expanding project exploiting
underground chrome resources. It is
situated on the Eastern Limb of the
Bushveld Igneous Complex, with LG2,
LG6A/6 and LG7 chrome ore-bearing reefs.
Ore is exported to China.
The cash generated from this project will be
used to:
• Potentially declare dividends to Bauba’s
shareholders;
• Self-ﬁnance the development of our
existing low-cost mines/projects;
• Fund the pursuance of additional mining
projects; and
• Progress the Bauba platinum project.

The exploration,
evaluation and
development of the
Bauba platinum project
The Bauba platinum project, a highquality platinum group elements (PGEs)
prospecting project, is situated within a
prime segment of the Eastern Limb of the
Bushveld Igneous Complex.
The project lies in the heart of the world’s
best-known platinum region, where a
number of neighbouring companies are
successfully prospecting and mining PGEs
from the Merensky and UG2 Reefs.
Bauba holds PGE mineral rights over eight
properties that extend across approximately
14 390 hectares within the Leolo mountain
range in the Limpopo province, some
245km north-east of Johannesburg.
The properties are grouped into the
Northern and Southern Clusters.
The Bauba platinum project has an Inferred
Resource of 17,22 million ounces and a
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conceptual exploration target range of
73,5 million ounces to 109,6 million ounces.
Refer to the Mineral Resources and
Mineral Reserves report on page 28.

Bauba has an accepted mining right
application over these platinum farms which
the Department of Mineral Resources and
Energy (DMRE) is currently processing.

Other projects
Bauba purchased 74% shareholding in
Nuco Chrome Bophuthatswana Proprietary
Limited. Nuco Chrome is an exploration
company with mineral rights for various
minerals, including chrome ore and PGE.
The project is considered an advanced
exploration project where exploration work
was conducted during 2015 and 2016.
Bauba has a 70% shareholding in the
Hartebeesfontein project. Exploration is
still to be conducted however, a high-level
study and conceptual tonnage estimate was
completed during 2018 and 2019 over the
Brits Prospecting Right portion.
Refer to page 23 for a brief summary
of Bauba’s key near-term potential
projects.
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COMMITMENT TO ESG
Bauba is committed to delivering on the principles and ideals of environmental, social
and corporate governance (ESG):

Environment

Social transformation

Corporate citizenship

All of our exploration and mining sites
are rehabilitated in accordance with
all relevant legislation. Contractors are
responsible for rehabilitating the sites and
mines to standards agreed with Bauba.
To reduce rehabilitation costs and the
impact on the environment from mining
activities, roll-over mining is planned and
implemented wherever possible.

Bauba fully embraces the spirit and
transformational intent of the Minerals
and Petroleum Resources Development
Act (Act 28 of 2002) (MPRDA), the broadbased black economic empowerment
Act (Act 53 of 2003) (BBBEE Act) and
the broad-based socio-economic
Empowerment Charter for the Mining and
Minerals Industry, 2018 (Mining Charter
2018), developed in terms of section
100 of the MPRDA.

Bauba seeks to uphold the ethical
and responsible principles and values
embodied in King IV.

Management constantly inspects drill
and mine sites to ensure compliance
with these standards.

The Bauba
platinum project
has an Inferred
Resource of

17,22 million
ounces

It is committed to fair and equitable
employment practices. Contractors are
required to adhere strictly to health, safety
and environmental regulations. Our core
value of ensuring a safe and healthy
working environment is guided by a health
and safety policy, aligned with occupational
health and mining legislation requirements.
It drives our goal of zero harm to
employees, contractors and communities
close to the prospecting and mining areas.
We encourage our contractors to recruit
employees locally as far as possible.

Agility
We act quickly. We are ﬂexible and
responsive.

Respect
We treat people with respect and dignity
no matter who they are. People drive
Bauba, together in purpose and towards
one shared vision, relying on each
other’s strengths.
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For more information on Bauba’s
environmental, social and corporate
governance, see page 56.

Safety
Our core values

Performance
We deliver on time, within budget and
generate cash while expanding and
increasing efﬁciency.

Safety is a prime priority. Bauba maintains
an ethos that ALL injuries can be
prevented.

Integrity
Being fair and honest. Doing what is
right all the time. Doing what we say we
will do. We carry out our promises and
always acknowledge any mistakes.

2021/01/15 4:43 PM
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COMMITMENT TO ESG continued

Bauba has improved upon its sustainability reporting to further provide transparency
internally and externally.

OUR COVID-19
RESPONSE
The novel coronavirus (COVID-19),
which emerged in late 2019, has
subsequently been declared a global
pandemic during 2020 by the World
Health Organisation (WHO). COVID-19
has had a far-reaching and drastic
impact on almost every business
globally.
At Bauba, due to the high health risk of
COVID-19, the safety of our employees
has been a top priority. In response,
Bauba Resources Limited and Bauba
A Hlabirwa Mining Investments
Proprietary Limited (the group) have
uncompromisingly secured the health
and safety of its employees by:
• Implementing all screening
protocols, including recording of
information and monitoring of high
temperatures, where necessary;
• Ensuring employees are provided
with certiﬁed personal protective
equipment; and
• Identiﬁed appropriate
accommodation for employees and/
or contractors’ employees who test
positive.
Each of the above-mentioned
responses are subject to local legal
regulations and public health guidelines.

ENVIRONMENT
Bauba is committed to promoting a sustainable and healthy environment.
Our aims, in order to promote such an environment, are:
Address the measurement, awareness, strategy, goals and targets of
environmental concerns

To develop ofﬁce focused initiatives which all employees are bound to
respect and promote

Reduce Bauba’s environmental impact and continually improve our
environmental performance

Comply with the requirements of current environmental legislation,
regulation and codes of practice

Develop a culture of environmental concern and promotion

Communicate Bauba’s commitment to a healthy and sustainable
environment

Provide a guideline to employees regarding the environmental standards
expected of suppliers

Water abstraction volumes for the period 2019/2020

Opencast abstraction

18%

Underground abstraction

21%

Wash plant abstraction

47%

Available abstraction

14%

Over-abstraction
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Conservation measures to date

Water savings
(m3/d)

Description
Opencast operation
Reduced the watering down cycles from 6 to 3 cycles in a 24 hour period

70,0

Introduced a water additive to the water used for dust allying

26,4

Underground operation
Installed tamper-proof eco–shower heads

2,4

Implemented the use of a waste water treatment plant for the treatment and reuse of all the sewage
and grey water

20,0

TMM washing moved to the workshop where water will be recycled for reuse

1,5

Wash plant operation
Installed and commissioned an extra settling tank to improve the management of mud from the mud pond
Installed a water meter to monitor water received from Hall Core Water

1,5
To be determined

SOCIAL
Human capital
Human capital plays a central role in the implementation of the group’s key strategic initiatives, setting out the group’s contributions
in the table below:

To coordinate the recruitment of quality
talent, the development of skills and
review performance development to
improve the quality of our workforce.

To support and promote “best
practice” and to continually drive
operating efﬁciencies and consistency.

To facilitate the human capital needs
in areas such as skills development or
employment equity.

To instil the culture and values of
Bauba in addition to continuously
implementing policies and procedures.

Bauba relies on its human and intellectual capital to achieve its strategies and to fulﬁl its vision and strategy. Training and
development of skills are integral to the maintenance and enhancement of the group’s human capital.
Training is conducted and dependent on the needs or requirements of employees, and is done in accordance with the SETA
requirements, submitting a workplace skills plan and annual training report annually.
An employment equity plan has been implemented of which Bauba complies with the provisions of the Employment Equity Act,
in addition to submitting a report to the Director General as required by section 21 of the above Act.
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COMMITMENT TO ESG continued

Health and safety

Social and labour plan

The health and safety committee
monitors compliance with the various
laws and regulations for health and safety
within the mining industry and beyond.

Bauba has invested and continues to invest in projects that beneﬁt the entire
community rather than individuals, reinforcing that community relations are integral
to our stakeholder engagement with community representatives and members.
Bauba has supplied the following during 2020:

The Moeijelijk Mine has appointed
the necessary mining health and
safety representatives (ﬁrst aid, ﬁre
and general health and safety), where
regular health and safety audits are
conducted. Bauba utilises the services
of an external consultant whenever
necessary.

1

3

Health and safety statistics
The numbers below for the 2019/2020
period, including those contracted to
Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments
Proprietary Limited (Bauba A Hlabirwa).

Number of fatalities

1

Number of treat and
return cases

17

4

2

5
Number of medical
treatments

1

Number of lost-time
injuries

3

Number of reportable
injuries

1

Total recordable injuries
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23

1

2

3

Supplied, and continue to supply COVID-19
relief, such as sanitisers, masks and gloves
to the local school.

Packaged and delivered food parcels
to 200 members with no income to
the Tsibeng community during the
peak of COVID-19.

4

Planted, and continue to plant, indigenous
trees between the mine and community
creating a visual, dust and noise screen.

5

Supplied, and continue to supply COVID-19
relief, such as sanitisers, masks and gloves,
to the Phasha Clinic.

2021/01/15 4:43 PM
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GOVERNANCE

Bauba has supplied the following during 2020:
1

07

Corporate social investment
(CSI)

2

The board recognises that the group
has a responsibility for effective
corporate governance as directed
by King IV, ensuring ethical business
practices and transparent stakeholder
engagement. This responsibility goes
beyond the generation of proﬁts, but
to undertake social development and
social investment activities.
In doing so, Bauba recognises its
focus to:
3

4

Respect the King IV principles ensuring
the organisation is a responsible
corporate citizen;

5

Engage in social investment and
reporting that complies with policy, in
addition to further instructions, ideas
and strategies communicated by the
various role players tasked with the
management and reporting of CSI; and

6

7

Encourage meaningful support projects
at the Moeijelijk Mine to its surrounding
community.

1

2

3

Supplied solar street lights in both the
Tsibeng and Lekgwareng communities, as
well as solar spot lights to all three schools
in our community to improve safety and
security.
Installed 12 new boreholes in the
Tsibeng, Lekgwareng, Taung and Legobie
communities.
Employed community members to assist
in the enterprise development project to
salvage scrap metal.
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4

Supplied all women employees at the mine,
including to each girl in the secondary
school, with menstrual cups.

5

Renovated the Morwasi Secondary School
in which an additional four-room classroom
block was built.

6

Schools were supplied with two laptops
each to assist with administration duties.

7

School bags were provided to each learner
at the local school.

2021/01/15 4:43 PM
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OUR
EVENTFUL
HISTORY
2015

2010
17 September
Bauba Platinum lists on the
Main Board of the JSE

25 March

2013

First Moeijelijk
chrome ore sold

27 June
Moeijelijk Mine 30-year
mining right granted

11 September
Declaration of a
SAMREC-compliant
Inferred Resource of
17,22 million ounces
over the Bauba
platinum project

2016

2014
11 November
Acquisition of Moeijelijk
chrome project
completed and mining
permit granted

Since its formation, Bauba has
had an eventful history in
creating value for all its
stakeholders.
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CREATING
VALUE

2020

2017
5 January
Moeijelijk underground
project initiated

1 September
Bauba generates net
proﬁt for the 2017
ﬁnancial year of
R96 million and a maiden
distribution of 10 cents
per share is declared

2018
19 October
Moeijelijk monthly
underground chrome
ore production of
10 515 tonnes with
average Cr2O3 grade of
39,00% achieved

16 November
Bauba applies for
prospecting right
over Zeekoegat after
High Court sets aside
Samancor mining right

13 March

2019

Long-term loan of
US$5 million obtained to
ﬁnance the expansion of
underground operations

6 June

9 September

Application for
prospecting right over
Hartebeesfontein
accepted by the DMRE

Prospecting right over
Hartebeesfontein
executed by DMRE

30 October
10 July
Listing of and trading in
shares on the JSE under
the new name Bauba
Resources Limited

Moeijelijk underground
North decline holed
allowing for stoping
production to commence
in addition to South
decline

19 July
Bauba acquires a 22%
shareholding of Nuco
Chrome and enters into
an agreement to acquire
a further 52%

30 November
Underground
production for month
of 31 500 tonnes

Read more about each of these landmark
events on www.baubaresources.co.za/news
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FIVE-YEAR METRICS
GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Financial performance
Revenue

260 394

302 122

234 261

205 318

78 743

Cost of sales

(249 325)

(190 475)

(81 595)

(63 318)

(29 191)

Gross proﬁt

11 069

111 647

152 666

142 000

49 552

–

71

1 169

24 015

–

(69 390)

(67 834)

(56 259)

(35 858)

(53 961)

–

–

–

–

–

Net ﬁnance (cost)/income

(1 120)

3 865

7 281

3 987

1 061

Share of loss of associate

(54)

–

–

–

–

(59 495)

47 749

104 857

134 144

(3 348)

Income tax

14 219

(14 718)

(32 947)

(38 615)

(1 884)

(Loss)/proﬁt for the year

(45 276)

33 031

71 910

95 529

(5 232)

(8,07)

4,71

10,02

14,65

(1,69)

Intangible assets

141 838

145 315

149 010

158 304

164 324

Property, plant and equipment

180 621

139 829

82 955

11 880

955

9 946

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

47

6 131

64 985

87 033

17 441

8 064

–

–

–

–

–

476

Trade and other receivables

14 600

10 899

3 287

2 089

1 670

Cash and cash equivalents

48 514

32 822

70 077

122 198

11 739

460 504

415 898

322 770

302 582

185 295

Other income
Operating and administrative expenses
Impairment of intangible assets

(Loss)/proﬁt before tax

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

Financial position
Investment in associate
Deferred tax
Inventory
Tax receivable

Total assets
Stated capital

512 500

512 500

512 500

550 402

550 402

Reverse asset acquisition reserve

(282 988)

(282 988)

(282 988)

(282 988)

(282 988)

Share-based payment reserve

6 973

4 345

1 294

477

–

Retained (loss)/earnings

(13 454)

17 138

(792)

(39 040)

(94 796)

Non-controlling interest

55 340

70 024

54 923

42 089

2 316

5 794

6 650

3 620

8 258

5 552

Deferred tax

16 527

30 746

19 462

–

–

Borrowings

70 637

–

–

–

–

5 075

–

–

–

–

Trade and other payables

54 354

32 610

10 994

20 876

1 052

Other ﬁnancial liabilities

17 911

7 449

461

1 425

3 757

Loan from shareholder

10 194

–

–

–

–

–

13 364

–

–

–

Environmental rehabilitation provision

Lease liability

Prepayment
Current tax payable

1 641

4 060

3 296

1 083

–

460 504

415 898

322 770

302 582

185 295

Net asset value per share (cents)

73,44

84,70

75,18

71,48

46,15

Tangible net asset value per share (cents)

36,02

46,36

35,86

29,72

2,80

Total equity and liabilities
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GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

6 503

4 627

15 699

118 946

6 358

–

–

(2 193)

(872)

(2 232)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

(45 673)

(59 185)

(72 908)

(11 602)

(25)

Acquisition of investment in associate

(10 000)

–

–

–

–

885

3 939

7 281

3 987

1 061

Proceeds from prepayment

–

73 500

–

–

–

Cash flow
Cash from operating activities
Acquisition of intangible assets

Finance income
Repayment of prepayment

(13 364)

(60 136)

–

–

–

Proceeds from/(repayment of) borrowing

68 853

–

–

–

(26 531)

Loan from shareholder

10 000

–

–

–

–

Principle paid on lease liability

(910)

–

–

–

–

Finance cost paid – lease liability

(375)

–

–

–

–

Finance cost paid – loan from shareholder

(227)

–

–

–

–

Total cash movement for the year

15 692

(37 255)

(52 121)

110 459

(21 369)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year

32 822

70 077

122 198

11 739

33 108

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

48 514

32 822

70 077

122 198

11 739

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 11
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HOW WE CREATE VALUE

Business
activities

Trade-oﬀs
made

Risks to
value
creation
Outputs
– value
created

The capital is used to ﬁnance
the development and expansion
of our existing low-cost
Moeijelijk Mine, the returns of
which will be used to fund new
mining projects, progress our
platinum and chrome projects
and, ultimately, declare
dividends to our shareholders.

Financial capital is required to
enhance our manufactured, human
and social capital and to preserve
natural capital. We perform stringent
due diligence prior to committing
funding to any of the above.

Investments in
long-term assets

R62 million

74% shareholding in
Kookfontein and 70% holding
in Hartebeesfontein.

We establish sound
business codes and
practices in managing
corporate governance, risk,
opportunities, safety and the
environment. In addition to the
platinum project mining right
application, we have since
June 2017 lodged prospecting
right applications for eight new
potential projects.

Mining operations are
increased or decreased, even
suspended, based on the cost
of extracting minerals and the
rand price received for mined
commodities.

Mining rights are traded or exploited
based on the cost of establishing
and operating mining operations
and the potential proceeds from
minerals mined.

Revenue from sale of
chrome ore

Regulatory risk

R260 million
(2019: R302 million)

(2019: R62 million)

R106 million
(2019: R186 million)
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The group has established
an efﬁcient, low-cost
and cash-generative
LG6 opencast chrome
mine. The LG6 opencast
chrome ore was depleted
by 31 December 2020.
Cash-generated has
been re-invested into
the development of the
underground mine which
is near completion.

60% holding in 10 properties
measuring 14 390 hectares
with high-quality PGE mineral
rights, the Bauba brand,
specialised knowledge and
experience.

Metal prices

Market capitalisation

Outcomes
– value
shared

Bauba has a developed,
cash-generative
Moeijelijk Mine with a
30-year mining right for
chrome ore.

Intellectual capital

The capital from shareholders
and lenders and the reserves
generated from operations are
used to invest and generate
future earnings, rewarding
shareholders, employees,
communities and our country.

Manufactured capital

Inputs

Financial capital

By using the resources and expertise at our disposal, we create sustainable, long-term value for all stakeholders:

Investors
Eventual capital share price
growth and sustainable
dividend growth.

Investments
Bauba’s collective skills,
experience and resources
are instrumental in
unlocking the value in its
investments.

Chrome mineral rights (cost)

R157 million
(2019: R157 million)

Platinum mineral rights
(cost)

R31 million
(2019: R31 million)

Investments
Unlocking opportunities locked
in existing mineral rights
and identifying new growth
opportunities.
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Bauba forges and
maintains strong
relationships with
communities in keeping
with its desire to be a
good corporate citizen.

Natural capital

Bauba’s people have
specialised knowledge, skills
and experience, which are
applied to ensure that sound,
sustainable mining and other
use is made of its assets, in line
with its strategy.

Social and relationship capital

Human capital

BAUBA RESOURCES LIMITED INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Bauba is conscious of limiting
any detrimental eﬀect its
operations may have on the
environment, whether as
a result of diesel burning,
electricity generation, waste
or land disturbance.

By actively engaging
stakeholders through
dialogue and acting on
material issues raised,
we continue to strengthen
our relationships.

Full provision is made for the
estimated cost of restoring the
environmental disturbance,
based on current mining
and rehabilitation plans,
contracted mining rates and
surveyor’s measurements.

The future value to be derived
from developing our people has to
be balanced with the cost of the
investment in their development.

An investment of our ﬁnancial
capital in the societies
surrounding our operations
brings goodwill and positive
employees to our mines.

Rehabilitation can be very costly,
but doing too little can cause
irreparable damage to reputation
and corporate citizenship.

Safety

Social unrest

Climate change

Personnel expenses

Current income and
royalty tax expense

Provision for rehabilitation

We aim to attract, develop
and retain the best people
by creating a culture of
excellence. We provide a safe
environment for our people to
work in.

R20 million
(2019: R19 million)

R2 million

13

R6 million
(2019: R7 million)

(2019: R7 million)

Lost-time injuries

Three
(2019: two)

Corporate social investment

The environment
Minimise harm.

R11 million
(2019: R6 million)

Employees
Continued development of our
people and their skills.

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 13

Society at large
Contributing to conﬁdence
in the economy and faith
in trusted leadership.
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INTERACTING WITH
OUR STAKEHOLDERS
We engage with our stakeholders on the issues that are material to them and respond
appropriately through the delivery of our strategy in a way that will create sustainable
long-term value for Bauba and all its stakeholders:

Shareholders and analysts
including both current and potential future investors
How we interact
Bauba communicates with shareholders through SENS
and when it announces interim and year-end results. This
is accompanied by comprehensive reports which are sent
to all shareholders. The executive meets with current and
potential investors from time to time.
Their material requirements
• Clear growth strategy
• Long-term sustainable returns
Our strategic response
Striving to reward shareholders with high returns.

Media
How we interact
Engagement with the media is open, honest and based on
facts. A trustworthy relationship has been established with
the media.
Their material requirements
• Sharing expert knowledge
• Transparent performance reporting
Our strategic response
Engaging in responsible mining practices.
Value created
• Building a trusted brand

Risk to creating value
Low metal prices.
Value created
• Long-term sustainable capital growth and, eventually,
an attractive dividend yield.
Bauba’s interim and ﬁnal results announcements are
www.baubaresources.co.za
accessible on

Customers
How we interact
• We meet regularly with our customers to better
understand their exact requirements.
• We negotiate clear and fair terms with our customers
and deliver a product that meets and exceeds their
expectations.
Their material requirements
• Trust
• On-time delivery
Our strategic response
Delivering natural resources in an efﬁcient and responsible
manner.
Risk to creating value
Low metal prices.
Value created
• Satisﬁed clients
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Suppliers

Communities

How we interact
We have both one-on-one meetings with and presentations
to suppliers. We subscribe to responsible transformation.

How we interact
We are committed to uplifting the societies in which we
operate by following sound employment practices and
meeting the real needs of the communities.

Their material requirements
• Fair treatment
• Broad-based black economic empowerment (BBBEE)
Our strategic response
Fair and efﬁcient mining practices.
Risk to creating value
Low metal prices.
Value created
• Reliable and empowered suppliers

Their material requirements
• Safe and clean environment
• Financial inclusion
Our strategic response
Rewarding and respecting the communities in which we
operate.
Risk to creating value
Social unrest.
Value created
• No harm done
• Sharing wealth
See more on our social upliftment on

page 5.

Employees
How we interact
Bauba’s strategy is to attract, develop and retain the
best industry talent. Employees are empowered, held
accountable and rewarded appropriately, in line with
shareholders’ return.
Their material requirements
• Fair remuneration
• Safe working environment
• Appropriate training
Our strategic response
Rewarding employees fairly and keeping them safe.
Risk to creating value
Safety incidents.
Value created
• Fulﬁlling and family-supporting careers

Government and regulatory bodies
including SARS, DMRE, DWS, SAPS and the JSE
How we interact
Bauba engages with government and regulatory bodies in a
proactive and transparent manner to ensure that we comply
with all legislation timeously and that our operations are able
to run sustainably.
Their material requirements
• Open and honest relationships and communication
• Adherence to laws
• Paying taxes
Our strategic response
Conducting efﬁcient and responsible mining practices.
Risk to creating value
Social unrest.

In keeping with our desire for responsible corporate citizenship,
we maintain an open dialogue with all stakeholders.

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 15

Value created
• Leading by example
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THE TOP RISKS WE FACE AND
THE OPPORTUNITIES THEY
BRING
With the assistance of the executive directors, the board monitors the significant risks
to which Bauba is exposed. It also ensures that risks are kept within a reasonable
appetite and that suﬃcient safeguards are put in place to mitigate such risks.
A comprehensive analysis of the risk management process and ﬁnancial risks, including those relating to the global economy and
page 114.
currencies, is disclosed in note 31 to the annual ﬁnancial statements on
A summarised risk matrix, which includes signiﬁcant risks, the impact of these risks, and the mitigating response of the company,
is set out below:
Risk

Possible impact

Strategic response in mitigation

Lower revenue and proﬁt as a result of
lower chrome ore rand free on truck price
realised by Bauba. This increases the risk
of Bauba not being able to continue as a
going concern.

Bauba owns and manages a lean, low-cost operation, that
is able to sustainably operate in even a very low pricing
environment. Cash reserves of the group are constantly
monitored and forecast to ensure current and future
obligations can be settled in a stressed environment.

Bauba may be unable to export chrome ore
and there could be an excess chrome ore
supply in the market, impacting revenue
and proﬁt.

In addition, Bauba has diversiﬁed into less volatile, gross
margin-enhancing, premium speciality grade product
concentrates through our Moeijelijk wash plant. The
market for foundry and chemical grade concentrates
is global and not materially tied to China and Chinese
metallurgical chrome ore demand, providing improved
diversiﬁcation against China country-speciﬁc risk.

The commercial viability of developing our
platinum properties is dependent on the
recovery of the PGEs basket price.

A mining right application has been submitted for these
properties and an acceptance letter was received from
the DMRE. The UG2 Reef on Waterkop may be mined
both opencast and underground at a shallow depth and
low cost.

Market risks
1. Chrome ore prices are quoted
in US dollars and the price is
dependent on market-related
factors that are wholly out
of the control of chrome
ore producers.
Bauba’s chrome ore is
sold into the international
market and therefore may be
impacted by a slowdown in
the global economy.
Strengthening of the rand
against the dollar.
2. Similar to the chrome ore
prices, the PGE prices
are quoted in US dollars
and price is dependent on
industry supply and demand
principles. The absence of a
recovery or even a decrease
in price for PGEs could
impact the development
of our platinum properties.

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 16

2021/01/15 4:43 PM

BAUBA RESOURCES LIMITED INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Impact and probability

17

Overall risk

High risk

Signiﬁcant

Medium risk

Exercise caution

Low risk

Low risk

Risk

Possible impact

Strategic response in mitigation

Social, political and legislative risk
3. Unrest in the local
communities, strike action
embarked on by mining
contractors and illegal mining
could negatively impact
on the Bauba Moeijelijk
operations.

Personnel and contractors’ lives may
be endangered. Loss of production and
lost sales may result in ﬁnancial loss, a
breakdown in trust and reputational damage
with customers. Damage to equipment and
infrastructure may also arise because of
community unrest.
Illegal chrome ore mining may continue
unabated, resulting in illegal chrome ore
ﬂooding the market and depressing the
chrome ore cost, insurance and freight
price. Illegal mining may also contribute to
community unrest through its attraction of
undue criminal inﬂuences.

Bauba is constantly in touch with the community and its
leaders and appropriate security measures are in place.
Bauba employs the maximum feasible number of people
from the local community to uplift the community both
economically and socially.
Bauba’s key contracts contain the necessary force majeure
clauses.
Continue with court applications and initiatives to prevent
illegal mining and engagement with the DMRE, law
enforcement and other relevant stakeholders to prevent
and stop current illegal mining activity.

Operational/business risks
4. Bauba’s earnings are
exposed to one commodity
(being chrome ore) and to
one operating mine
(Moeijelijk Mine).

No diversiﬁcation against prolonged bear
market in chrome versus other commodities.
No cash ﬂow diversiﬁcation if operations at
Moeijelijk are impacted.

Bauba is currently pursuing additional mining assets.
Bauba has completed a purchase agreement to acquire an
additional opencast chrome ore project in the North West
province.
In addition, Bauba has received an executed prospecting
right letter from the DMRE in respect of a prospecting right
application for an opencast chrome ore target that Bauba
and its geological advisors believe will yield high prospects
for opencast and underground chrome ore near existing
chrome ore operations in the North West province.

5. Safety

Suspension of operations due to DMRE
safety-related stoppages.
Negative impact on personnel well-being and
morale.

6. The coronavirus outbreak
in South Africa/Limpopo
leading to suspension of
mine operations. Due to the
socio-economic environment
of our mine community, they
may be directly impacted if an
outbreak were to occur

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 17

Loss of production resulting in lost sales and
potential liability from offtake partner.

The company and the contractors appointed by the
company adhere to strict safety rules at all times, with
continuous monitoring of health and safety risks and the
implementation of safety improvement plans.

Bauba monitors the coronavirus developments on a
continuous basis noting its impact on global economies.
Bauba is constantly in contact with our customers and
other players within the industry to ensure that we are
able to act proactively to any recent coronavirus-related
developments.
An action plan has been drafted in consultation with
our Bauba advisory health practitioner to ensure that
our underground operations continue to operate if the
coronavirus is prevalent in our workforce.
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PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK
We are mindful of the significant role
of climate change on the planet and
continue to conduct our operations in
such a way that we will cause the least
possible harm to the environment.
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REVIEW OF 2020
AND FUTURE
PROSPECTS
Despite the challenges
brought on by the COVID-19
pandemic, Bauba was able to
continue operating, meeting
its commitments and ending the
year with a statement of financial
position which can support the
business in its recovery and
future growth.
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restart due to a change in the underground mining contractor.
During lockdown, low chrome ore pricing did not justify running
the underground operation at 50% capacity due to signiﬁcantly
higher mining costs. Various advanced funding discussions
pre-COVID-19 with lenders were also materially delayed, further
impacting the development of our Moeijelijk underground mine.

External environment
Bauba’s external environment was characterised by
the following trends:

The COVID-19 pandemic
Our operating environment in 2020 was dominated
by the COVID-19 pandemic. The unfolding, global
pandemic is a human crisis of historic scale and
complexity. It is straining global markets and
economies and the ability of many organisations to
cope with the changes wrought by the virus and the
related lockdowns.

Impact on Bauba
Locally, some parts of the mining industry proved
to be the beacon of hope during the storm as we
were one of the ﬁrst sectors to be called upon
to restart the economy, not least because of our
status as signiﬁcant providers of jobs and socioeconomic upliftment in our host communities.
The mining industry has been at the forefront in
combating infectious diseases such as HIV/Aids
and tuberculosis and therefore has the systems and
protocols in place to protect employees and assist
in the prevention of the spread of the disease.
Unlike with many other mining companies, the
pandemic has had a particularly disruptive impact
on Bauba’s operations due to its timing. Our
opencast was depleted in December 2019, with
underground development being ramped up to
planned 30 000 tonnes per month production in
June 2020, which would have timeously replaced
the loss of opencast. Our opencast chrome ore
tonnes, the majority of which were produced in
December 2019, were sold in a weak and nervous
Chinese chrome market at the beginning of 2020
that was plagued with COVID-19 uncertainty.
The COVID-19 lockdown signiﬁcantly delayed the
development of our underground development with
high lockdown and start-up costs and a delayed

Currently, Bauba’s underground development and ramp up
is progressing positively with over 25 000 tonnes of material
hauled in the months of September and October 2020 and
31 500 tonnes in November 2020. A steep ramp up is
expected to reach full stable production by March 2021.
Chrome ore pricing is, however, still weak with this weakness
expected to linger due to reduced global demand for stainless
steel from developed markets that are currently experiencing a
second wave or have never properly dealt with the pandemic
from the outset.

Rand under more pressure
South Africa’s economic woes were compounded by ratings
downgrades by all the major agencies, which has had a
signiﬁcant negative effect on the rand. The economy has been
hit by short-term shocks and persistently weak and negative
business sentiment. GDP growth for the 2019 calendar
year slowed to 0,2%, the weakest outcome since the 2009
recession and is expected to be negative 10% or even more
in 2020 on the back of the COVID-19 pandemic. The rand
remains under pressure due to rising risk aversion amid
lingering international factors such as the ongoing USA-China
trade war. Domestically, fears regarding the impact of Eskom’s
debt on the ﬁscus weigh on the currency.

Impact on Bauba
A weaker rand has helped cushion lower chrome ore pricing
and higher supply chain costs but, in the long term, a weaker
rand will ultimately result in higher inﬂation and costs.
The negative economic outlook for South Africa has created a
challenging climate as lenders are reluctant and take extremely
long to make a lending decision and investors, both locally and
internationally, are nervous to invest in South Africa. This has
impacted Bauba’s ability to fund our Moeijelijk underground
development and the development of our various projects.

Socio-economic challenges
Record unemployment, particularly among the youth, poses
a serious risk to economic recovery and social cohesion. The
ﬁnancial health of SOEs, especially Eskom, is likely to put
additional pressure on public ﬁnances. Protests and strikes
by those dissatisﬁed with the lack of opportunities and poor
service delivery have escalated, often leading to violent clashes
with authorities and disrupted production due to employees
being unable to get to work.

Impact on Bauba
We continue to resist this trend. Our community development
projects are therefore aimed at creating employment for our

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 21

2021/01/15 4:43 PM

22

BAUBA RESOURCES LIMITED INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

REVIEW OF 2020 AND FUTURE PROSPECTS continued

local communities. We also continue constructive engagement
with government on mining legislation and regulations,
including Mining Charter 2018.
Our operations are, however, not immune to this challenge and
we have experienced labour and community disruptions of late
due to unreasonable demands and expectations. These have
subsequently been addressed without further disruptions.

Climate change
Climate change will affect everyone in many different ways if
drastic action is not taken. All ﬁelds of human activity, from
agriculture to energy supply, are changing as awareness of the
need to transform the way business is conducted to protect
the environment grows.

Impact on Bauba
We are mindful of the signiﬁcant role of climate change on the
planet and continue to conduct our operations in such a way
that we will cause the least possible harm to the environment.

Financial and operational results
Total run-of-mine (RoM) production for the 2020 ﬁnancial year
was 290 695 tonnes compared to 332 882 tonnes in the prior
year. 218 214 tonnes of RoM and concentrates were sold
during the year (2019: 202 002 tonnes). A higher proportion
of premium speciality concentrates was also produced and
sold in the current year. The drop in market prices resulted in
revenue declining 14% from R302,122 million in the prior year
to R260,394 million.
Cost of sales increased by 31% due to higher cost of mining
underground versus opencast, and the inclusion of wash plant
processing costs for the full ﬁnancial year.
Bauba’s operating and administration expenses escalated by
only 2% due to several cost saving initiatives that have been
implemented.
Bauba adopted IFRS 16: Leases effective 1 July 2019. IFRS
16 no longer distinguishes between on-balance sheet ﬁnance
leases and off-balance sheet operating leases.
Capital expenditure incurred in respect of mine infrastructure
and equipment for Moeijelijk Chrome Mine totalled
R44,289 million (2019: R61,942 million).
In October 2019, the group entered into a short-term loan
agreement with the Bapedi Nation for an amount of
R10 million. Interest on the loan is at a ﬁxed rate.
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In March 2020, the group entered into a long-term loan
agreement to ﬁnance the expansion of underground
operations. At 30 June 2020, US$4 million has been drawn
down. The loan carries interest at a variable rate of threemonth LIBOR plus 6,45%.
In December 2020, the group Bauba entered into a binding
subscription agreement with Pelagic Resources PTE Limited
(Pelagic) in terms of which Pelagic will subscribe for 113 683
334 ordinary shares of the company (Subscription Shares).
The Subscription Shares represent 29,99% of the issued share
capital of the company and will be issued at a price of 22
cents per share, being a 7,04% discount to the
30-day volume weighted average price at the close of
business on Friday, 18 December 2020.
The issue of the Subscription Shares is subject to the fulﬁlment
or waiver, as the case may be, of various conditions precedent
as set out in the Agreement, including company and regulatory
approvals.
For more information on Bauba’s ﬁnancial performance and
position, refer to the annual ﬁnancial statements on pages 86
to 121.

Chrome operations
Our focus this year, before the COVID-19 lockdown impacted
our operations, was the development of the apparent dip
trucking ramps connected to existing underground workings.
The priority in the mining schedule was to advance these two
declines as fast as possible in order to make additional stope
face available and to provide trucking capability to supplement
the up-dip scraping, which is currently limiting production
capacity.
Bauba’s operating Moeijelijk Mine’s transition from an opencast
operation into an underground operation, feeding our
beneﬁciation spiral plant which generates premium speciality
grade chrome ore concentrates, was negatively impacted by
the COVID-19 pandemic and poor contractor performance.
COVID-19-related issues experienced included extremely weak
pricing, extremely high operating costs during the COVID-19
lockdown with limited production and no underground mining,
delayed underground development and ﬁnancing.
Chrome ore CIF prices for benchmark 42% concentrate as
reported by FerroAlloyNet averaged US$129 per tonne for
January 2020 to March 2020 before lockdown disrupted our
operation, the third lowest quarter of pricing since January
2011. To emphasise how low this quarter of pricing was,
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H1 2020 prices averaged US$145 per tonne, full year 2019
averaged US$167 per tonne and the average CIF price since
January 2011 was US$188 per tonne.
The cost of mining at 50% capacity was prohibitively
high, taking into consideration that a signiﬁcant portion of
Moeijelijk underground’s running costs are ﬁxed, which would
signiﬁcantly increase the rand per tonne mining cost, and
the weak pricing in the previous quarter. The uncertainty of
infection to our underground workforce, due to the conﬁned
work environment and the perceived risk then of creating an
unsafe situation for our workforce, community and country by
spreading the pandemic plus the risk of shutting operations
down, also weighed on the decision not to mine underground.
Our Moeijelijk underground mining operation commenced
production in July 2020 and, due to the COVID-19 delay, is
expected to reach full stable production of 30 000 tonnes per
month of stoping material in addition to 12 000 tonnes per
month of on-reef development by March 2021.
Moeijelijk has experienced teething issues with a new
underground mining contractor on-site. For the months
of September and October 2020, over 25 000 tonnes of
stoping and on-reef development were hauled to surface
for processing from underground. With the arrival of new
machinery to site, together with the north decline holing to the
south decline completed and stoping production commencing
from the north decline, we are conﬁdent that full production will
be reached in March 2021.
Capital expenditure incurred in respect of infrastructure and
equipment for Moeijelijk Chrome Mine totalled R45,673 million
(2019: R59,185 million). This capital expenditure was less than
the prior year due to the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown.
Moeijelijk’s opencast was depleted at the start of December
2019, with only 65 707 tonnes of opencast mined during the
year. Total RoM production for the 2020 ﬁnancial year was 290
695 tonnes, compared to 332 882 tonnes in the prior year as
there was no mining from the start of March 2020 to the end
of June 2020.
218 214 tonnes of RoM and concentrates were sold during
the year, compared to 202 002 tonnes in the prior year. A
higher proportion of premium speciality concentrates than
in the prior year was also produced and sold in the current
year. Unfortunately, the drop in market prices far outweighed
the increase in saleable production and premium speciality
grade concentrates, resulting in revenue declining 14% from
R302,122 million in the prior year to R260,394 million.
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Platinum exploration
Although PGE basket prices have again signiﬁcantly improved
during this ﬁnancial year, long-term forecast PGE basket prices
are not strong enough to outweigh current negative investor
sentiment and investors’ unwillingness to commit long-term
capital to develop deep, underground mining operations in
South Africa.
This is unfortunate and has restricted potential opportunities
for raising meaningful funding for the ongoing development
of Bauba’s platinum assets. Accordingly, the board upheld
the decision taken in the 2014 ﬁnancial year for on-site
exploration of its platinum assets to remain suspended. This
curtailed platinum exploration activities and the corresponding
expenditure on the two platinum clusters along the Eastern
Limb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex. The group’s
prospecting rights expired on 17 July 2015 and applications
for retention permits under section 31(1) of the MPRDA for
both of the group’s prospecting rights were submitted on 13
July 2015. The granting (if so) of such retention permits would,
in essence, suspend any further obligatory expenditure and
work on these platinum assets for a period of three years from
the date that the retention permits are granted.
On 17 February 2016, the retention permits received a positive
recommendation from the chief mine economist of the DMRE,
Limpopo Region. To date, these retention rights have not yet
been granted and we eagerly await feedback from the DMRE.
As an alternative, Bauba has also applied for a mining right
over the same areas, which is currently being processed by
the DMRE.

Expansion projects
Hartebeesfontein
Bauba’s has an executed prospecting right in respect of
chrome and PGMs over the farm Hartebeesfontein 445JQ
situated in the Brits area of South Africa’s North West province.
Initial exploration drilling has been optimistic but further drilling
planned in the next few weeks and months will conﬁrm
whether our current optimism is valid.

Kookfontein
On 19 July 2019, Bauba entered into a Sale of Shares and
Claims Agreement with Ms DC Butler (the seller) to acquire her
shares in Nuco Chrome Bophuthatswana Proprietary Limited
(Nuco).
In terms of the agreement, Bauba will purchase her 74%
shareholding in Nuco, as detailed in the SENS announcement
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REVIEW OF 2020 AND
FUTURE PROSPECTS continued

published on 23 July 2019, for the aggregate purchase
consideration of R60 million.
Nuco is an exploration company with mineral rights for various
minerals, including chrome ore and PGE, over portions of
the farm Kookfontein 265 JQ. The project is considered an
advanced exploration project where exploration work was
conducted during 2015 and 2016.
The Kookfontein mineral right areas are situated in the North
West province of South Africa, an area approximately 5km
north-north-east of the town of Rustenburg and lie directly
east and adjacent to the town of Phokeng. The mining right
was granted in September 2016 and an additional mining right
application was accepted in March 2020, with the associated
environmental studies currently in progress as per regulatory
requirements.
The transaction now remains subject to section 11 approval
from the DMRE.
The Kookfontein project is located on the Western Limb of the
Bushveld Igneous Complex with the chromitite mineralisation
concentrated in the Lower Critical Zone and the Upper Critical
Zone of the Rustenburg Layered Suite. The location coincides
with the Kookfontein “upfold” which forms the boundary zone
between what is known as the Rustenburg sector and the
Boshoek sector of the Western Lobe. LG and MG chromitites
are well developed in the Boshoek sector whereas only MG
group chromites are developed between Kookfontein and
Rustenburg, as the Upper Critical Zone lies directly onto the
ﬂoor quartzites in this area. (Viljoen, MJ and Schurmann, LW,
Platinum Group Metals, In Anhaesser, 1998).
Exploration work conducted during 2015 and 2016 together
with the conceptual geological and mining studies in 2016
and 2019, supports the conﬁrmation of economically viable
chromite seams on the property. More speciﬁcally, the MGs,
UG2 and a considerable portion of UG1 was found to be
mineable via open pit methods. Some further upside in terms
of the LGs exist that will form part of forward work.
In the north of the property, the chromitites strike [east-northeast, west-south-west] and dip at between 9 to 26 degrees
towards the north and straddle the boundary between the
Lower Critical Zone and the Upper Critical Zone. The seams
are well developed with widths ranging between 40cm to
1,34m. Grades are as expected for the succession and are
typical for Rustenburg sector chromitites.

quartzite hill, and a small remnant of UG2 that
dips east on the south-east portion of the central
hill. No MG succession was intersected on this
block. A bottom-loaded higher grade UG1 facies
was identiﬁed with grades in excess of 30% Cr2O3
and an average width of approximately 1m, which
makes this a highly prospective mining target.
The UG2 seam has PGE values in line with typical
Rustenburg UG2 ore values.
The south succession was sparsely drilled
and trenched, but preliminary analysis data
and geological interpretation indicate that the
succession is similar to that in the north, but strikes
due north, with very shallow dips (in the order of
5 degrees) towards the east. The signiﬁcant strike
length of approximately 900m and shallow dips
make this an attractive open pit mining target.
Further geological ﬁeldwork, geotechnical, mining
optimisation and metallurgical studies are being
conducted to further improve the current level of
study work. Bauba plans to commence mining
the UG2 opencast towards the end of our 2021
ﬁnancial year at a rate of 30 000 tonnes per month
for 11 months which should generate signiﬁcant
cash ﬂows at current PGM basket prices and which
will be used to fund the development of the LG/
MG/UG1 mining and capital expenditure.

Zeekoegat
On 16 November 2018, a Bauba subsidiary won a
litigious dispute against Samancor Chrome Limited
(Samancor), including the costs of three counsel.
The High Court of South Africa (Gauteng Division,
Pretoria) (High Court) had set aside the grant of
a chrome ore mining right to Samancor by the
Minister of Mineral Resources (Minister) in respect
of the farms Wintersveld 417KS, Jagdlust 418KS
and Zeekoegat 421KS (properties), due to the lack
of proper notice and consultation with interested
and affected parties, as prescribed by law.

The central section comprises a shallow east dipping UG1
succession that wraps around and dips under the central
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A strong platform for future
growth has now been built
and Bauba will continue
pursuing its vision of
diversifying and
expanding the business.
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REVIEW OF 2020 AND FUTURE PROSPECTS continued

Strategic growth objectives
Key strategic objectives for the years ahead are to:

1.

Complete the underground development and achieve stable
underground production of 30 000 tonnes of LG6 in the 2021
financial year with an average Cr2O3 grade of 40,0%;

2. Obtain a mining right over our small but shallow Waterkop
113KT PGE asset (and platinum farms), conduct the necessary
exploration work and then develop and successfully mine
this asset for PGEs and associated beneficiated chrome ore
concentrate; and

3. Grow our operations in the long term through the acquisition
and/or exploration of additional mineral assets that meet our
strict investment criteria. We will only invest in assets with a low
cost of production to protect Bauba against cyclical market
downturns and the following progress has been made in the
current year in achieving this growth diversification strategy:
•

Bauba is now awaiting section 11 ministerial consent
from the DMRE for the acquisition of Nuco and aims to
commence mining the UG2 opencast towards the end
of our 2021 ﬁnancial year at a rate of 30 000 tonnes per
month for 11 months which should generate signiﬁcant
cash ﬂows at current PGM basket prices which will be
used to fund the development of the LG/MG/UG1 mining
and processing capital expenditure; and

•

Bauba has an executed prospecting right application
for an opencast chrome and PGE ore target,
Hartebeesfontein in the Brits area, and plans to complete
our drill programme in the 2021 ﬁnancial year.

The interested and affected parties that Samancor failed
to notify and consult were, inter alia, the occupiers of the
properties and included local communities.
As background, Samancor initially applied for the chrome ore
mining right in November 2011. The application was initially
refused by the Director General of the DMRE due to the
lack of proper notiﬁcation and consultation with interested
and affected parties. Pursuant to the Director General's
refusal of Samancor’s mining right, the properties become
open for application. Accordingly, Bauba (through a whollyowned subsidiary) lodged an application for a prospecting
right over the farm Zeekoegat 421KS in June 2016. Bauba’s
application was accepted by the DMRE. Samancor, however,
soon thereafter appealed the Director General's refusal of its
mining right to the Minister who, in turn, upheld its appeal
and granted the mining right to Samancor. It is the grant
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of this chrome ore mining right by the Minister which the
High Court has now set aside. In setting aside the Minister’s
decision to grant Samancor the mining right and remitting
it back to the Minister for reconsideration, the High Court
concluded that there indeed was inadequate notiﬁcation and
inadequate consultation with interested and affected parties
and consequently has directed the Minister to reconsider
Samancor’s application and to give proper weight and
consideration to Samancor’s failure to adequately notify and
consult with interested and affected parties.
Bauba lost the Supreme Court of Appeal decision to
Samancor appealing the High Court decision setting aside the
grant of a chrome ore mining right to Samancor in respect of
the farm Zeekoegat 421KS, which Bauba is now appealing to
the Constitutional Court.

Risk
We have previously informed shareholders that Bauba
A Hlabirwa has been cited as a respondent in a review
application instituted by Rustenburg Platinum Mines against
the DMRE for granting an application for a prospecting right by
Bauba A Hlabirwa in respect of the farms Genokakop 285KT,
Houtbosch 323KT and Groot Vygenboom 284KT. The High
Court set aside RPM’s review application and RPM have been
granted leave to appeal the decision in the Supreme Court of
Appeal.

Sustainability
Engagement with our local communities continues daily,
with signiﬁcant progress having been made in achieving
our agreements for ongoing ﬁnancial beneﬁts to these
communities. Agreements on training, education and
upgrading of facilities have been incorporated in our internal
social and labour plans and are being implemented. In
addition, we have embarked on additional projects where
construction work was allocated to members of local
communities to rebuild community houses. Community
suppliers are used, where possible, at our mine and we
encourage all our contractors to ﬁrst source personnel from
the community. As progress on the underground mining is
made at Moeijelijk, it is envisaged that more job opportunities
for the local communities will become available.
In the current year, Bauba incurred CSI spend of
R10,520 million, up 72% on last year’s CSI spend of
R6,125 million. Bauba has employed 363 people from the
local community out of the total personnel complement of our
core mining and processing contractors of 470.
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Board and company changes

Outlook

Mr Sholto Dolamo resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Bauba with effect from 5 December 2019. The
board thanks Sholto for his invaluable contribution to the
company and wishes him well in his future endeavours.

Global market uncertainties, driven by the COVID-19
pandemic and a rising global second wave of infections and
renewed lockdowns in Western Europe, have lowered global
demand for stainless steel and, in turn, demand for chrome
ore. The proposed chrome ore export tax in South Africa to
support the local ferrochrome industry has created further
uncertainty. These issues will continue to have a negative
impact on short-term chrome ore pricing. This, together with
higher local supply chain costs, will keep Bauba’s chrome ore
revenue generated per tonne subdued. Bauba is, however,
optimistic that its future proﬁt margins will be cushioned
by the continued sales of premium speciality chrome ore
concentrates and that long- term pricing will improve to above
the industry’s cost of production. Forecast ﬁnancial information
has not been reviewed and reported on by the group’s auditor.

At the beginning of January 2021 King Victor Thulare III
tragically passed away. The board is saddened by his sudden
passing and will miss his valuable contributions. There has
currently been no impact on our business or operations
resulting from his passing.

Commitment to strategy and
value creation
The board of Bauba remains committed to its strategy of
creating long-term value for all stakeholders. During the
year, further progress was made towards reducing Bauba’s
dependency on one commodity (being chrome ore) and one
operating mine (Moeijelijk Mine), including:
• An executed prospecting right for chrome ore and PGEs
on Hartebeesfontein with results from initial drilling looking
optimistic;
• Section 11 application which the DMRE accepted relating
to our purchase of the 74% shareholding in the exploration
company Nuco Chrome Bophuthatswana Proprietary
Limited, holding mineral rights for various minerals,
including chrome ore and PGE, over portions of the farm
Kookfontein 265 JQ; and
• Bauba lost the Supreme Court of Appeal decision to
Samancor appealing the High Court decision setting aside
the grant of a chrome ore mining right to Samancor in
respect of the farm Zeekoegat 421KS, which Bauba is now
appealing to the Constitutional Court.

Appreciation
We would like to thank our fellow board members for their
valuable contributions during the past year and extend
our gratitude to the group’s executive management and
employees for their continued commitment and dedication,
especially in the trying circumstances brought about by
the pandemic.

Board of directors
15 January 2021

Bauba recognises that its role lies foremost in delivering
on its strategy of value creation. It also acknowledges the
responsibility of doing so in a truly sustainable manner. We
take responsibility for the health of our relationships with all our
stakeholders, including the environment, in meeting our desire
to create value on a sustainable basis.
For more information on Bauba’s environmental, social and
corporate governance, refer to page 56.
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND
MINERAL RESERVES REPORT
PLATINUM EXPLORATION
Competence
The independent competent Person’s report (CPR) on Bauba
Resources Limited platinum group assets has been compiled by
Venmyn Deloitte in compliance with the South African Code for the
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves (the SAMREC Code) of 2007, amended in 2009. The
Lead Competent Person of the CPR was Mr Andrew Neil Clay.
Since additional ﬁeld exploration activities have been conducted
under the lead of Mr Hermanus Berhardus Swart, Principal Geologist
at Dunrose Trading 186 Proprietary Limited, trading as Shango
Solutions, he has superseded Mr Clay in the role as the Competent
Person for the platinum assets in 2019. Mr Swart has scrutinised
the CPR and agrees with the applied methodologies and declared
results. The Competent Person considered the updated SAMREC
Code requirements and determined that the Mineral Resources
estimates would remain the same although they may be reported
in a different manner and format. It is understood that it is not a
requirement to update an existing CPR solely due to an updated
reporting code and therefore reliance remains upon the standing
2013 CPR, which is available on Bauba’s website.
I, Hermanus Berhardus Swart, do hereby certify that I am employed
as Principal Geologist of Dunrose Trading 186 Proprietary Limited,
trading as Shango Solutions, located at the corner of Ethel Avenue
and Ruth Crescent, Northcliff, Johannesburg. I have more than
20 years’ experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and types
of deposits under consideration, and to the activities which have
been undertaken, thereby qualifying as a Competent Person as
deﬁned by the SAMREC Code, 2016 edition.
The addresses of the bodies recognised by SAMREC Code, where
the Competent Person responsible for the Mineral Resources and
Mineral Reserves is registered are as follows:
South African Council for Natural Scientiﬁc Professions:
Management Enterprise Building
Mark Shuttleworth Street
Innovation Hub
Pretoria.
Geological Society of South Africa (registered as Fellow):
CSIR Mining Precinct
Corner Rustenburg and Carlow Roads
Melville.
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Location geography and access
The Bauba platinum group element (PGE) assets are located within the Leolo mountain range in the Limpopo province,
approximately 70km south-east of the town of Polokwane and 250km north-east of Johannesburg (Figure 1). The area has a welldeveloped network of national (N1), regional (R37) and district tarred roads and railways. On 20 November 2017, Bauba applied for
a mining right over ten farms, in terms of section 31(1) of the Mineral and Resources Development Act (Act 28 of 2002) (MPRDA).
The PGE assets are grouped into three areas, namely the Northern, Central and Southern Clusters, located in the Eastern Limb of
the Bushveld Complex. The farms are adjacent to operating PGE mines and development projects on the Eastern Limb.

Figure 1: Locality map

History
The Northern, Central and Southern Clusters have not been historically targeted as mineral projects and no historical owners are
known. No historical mining or exploration activities have been documented on these assets prior to acquisition by Bauba and, as
such, no historical Mineral Resources or Mineral Reserves have been estimated. The area is well known for PGE exploration and
numerous mining and exploration projects are located adjacent to and in the vicinity of the Bauba operations.

Regional and local geology
The Bauba PGE assets are located on the Eastern Limb of the Bushveld Complex (Figure 2). The PGE assets are largely
characterised by outcrop of the Main Zone, and to a lesser extent the Upper Zone maﬁc layers. The Main Zone is underlain by the
Critical Zone, which hosts the UG2 and Merensky Reefs. The mineralised UG2 and Merensky Reefs are magmatic, layered deposits
which contain potentially economic quantities of PGEs. The PGEs are associated with chromite and base metal sulphides. The
Merensky Reef is located between 1 600m and 2 500m below surface in the Northern and Southern Clusters. The UG2 Reef is
located between 300m and 400m below the Merensky Reef within the Northern and Southern Clusters. These two reefs represent
the Bauba PGE targets.
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND MINERAL RESERVES REPORT continued

Figure 2: Geological setting

Exploration activities
Bauba commenced exploration within the prospect areas for PGE and associated metals in 2010. Exploration activities included the
following:
• The development of an electronic database based on geophysical, satellite, aerial photo data and imagery, geomagnetic surveys
as well as information pertaining to neighbouring mines and projects available in the public domain, which was used to determine
the structural setting of the project areas. These plans have been developed and are upgraded as new data becomes available;
• Preliminary (phase 1) drilling programmes for each cluster (Figure 3) were scoped to enable the estimation of Inferred Mineral
page 32
Resources, as well as to facilitate decision-making on subsequent, focused drilling for feasibility studies. Table 2 on
summarises the status of the preliminary drilling programmes; and
• Detailed geological ﬁeld investigations (including grab sampling and laboratory analyses) by the Competent Person on the farm
Waterkop to determine the outcrop position of the UG2 (Figure 4).
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Summary of drilling results
Drilling on the Northern Cluster was initiated during April 2012,
with ten drillholes initially planned. Three drillholes have been
completed on the farm Schoonoord 462KS (Figure 1) and
have intersected both the Merensky and UG2 Reefs, at depths
of between 1 800m and 2 500m below surface. Intersection
depths indicate that the dip is in line with regional estimates.
Potholed UG2 was intersected in one borehole. The other two
holes display robust internal reef structure and base metal
sulphide mineralisation. Geological modelling of the data
has been completed and has allowed the declaration of a
SAMREC Code-compliant, Inferred Mineral Resource of
9,76Moz 4E (namely platinum (Pt), palladium (Pd), rhodium
(Rh) and gold (Au) as is standard in the PGE industry)
over a portion of the Northern Cluster properties, of which
5,86Moz are attributable to Bauba (60% Bauba, 37,6% Bapedi
Nation and 2,4% Hlabirwa Mining Investment Proprietary
Limited). Phase 2 drilling is currently in abeyance.
All drillholes were drilled vertically. The mineralised reefs dip
at an average of 17 degrees. Average reef width is calculated
based on the down-hole length and true width has not been
calculated as the drilling deviation is unknown at this early
stage. The use of corrected widths is not expected to have a
material impact on the Mineral Resources. This will, however,
be assessed once more information is available.
Drilling on the Southern Cluster (Figure 3) was initiated during
April 2010, with four drillholes initially planned. Four drillholes
were completed and intersected robust Merensky and UG2
Reefs at depths between 1 600m and 1 930m below surface.
Geological modelling of the data was completed and allowed
the declaration of a SAMREC Code-compliant Inferred
Resource of 7,45Moz 4E over a portion of the Southern
Cluster properties, of which 4,47Moz are attributable to
Bauba. Phase 2 drilling is currently in abeyance.
The exploration and resultant tonnage and grade estimates for
the lapsed Central Cluster have not been reported pending the
execution of the mining right application. No feasibility studies
have been completed on the PGE assets.
During the ﬁnancial year under review, a budget of
R54 167,64 (excluding VAT) was allocated for ﬁeld
investigations on the farm Waterkop (Figure 1).
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND MINERAL RESERVES REPORT continued

Figure 3: Location of drillholes

Table 2: Summary of exploration drillholes for the Northern and Southern Clusters

Cluster

Drillholes
planned

Planned
drilling
Drilling
m commenced

Drillholes
completed

Drillholes in
progress

Drilling
metres
completed
8 166

Northern

10

19 200

April 2012

3

–

Southern

4

7 900

April 2010

4

–

7 736

14

27 100

7*

–

15 902*

Total

* Excluding four drillholes totalling 12 027m completed on the relinquished Central Cluster.
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Figure 4: Site investigation on the farm Waterkop 113KT
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Sampling governance
Bauba completed 11 diamond drillholes on the Northern,
Central and Southern Clusters between 2010 and 2015. Each
of the drillholes was logged, photographed, split and sampled,
according to Bauba’s exploration protocols and internal quality
assurance and quality control (QA/QC) procedures. A total
of 440 samples were collected from the drillholes and their
deﬂections. Samples were sent to ISO-accredited laboratories,
namely Set Point Industrial Technology Proprietary Limited
(Set Point) (ISO/IEC 17025:2017) and Genalysis Laboratory
Services Proprietary Limited (Genalysis) (ISO/IEC 17025:2005),
for assay and density determination. Set Point is located in
Johannesburg and has since been acquired by Torre Industries
Limited. Genalysis is located in Perth and has since been
acquired by the Intertek Minerals Group.
Bauba includes a minimum of 10% combined standards,
blanks and duplicates into sample batches prior to dispatch to
the laboratories. Standards and blanks are certiﬁed reference
material sourced from AMIS. Bauba also sends 10% of the
pulp samples for repeat analysis to an umpire laboratory.
Bauba conducts an internal audit of the laboratory results,
including a comparison of results to those of the umpire
laboratory, to check for any errors or bias. This is completed
on each set of data returned to Bauba by the laboratory. To
date, no signiﬁcant errors or bias have been recorded. No
independent audits or reviews of the sampling methodologies
or QA/QC procedures have been undertaken. The analytical
work conducted by Set Point included analysis of samples
for PGE, gold and base metal content using ﬁre assay and
Inductively Coupled Plasma-mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS).
Genalysis undertook ﬁre assay and ICP-MS analyses to
determine the PGE and gold content. Fire assay is the industry
standard process for obtaining analytical gold and PGE data
from ore and is considered appropriate. The relative density
(RD) was determined for each sample in the assay laboratories
utilising the gas pycnometer method.
In September 2019 a total of 4 grab samples were submitted
to SGS Laboratory, a SANAS-accredited laboratory, in
Randfontein. These 4 samples formed part of a total of 48
submitted samples. Seven QA/QC samples were included
consisting of one blank, three standards and three duplicates.
Laboratory analysis included X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) for
Cr2O3, Fe2O3, FeO, TiO2, Al2O3, SiO2, CaO and MgO. Density
of the samples was calculated employing the Archimedes
principle. The elemental Cr:Fe ratios were also calculated.
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Mineral Resources and Mineral
estimation criteria
The Mineral Resources were estimated from ﬁrst principles
using laboratory-measured relative densities and modelled reef
volumes, adjusted for geological losses. Reef width estimations
for the Inferred Resource category are based primarily on the
regional geology, neighbouring operations and the recent drilling
results. The sample results are composited into the full reef
width and a minimum mining width of 0,8m is employed due
to underground mining constraints. No metal equivalents have
been calculated. The results are considered representative of
the PGE assets and no assay results have been excluded during
the estimation process.
According to the 2013 CPR, Venmyn Deloitte completed a
high-level, preliminary analysis of the Northern Cluster drilling
programme using the proprietary Venmyn Deloitte variance
towers in order to determine if the current drill spacing meets
requirements to determine the various conﬁdence levels
congruent with Inferred, Indicated and Measured Resources.
This analysis is being utilised by Bauba as a method to continually
and iteratively review and improve the drilling plan based on
information available from the adjacent properties and from the
Northern Cluster Project itself. The process is iterative and is
reviewed as drillholes are completed and the information becomes
available and in doing so, the estimates made are reﬁned.
The towers are employed to estimate the number of drillholes
required to obtain the Inferred, Indicated and/or Measured
Resource categories based on the variance of the parameter
considered around the mean, within a certain conﬁdence limit.
Parameters include grade, metal accumulation, reef width, etc.
The number of drillholes required and project size determine
the inﬂuence of each drillhole on the project i.e. the circles of
inﬂuence. In determining the circles of inﬂuence for each borehole
in the Northern Cluster Project, Venmyn Deloitte performed the
statistical analysis using their Venmyn variance tower. The variance
analysis was completed on the available public domain borehole
information from the adjacent properties, which are also targeting
PGMs within the Bushveld Complex. The various resource
parameters were available for both the UG2 and Merensky Reef
for 73 drillholes. The Venmyn variance tower plots the number
of drillholes (or reef intercepts) required to constrain the true
mean of a parameter of the deposit within an interval at the 99%
conﬁdence limit. To construct the Venmyn variance tower, the
distribution of a parameter is estimated from the sample data
using @RiskTM simulation software. Conﬁdence intervals for each
parameter are then constructed for different sample sizes and
plotted on the graph. The narrowing of the graph indicates the
increase in conﬁdence as the number of drillholes increases.
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Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves statement
The Mineral Resources were compiled by Bauba’s geologists and veriﬁed and signed off by an independent Competent Person,
Mr Clay. The Mineral Resources for the PGE assets remain the same as reported by Mr Clay in 2013, based on the SAMREC Code,
2009 edition. Ordinarily, these should be updated in order to meet the updated requirements of the SAMREC Code, 2016 edition.
As the assets, however, are held under an accepted retention permit application pending granting by the DMRE (September 2015),
Bauba has not undertaken any work on the assets during the past ﬁve ﬁnancial years. The Mineral Resources for the PGE assets will
be updated as and when the mining right is granted. Since additional ﬁeld exploration activities have been conducted under the lead
of Mr Hermanus Berhardus Swart, Principal Geologist, he superseded Mr Clay in the role as the Competent Person for the platinum
assets in 2019. Mr Swart has carefully scrutinised the CPR and agrees with the applied methodologies and declared results in
Table 3 to Table 6. The Mineral Resources for the Northern and Southern Clusters are depicted in Figure 5 and Figure 6 below.
Figure 5: Merensky Reef and UG2 Reef Mineral Resources
for the Northern Cluster

Figure 6: Merensky Reef and UG2 Reef Mineral
Resources for the Southern Cluster

The attributable PGE Mineral Resources estimate for Bauba’s Northern and Southern Cluster PGE assets, discounted for geological
losses, is tabulated in Table 3. Tonnage/grade estimates for the lapsed Central Cluster have not been reported pending the granting
of the mining right. The attributable Mineral Resources are 60% of the total Mineral Resource (the remainder is allocated as follows:
37,6% Bapedi Nation and 2,4% to Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited). The grades are quoted as 4E. The prill split for
the UG2 Reef is 43% Pt, 40% Pd, 12% Rh and 4% Au. The prill split for the Merensky Reef is 50% Pt, 30% Pd, 2% Rh and 19% Au.
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Table 3: Inferred Mineral Resources for the UG2 Reef (30 August 2013)
Geological
loss
%

Cluster

RD

Gross
tonnes
Mt

Width
m

4PGE
grade
g/t

4PGE
ounces
Moz

Northern total

23,00

3,46

1,35

40,74

4,47

5,85

Southern total

24,00

3,50

1,35

28,08

4,43

4,00

Total UG2 Inferred Resources

23,41

3,48

1,35

68,82

4,45

9,85

41,29

4,45

5,91

Bauba attributable UG2 Reef*

* Based on Bauba’s 60% attributable share.
A regional dip of 17° west has been used to calculate the reef area.
The Inferred Resources are quoted in-situ.
The prill split is 43% Pt, 40% Pd, 12% Rh and 4% Au.
A minimum mining width of 0,8m has been used.
Mineral Resources are reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves (no Mineral Reserves estimated to date).
Mineral Resources are compliant with the SAMREC Code, 2009 edition.
An Inferred Mineral Resource is based on limited geological evidence that is sufﬁcient to imply but not verify geological or grade continuity.

Table 4: Exploration target (high and low range) for the UG2 Reef (30 August 2013)
Geological
loss
%

Schoonoord 462KS
Indië 474KS
(portion RE)
Indië 474KS (portion 1)

RD

Width
m

Gross
tonnes
Mt

4PGE
grade
g/t

4PGE
ounces
Moz

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86

26,9 – 32,9

5,0 – 6,1

4,3 – 6,5

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86

36,1 – 44,1

5,0 – 6,1

5,8 – 8,7

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86

36,2 – 44,2

5,0 – 6,1

5,8 – 8,7

Zwitzerland 473KS

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86

46,5 – 56,9

5,0 – 6,1

7,5 – 11,2

Fisant Laagte 506KS

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86

48,0 – 58,6

5,0 – 6,1

7,7 – 11,5

Northern total

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86 193,7 – 236,7

5,0 – 6,1

31,1 – 46,5

Northern Bauba attributable*

Cluster

Northern

Southern

Farm name

23,0

3,8 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,86 116,2 – 142,0

5,0 – 6,1

18,7 – 27,9

Groot Vygenboom
204KT

24,0

3,6 – 3,9

0,85 – 0,93

20,7 – 25,3

5,1 – 6,3

3,4 – 5,1

Genokakop 285KT

24,0

3,6 – 3,9

0,85 – 0,93

31,0 – 37,9

5,1 – 6,3

5,1 – 7,7

24,0

3,6 – 3,9

0,85 – 0,93

51,7 – 63,2

5,1 – 6,3

8,5 – 12,8

31,0 – 37,9

Southern total
Southern Bauba attributable*

24,0

3,6 – 3,9

0,85 – 0,93

5,1 – 6,3

5,1 – 7,7

Total exploration results

23,2

3,6 – 4,2

0,78 – 0,93 245,5 – 299,9

5,0 – 6,3

39,7 – 59,2

147,3 – 179,9

5,0 – 6,3

23,8 – 35,5

Total Bauba attributable*
*Based on Bauba’s 60% attributable share.
A regional dip of 17 degrees west has been used to calculate the reef area.
The potential quantity, quality and content as expressed above are conceptual in nature.
The exploration results are quoted in-situ.
Exploration results are quoted exclusive of Inferred Mineral Resources.
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Table 5: Inferred Mineral Resources for the Merensky Reef (30 August 2013)
Geological
loss
%

RD

Northern total

19,00

Southern total
Total Merensky Inferred Resources

Cluster

Width
m

Gross
tonnes
Mt

4PGE
grade
g/t

4PGE
ounces
Moz

3,24

1,21

29,17

4,17

3,91

17,00

3,25

1,02

27,38

3,92

3,45

17,96

3,24

1,12

56,55

4,05

7,36

33,93

4,05

4,41

Bauba attributable Merensky Reef*

* Based on Bauba’s 60% attributable share.
A regional dip of 17 degrees west has been used to calculate the reef area.
The Inferred Resources are quoted in-situ.
The prill split is 50% Pt, 30% Pd, 2% Rh and 19% Au.
A minimum mining width of 0,8m has been used.
Mineral Resources are reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves (no Mineral Reserves estimated to date).
Mineral Resources are compliant with the SAMREC Code, 2009 edition.
An Inferred Mineral Resource is based on limited geological evidence that is sufﬁcient to imply but not verify geological or grade continuity.

Table 6: Exploration target (high and low range) for the Merensky Reef (30 August 2013).
Geological
loss
%

RD

Width
m

Gross
tonnes
Mt

4PGE
grade
g/t

4PGE
ounces
Moz

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04

34,7 – 42,4

3,9 – 4,7

4,3 – 6,4

(portion RE)

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04

39,5 – 48,2

3,9 – 4,7

4,9 – 7,3

Indië 474KS (portion 1)

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04

39,5 – 48,2

3,9 – 4,7

4,9 – 7,3

Zwitzerland 473KS

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04

50,8 – 62,1

3,9 – 4,7

6,3 – 9,4

Fisant Laagte 506KS

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04

52,4 – 64,0

3,9 – 4,7

6,5 – 9,7

Northern total

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04 216,9 – 265,0

3,9 – 4,7

26,9 – 40,2

Northern Bauba attributable*

19,0

3,3 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,04 130,1 – 159,0

3,9 – 4,7

16,2 – 24,1

Groot Vygenboom 204KT

17,0

3,2 – 3,5

0,95 – 1,05

21,3 – 26,0

4,1 – 5,0

2,8 – 4,2

Genokakop 285KT

Cluster

Farm name
Schoonoord 462KS
Indië 474KS

Northern

Southern

17,0

3,2 – 3,5

0,95 – 1,05

30,3 – 37,0

4,1 – 5,0

4,0 – 6,0

Southern total

17,0

3,2 – 3,5

0,95 – 1,05

51,5 – 62,9

4,1 – 5,0

6,8 – 10,2

Southern Bauba attributable*

17,0

3,2 – 3,5

0,95 – 1,05

30,9 – 37,8

4,1 – 5,0

4,1 – 6,1

Total exploration results

18,6

3,2 – 3,6

0,94 – 1,05 268,4 – 327,9

3,9 – 5,0

33,8 – 50,4

161,0 – 196,7

3,9 – 5,0

20,3 – 30,2

Total Bauba attributable*
* Based on Bauba’s 60% attributable share.
A regional dip of 17 degrees west has been used to calculate the reef area.
The potential quantity, quality and content as expressed above are conceptual in nature.
The exploration results are quoted in-situ.
Exploration results are quoted exclusive of Inferred Mineral Resources.
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Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves reconciliation
There have been no changes to the Mineral Resources during
the current reporting period.

Mining activities
No mining or production has taken place historically or during
the reporting period.

The rehabilitation provision, calculated as part of the NEMA
application and included in the EIA and EMPr report, was
calculated for phase 1 of the project, i.e. the Waterkop
operations. The provision amounts to a total of R5 million. An
afﬁdavit was submitted to and accepted by the DMRE wherein
Bauba A Hlabirwa undertakes to secure a ﬁnancial guarantee
for the amount of ZAR5 011 283,19 prior to the execution of
the Mining Right.

Material risks

MOEIJELIJK CHROME MINE

The greatest risk to the project is associated with the depth
below surface, which will impact access to the deposit. This
poses a risk with respect to the time for development as well
as higher operating and capital costs, relative to shallower
operations. The deposit, however, is located at a depth similar
to Northam Mines within the Bushveld Complex (approximately
2,1km below surface). Risk is also associated with increased
temperatures at depth based on the higher geothermal
gradient associated with the Bushveld Complex which may
affect the refrigeration requirements and rock engineering
design. The project is currently held through an accepted
retention permit, which indicates that although a Mineral
Resource has been estimated, mining of the commodities
in question would be uneconomic due to prevailing market
conditions. This impacts signiﬁcantly on the potential to
generate a Mineral Reserve of the PGE assets.

Competence

Environmental management and
funding
The DMRE accepted a mining right application and NEMA
application for the PGE assets. Waste management licence
(WML) activities, in terms of the National Environmental
Management: Waste Act (Act No. 59 of 2008) (NEMWA), were
excluded from the application and will need to be applied
for and licenced prior to the commencement of activities
listed in terms of the NEMWA. The ﬁnal environmental impact
assessment (EIA) and environmental management programme
(EMP) report was submitted to the DMRE on 25 May 2018.
The Environmental Authorisation for the NEMA application was
granted on 11 August 2020.
A Water Use Licence Application (WULA) was submitted to the
DWS on 6 July 2018 and the technical reports accepted on
15 October 2019.

Dunrose Trading 186 Proprietary Limited, trading as Shango
Solutions (Shango), updated the Moeijelijk Mineral Resources
in compliance with the South African Code for the Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(the SAMREC Code 2016) for Bauba Resources Limited.
Mr Hermanus Berhardus Swart, the Lead Competent Person
for the Moeijelijk Mineral Resources, hereby provides consent
for the inclusion of extracts from, or a summary of the Mineral
Resources in the Bauba Resources Limited integrated annual
report as required by the JSE Listings Requirements,
section 12.13.
The company declares that it has written conﬁrmation from the
lead Competent Person that the information disclosed in this
report is compliant with SAMREC Code (2016 edition) and,
where applicable, the relevant requirements of section 12.13
of the JSE Listings Requirements.
I, Hermanus Berhardus Swart, do hereby certify that I am
employed as Principal Geologist of Dunrose Trading 186
Proprietary Limited t/a Shango Solutions, located at the corner
of Ethel Avenue and Ruth Crescent, Northcliff. I have more
than 20 years’ experience relevant to the style of mineralisation
and types of deposits under consideration, and to the activities
which have been undertaken, to qualify as a Competent
Person as deﬁned by the SAMREC Code, 2016 edition.
The addresses of the bodies recognised by SAMREC Code,
where the Competent Person responsible for the Mineral
Resources and Mineral Reserves is registered are as follows:
South African Council for Natural Scientiﬁc Professions:
Management Enterprise Building
Mark Shuttleworth Street
Innovation Hub, Pretoria.
Geological Society of South Africa (registered as Fellow):
CSIR Mining Precinct
Corner Rustenburg and Carlow Roads, Melville.
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Location, geography and access
The Bauba Moeijelijk Chrome Mine is located on the farm Moeijelijk 412KS in the Limpopo province, approximately 70km south-east
of the town of Polokwane and 270km north-east of Johannesburg (Figure 7). The area has a well-developed network of national
(N1), regional (R37) and tarred roads and railways. Bauba holds a 30-year mining right for chromite over this farm which extends
over an area of 2 271 hectares in the Eastern Limb of the Bushveld Complex. This mining right was granted in July 2016. Previously
a prospecting right and small-scale mining permit was held. The mine is an open pit and underground operation located in the
vicinity of various operating chromite mines and development projects. Production from the open pit was temporarily stopped during
April 2018, pending the approval of the water use licence. The sinking of underground development commenced in January 2018.
Opencast mining came to an end in December 2019 when the LG6 Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves were depleted.

Figure 7: Locality map

History
No information regarding historical activities or ownership over the Moeijelijk farm was available prior to when the ﬁrst prospecting
right was granted to Bauba A Hlabirwa in 2006. The farm was held by Samancor Chrome Limited (Samancor) as an old order
prospecting right prior to acquisition by Bauba A Hlabirwa in 2006. Exploration drilling and resource estimations were completed
by Samancor but were not published in the public domain. Consequently, no historical Mineral Resources or Mineral Reserves are
available for comparison. Bauba became a 60% shareholder of the Moeijelijk Project in 2014, after a transaction with Bauba A
Hlabirwa, Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited, Danene Trust, Kumane Trust, Math-Pin Trust, Pimlico Investment Trust
and Highland Trading Investments Limited (collectively, the vendors) was concluded. Exploration and mining have been completed
on numerous projects in the vicinity of the Moeijelijk Project. Bauba A Hlabirwa commenced mining activities on the Moeijelijk Project
in February 2015. The operation was placed on care and maintenance between January 2016 and January 2017. Mining continued
from January 2017 until the open pit was temporarily stopped during April 2018 pending the approval of the water use licence.
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Regional and local geology
The Moeijelijk Project is located on the northern part of the Eastern Limb of the Bushveld Complex (Figure 8). The project area is
covered by recent unconsolidated sediments, with minimal outcrop of the underlying hard rock geology. The underlying geology
comprises units of the Lower Zone. The more weathering resistant Lower Critical Zone forms a steep hill to the south-west of the
Moeijelijk Project, where the LG2, LG6 (including disseminated chromite in the immediate footwall, Figure 9) and LG6A units suboutcrop at the base of the hill.
The LG2 unit sub-outcrops towards the southern portion of the property, striking north-west south-east over a strike length of
approximately 2,5km. The dip is typically 20 degrees towards the west, but varies slightly along strike. The average width of the LG2
unit is approximately 0,87m and varies between 0,47m and 1,75m.
The LG6 and LG6A units sub-outcrop over a strike length of approximately 1,6km. The LG6 and LG6A units, which are separated
by pyroxenite partings, are typically continuous along strike and down-dip. Dip is typically 20 degrees to the west, but varies slightly
along strike. The average combined width of the LG6 and LG6A units is approximately 1,75m, excluding partings. The parting
between the LG6 and LG6A units varies between 0,77m and 1,60m in thickness.
The Moeijelijk Project targets the Disseminated Chromite Footwall, LG6 and LG6A units.

Figure 8: Geological setting
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Exploration activities
Exploration by Bauba A Hlabirwa commenced in 2007
and included geological ﬁeld mapping with the purpose of
delineating the outcrop position, deﬁning the basic structural
geology and the continuity of the LG6 unit over the project
area. Percussion drilling, diamond drilling and a geophysical
survey were completed on a regional basis in 2007
(Figure 10 to Figure 13). Two diamond drillholes were drilled on
the Moeijelijk Project. These were utilised to conﬁrm continuity
of the LG6 and LG6A units. A digital terrain model with 5m
contour intervals was completed in 2007. In 2013, Bauba
A Hlabirwa completed a total of 16 percussion drillholes.
The drillholes were planned to prove continuity of the LG6
unit along the strike of the orebody. Eight of the percussion
drillholes intersected the LG6 unit at a depth of less than 25m
and eight intersected the LG6 unit at a depth of up to 50m.
In 2013, a total of three reverse circulation (RC) drillholes were
completed by Bauba A Hlabirwa. All exploration completed
prior to 2015 is referred to as historical for the purposes of
this report. During November 2015, Bauba commenced
a diamond drilling programme consisting of four diamond
drillholes (referred to as 2015 exploration drillholes). These
drillholes were planned with the intention of estimating a
maiden Mineral Resource for the LG6 and LG6A units.
Samples were taken from the open pit mining face. The mining
face was mapped in detail to gain an understanding of the
extent of unit variability and structural disturbance. During
2016, Shango managed an exploration programme, focused
around the current mining areas, and updated the threedimensional geological model, created in Leapfrog, on behalf
of Bauba. The objectives of this work included estimation of
the chromite tonnages and mining waste volumes for both
40m and 50m highwall mining areas, improving conﬁdence
in the grade, thickness and density of the chromite units,
delineating the sub-crop position of the various chromitite
units and calculating the stripping ratio for the available
mining areas.
During this exploration programme, Shango introduced a
sub-division of the opencast mining areas into the Central
Work in Progress, Southern Area, Northern Work in Progress,
Northern Extension and Northern Area.

Figure 9: Simpliﬁed stratigraphic column for the
Moeijelijk Project
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Exploration drilling was undertaken to improve conﬁdence
in the depth, thickness, grade and sub-crop position of the
chromitite packages across the deﬁned mining areas. Drilling
commenced with ﬁve RC drillholes (F1, H1, I1, J1 and K1) in
the Southern Area and the Northern Area. This was followed
by a further 12 drillholes, in the same mining areas. Holes
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were drilled using a combination of drilling methods, namely
RC from surface to the base of the Boulder Zone, followed by
diamond drilling to the base of the LG6 unit. All drillholes were
drilled vertically and the diamond drilling portion was drilled
with NQ core size.
A further four diamond drillholes were completed in the Central
Work in Progress and Northern Extension mining areas in
order to improve conﬁdence in the grade and thickness of
the LG6 and LG6A units, and to test for the presence of large
waste partings. These holes were drilled vertically with the
initial part being drilled HQ size until the hole stabilised, after
which the remainder was drilled with NQ size. In the Northern
Work in Progress mining area, ﬁve pit samples were taken
to improve conﬁdence in the grade and thickness of the
chromitite units. All drillholes completed during this exploration
programme are referred to as recent exploration drillholes.
For the majority of the programme, one sample was sufﬁcient

to encompass the entire chromitite layer. Grade control
sampling to determine variability across the LG6 and LG6A
chromitite layers was performed on drillhole NEX1.
The chromitite layer present in NEX1 was divided into 20cm
samples, as this is the minimum plausible mining thickness
that can be achieved. Inclusions larger than 4cm were
sampled separately and calculated into the grade of the
entire chromitite layer using weighted average thicknesses.
From October 2017 to January 2018, Bauba completed a total
of 15 diamond drillholes, 12 of which returned full intersections
suitable for sampling of the LG2 unit. The drillholes were
planned to prove continuity of the LG2 unit along the strike of
the orebody and declare a Mineral Resource for the LG2 unit.
The LG2 unit was encountered at depths varying from 36m to
145m below surface. All holes were drilled vertically and the
diamond drilling portion was drilled with NQ core size.

Figure 10: Location of LG6 data points
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Figure 11: LG6A data points

Figure 12: Disseminated chromitite footwall data points
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Figure 13: Location of LG2 data points

Figure 14: Comparison of the Cameron section to a cross-section of Moeijelijk Mine (modiﬁed after Cameron, 1980)
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Bara Consulting conducted a scoping study on the Moeijelijk
Project in the previous ﬁnancial year.
Limited exploration expenditure was incurred in this ﬁnancial
year (ZAR102 110,60) during which the disseminated chromite
in the footwall of the LG6, exposed during the 2015 drilling
campaign, was split and sent for analysis.
The LG2 was identiﬁed by the Competent Person on-site as
well as in drillhole information. The correlation of this layer was
performed by comparison to the Cameron Section (Cameron,
1980) (Figure 14). The thickness of the units situated between
top contact of the LG2 and the bottom contact of the LG6,
as described by Cameron (1980) (Figure 14), is approximately
202m. Similarly, the measured distance between the modelled
wireframes for these units is approximately 196m. In addition,
Cameron (1980) reported a Cr:Fe ratio of around 1,80 to 1,85
which corresponds to the Cr:Fe ratios that Bauba received
from the laboratory.

Sampling governance
Samples prior to 2015 were analysed by UIS Analytical
Services Proprietary Limited (UIS Laboratory). Sampling
governance is detailed in the updated Independent Competent
Persons’ report on the Moeijelijk chromite mineral asset
prepared by Venmyn Deloitte as at 31 January 2016.
Bauba completed four exploration drillholes in the down-dip
extension of the project during 2015. The drillholes were
completed during November and December 2015. Each of
the drillholes was logged, photographed, split and sampled,
according to Bauba’s exploration protocols and QA/QC
procedures. A total of 59 samples were submitted to Set
Point Laboratories, a South African National Accreditation
System (SANAS)-accredited laboratory, for assay and SG
determination. Of the 59 samples submitted,
31 were samples from the drilling programme, 22 were face
samples from the open pit and six were standard samples
included by Bauba. These samples considered blanks and
standards. No duplicates were submitted by Bauba. The
laboratory inserted a further nine QA/QC samples, comprising
blanks, standards and duplicates.
Bauba completed a total of ﬁve RC drillholes and 12
combination RC/diamond drillholes towards the end of 2016.
Each of the diamond drillholes was logged, photographed,
split and sampled, according to Bauba’s exploration protocols
and QA/QC procedures. A total of 53 samples were submitted
to Bureau Veritas Laboratory, a SANAS-accredited laboratory
located in Rustenburg, for assay and SG determination.
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Of the 53 samples submitted, 43 were samples from the
drilling programme, ﬁve were face samples from the open
pit and ﬁve were standard samples included by Bauba (one
per ten samples submitted). No duplicates were submitted
by Bauba. The laboratory inserted a further 22 QA/QC
samples, comprising blanks, standards and duplicates. Bauba
completed a total of 15 diamond drillholes during the LG2
drilling programme (October 2017 to January 2018). Each of
the diamond drillholes was logged, photographed, split and
sampled, according to Bauba’s exploration protocols and
QA/QC procedures. A total of 55 samples were submitted to
UIS Laboratory, a SANAS-accredited laboratory, in Centurion.
No duplicates were submitted by Bauba. Eight
QA/QC samples were included and the laboratory inserted 18
additional QA/QC samples, consisting of blanks, standards
and duplicates. Set Point Laboratories (Set Point), a SANASaccredited laboratory, was employed to perform umpire assays
for the LG2 sampling. Set Point included a further six
QA/QC samples, comprising blanks, standards and
duplicates. Laboratory analysis for the recent LG2 and
LG6 chromitite samples included X-ray Fluorescence (XRF)
for Cr2O3, Fe2O3, FeO, TiO2, Al2O3, SiO2, CaO and MgO.
Density of the samples was calculated employing the
Archimedes principle. The elemental Cr:Fe ratios were also
calculated. Bauba continuously conducts an internal audit
of the laboratory results to check for any errors or bias. This
is completed on each set of data returned to Bauba by the
laboratory. To date, no signiﬁcant errors or bias have been
recorded. The Competent Person undertook an independent
audit of the sampling methodologies and QA/QC procedures
employed during the 2018 exploration activities and did not
discover any material ﬂaws.
In September 2019, a total of 48 samples were submitted
to SGS Laboratory, a SANAS-accredited laboratory, in
Randfontein in order to test the disseminated chromite
sampling. Seven QA/QC samples were included consisting of
one blank, three standards and three duplicates. Laboratory
analysis included the XRF for Cr2O3, Fe2O3, FeO, TiO2, Al2O3,
SiO2, CaO and MgO. Density of the samples was calculated
employing the Archimedes principle. The elemental Cr:Fe
ratios were also calculated.

Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves estimation
All resources as tabulated under this section have been
estimated in accordance with the SAMREC Code, 2016 edition.
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LG2

Grade estimation

Orebody delineation

A spatial estimate was performed for all grade ﬁelds,
considering an inverse distance cubed estimation technique,
utilising seven samples and a 2 000m isotropic search ellipse.

Surfaces were created for the orebody top and bottom
contacts, considering the intersection points identiﬁed in the
borehole dataset. The top contact was modelled as an offset
plane from the bottom contact. The practical application of this
was to generate a gridded surface of the thickness of the LG2
unit, and elevate this surface on the gridded surface generated
for the bottom contact of the LG2.

Disseminated Chromite Footwall, LG6 and LG6A
Orebody delineation
Surfaces were created for the orebody top and bottom
contacts, considering the intersection points identiﬁed in the
borehole dataset. The bottom contact was modelled as an
offset plane from the top contact.

A calcite zone was deﬁned during drilling which was localised
in the open pit area, near the top contact of the LG2 unit.
This zone was modelled separately using the same technique
applied to generate the LG2 surfaces, and considering the
top of the LG2 as the reference surface. Therefore, spurious
changes in unit thickness or deviations from the expected
position, for example due to differences in data density between
the modelled unit and the reference unit, were eliminated.

Compositing
Full intersection composites were generated for each borehole
intersecting the LG6. An average intersection grade was thereby
generated for each variable to be estimated per drillhole. This
technique was preferred to calculating length-weighted grade
values, as the thickness of the orebody is provided spatially from
the modelled top and bottom contacts and not from a thickness
estimate. This avoids spurious grade responses.

Compositing
Full intersection composites were generated for each borehole
intersecting the LG2. An average intersection grade was
thereby generated for each variable to be estimated per
drillhole. This technique was preferred to calculating lengthweighted grade values, as the thickness of the orebody is
provided spatially from the modelled top and bottom contacts,
and not from a thickness estimate. This avoids spurious grade
responses to the edge of the modelled calcite zone.

Grade estimation
A spatial estimate was performed for all grade ﬁelds,
considering an inverse distance cubed estimation technique,
utilising seven samples, and a 2 000m isotropic search ellipse.

Resource estimation methodology
The newly estimated block model is based on a 50m by 50m model prototype. Sub-celling is permitted to a minimum cell size of
2,5m in X and Y. All variables (grade, channel width and SG), were estimated employing an inverse distance-weighted estimate to
the power of three. The search factors employed for all variables are shown in Table 7 below. The classiﬁcation criteria are described
in Table 8 and represent standard criteria throughout the Bushveld mines.
Table 7: Search volume deﬁnitions
Search
number

Search
range

Minimum
samples

1

2 000

3

Maximum Expansion
samples
factor
7

2

Minimum
samples

Maximum Expansion
samples
factor

1

20

Minimum
samples

Maximum
samples

3

1

20

Measured

Indicated

Inferred

75

150

300

300

600

1 200

Table 8: LG6 classiﬁcation criteria, deﬁned as a diameter around samples (m)
Area
Open pit
Underground

The topmost disseminated chromite sample in the footwall of the LG6 was selected from the available drillhole data for grade
estimation, to represent the top 40cm of disseminated footwall considered for dilution. The grade values of these samples
were estimated into a 2D model with 50m by 50m parent cells, considering a 2 000m circular search ellipse, and ﬁve samples
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per estimate, employing an inverse square of distance sample weighting. Classiﬁcation was performed considering the same
methodology as applied for the LG6, utilising the LG6 Disseminated Footwall samples. A thickness of 40cm was applied to the
estimated grade model for tonnage calculation.

Resource classiﬁcation LG2
Resource classiﬁcation was performed considering a two-stage strategy, with an initial automated classiﬁcation performed by
calculating distance to nearest sample, which was subsequently reﬁned by manual inspection and reclassiﬁcation of spurious
outputs of the automated process. In this context, spurious outputs are deﬁned as localised estimation artefacts such as crescents
and ellipses. The classiﬁcation criteria are tabulated in Table 9 below and the spatial distribution is summarised in Figure 15 below.
Table 9: LG2 classiﬁcation criteria estimated
Sample
count

Search
range

Mining type

Resource class

Open pit

Measured

2

75

Open pit

Indicated

2

150

Open pit

Inferred

2

300

Underground

Measured

2

300

Underground

Indicated

2

600

Underground

Inferred

2

1 200

Figure 15: Resource classiﬁcation of the LG2

Resource classiﬁcation Disseminated Chromite Footwall, LG6 and LG6A
Resources were categorised based on the distance from samples, with the additional criteria of a minimum of two samples to allow
classiﬁcation as Measured or Indicated (Table 8). Figure 16 to Figure 18 depict the spatial distribution of the resource classiﬁcations.
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Figure 16: Resource classiﬁcation of the LG6A

Figure 17: Resource classiﬁcation of the LG6
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Figure 18: Resource classiﬁcation of the disseminated chromitite footwall
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Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves statement
Mineral Resources are presented as in-situ tonnes after geological losses have been applied in Table 10 and Table 11 below.
Geological losses were determined using the estimated geological losses from the in-pit geological mapping as well as known
geological losses expected in the eastern Bushveld. The Mineral Reserves statements on LG6 underground resources are detailed
in Table 12. Data to support the cut-off grade and modifying factors represent actual ﬁgures from the mine.
Table 10: Mineral Resources for LG2 (in accordance with the SAMREC Code) at a 60m highwall (as at 30 June 2018)

Mining
method
Opencast*

Seam

Resource
category

Tonnes
Mt

Seam
width
m

Cr2O3
%

SiO2
%

FeO
%

Cr:Fe
ratio

SG
cm2

LG2

Measured

0,03

111

31,59

11,85

14,42

1,88

3,26

Indicated

0,09

108

28,40

10,22

13,34

1,84

3,30

Measured and
Indicated

0,12

109

29,16

10,61

13,59

1,85

3,29

Inferred

0,13

98

32,67

9,63

15,31

1,86

3,55

Total opencast

0,25

103

31,02

10,09

14,50

1,86

3,42

Measured

1,16

84

34,77

10,80

17,11

1,79

3,65

Indicated

1,44

85

33,59

11,65

16,74

1,77

3,63

Measured and
Indicated

2,60

84

34,12

11,27

16,90

1,78

3,64

Inferred

1,08

88

32,73

12,31

16,40

1,76

3,62

Total underground

3,68

85

33,71

11,58

16,76

1,77

3,63

Measured

1,19

84

34,70

10,82

17,05

1,79

3,64

Indicated

1,53

86

33,29

11,57

16,54

1,77

3,61

Measured and
Indicated

2,72

85

33,90

11,24

16,76

1,78

3,62

Inferred

1,21

89

32,72

12,02

16,28

1,77

3,62

Grand total

3,93

87

33,54

11,48

16,61

1,78

3,62

Underground LG2

Opencast
LG2
and
underground

Notes:
* Calculated at a 60m highwall.
A 100m buffer around the community has been excluded from the Mineral Resources.
Mineral Resources are reported as in-situ tonnes.
Mineral Resources are exclusive of a 20m crown pillar below the 60m opencast highwall.
Mineral Resources are exclusive of a 10m boundary pillar of the Moeijelijk farm boundary.
A cut-off grade of 25% Cr2O3 has been applied to the resource models.
Apparent computational errors are due to rounding.
Geological losses have been applied to the Mineral Resource categories:
• Measured – 5%;
• Indicated – 10%; and
• Inferred – 20%.
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Table 11: Mineral Resources for the Disseminated, LG6 and LG6A (in accordance with the SAMREC Code)
Discounted
tonnes

CW
cm

Cr203
%

FeO
%

SiO2
%

Fe/Cr

Density

LG6

3 832 274

135

42,3

24,6

4,7

1,54

4,37

Measured and Indicated

3 590 794

135

42,3

24,5

4,7

1,54

4,37

Measured

1 328 160

127

41,6

24,1

5,0

1,57

4,31

Indicated

Row labels

2 262 634

140

42,6

24,8

4,5

1,53

4,40

Inferred

241 480

140

43,4

24,9

4,4

1,52

4,45

LG6A

982 944

42

41,2

24,3

6,4

1,49

4,28

Measured and Indicated

470 587

41

41,2

24,1

6,7

1,51

4,21

Measured

158 658

39

41,2

24,0

6,8

1,51

4,15

Indicated

311 929

42

41,2

24,1

6,7

1,50

4,25

Inferred

512 357

42

41,2

24,4

6,1

1,48

4,35

DISS

830 689

40

32,8

20,9

16,0

1,40

3,83

Measured and Indicated

424 539

40

33,0

21,0

15,7

1,41

3,84

Measured

158 168

40

33,4

21,2

15,3

1,41

3,86

Indicated

266 371

40

32,8

20,9

15,9

1,40

3,83

406 150

40

32,5

20,8

16,2

1,40

3,82

4 485 919

216

41,3

24,2

6,0

1,53

4,29

Inferred
Measured and Indicated
Measured

1 644 985

206

40,8

23,8

6,1

1,55

4,24

Indicated

2 840 934

222

41,6

24,3

5,8

1,52

4,33

Inferred

1 159 988

222

38,6

23,3

9,3

1,46

4,16

Total

5 645 907

217

40,7

24,0

6,6

1,51

4,27

Table 12: LG6 underground Mineral Resources/Mineral Reserves detail
Thicknesses (m)
Geological
loss Chromitite
%
Mt

Area
ha

Dip

Slope
area
ha

37,9794

21

40,6814

1,40

4,40

10

Measured

23,8239

21

25,5189

1,27

4,31

5

Total

61,8033

Mineral Resources estimates
Indicated

LG6

SG

66,2003

2,26
1,33
3,58

In-situ million tonnes

Element oxides %

Mineral Resource grades

LG6

Total

Cr2O3

FeO

Al2O3

MgO

SiO2

Cr:Fe
ratio

Indicated

2,26

2,26

42,60

24,80

14,50

10,40

4,50

1,51

Measured

1,33

1,33

41,80

24,10

14,40

10,40

5,00

1,53

Total

3,58

3,58
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Table 12: LG6 underground Mineral Resources/Mineral Reserves detail continued
Middling pyroxenite

SG

Geological
loss
%

Million
tonnes

Cr2O3

FeO

Al2O3

MgO

SiO2

Cr:Fe
ratio

0,02

3,30

10

0,02

3,50

11,43

3,73

27,68

49,66

0,27

0,02

3,30

5

0,01

3,50

11,43

3,73

27,68

49,66

0,27

Thickness
m

Probable
Proved

Internal
dilution

Element oxides %

Total

0,03
Pyroxenite

SG

Geological
loss
%

Million
tonnes

Cr2O3

FeO

Al2O3

MgO

SiO2

Cr:Fe
ratio

0,10

4,50

10

0,15

3,50

11,43

3,73

27,68

49,66

0,27

0,09

4,05

5

0,09

3,50

11,43

3,73

27,68

49,66

0,27

Thickness
m

Probable
Proved

External
dilution (HW)

Element oxides %

Total

0,24
Pyroxenite

SG

Geological
loss
%

Million
tonnes

Cr2O3

FeO

Al2O3

MgO

SiO2

Cr:Fe
ratio

0,23

3,83

10

0,33

32,80

20,90

11,70

13,90

15,90

1,38

0,21

3,86

5

0,20

33,40

21,20

11,80

13,60

15,30

1,39

Thickness
m

Probable
Proved

External
Dilution (FW)

Element oxides %

Total

0,53
Million tonnes in-situ

Mineral Reserves
estimates

Chromite

Internal
dilution

External
dilution
HW

Less modifying factors %
External
dilution
FW

Mining
extraction loss

Mining
loss
factor

Mining
dilution
loss

RoM
Waste
packed
U/G

Plant
feed
Mt

Probable

2,26

0,02

0,15

0,33

13

1

2,36

Proved

1,33

0,01

0,09

0,20

18

1

1,31

Total

3,58

0,03

0,24

0,53
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Table 12: LG6 underground Mineral Resources/Mineral Reserves detail continued
Element oxides %

Mineral Reserves estimates

RoM
Mt

Cr2O3

FeO

Al2O3

MgO

SiO2

Cr:Fe
ratio

Probable

2,364

38,64

23,37

13,40

12,04

9,09

1,46

Proved

1,315

37,92

22,85

13,33

12,00

9,41

1,46

Total

3,68

The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves are reported according to the principles of the SAMREC Code.
Mining extraction = tonnes broken underground.
RoM plant feed

= tonnes broken U/G (total chromitite + external dilution + internal dilution) less losses attributed to mining
extraction, mining loss, mining dilution and waste packed underground – mostly pyroxenite.

Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves reconciliation
Based on updated information and the development of a lifeof-mine plan, Shango updated the Mineral Resources, effective
30 June 2020. The 2019 Mineral Resource for the LG6 and
LG6A units totalled 5,13Mt at an average grade of 42,10%
calculated at a 50m highwall. The 2020 Mineral Resource for
the Disseminated Footwall Chromite, LG6 and LG6A units
totals 5,65Mt at an average grade of 40,70%. The increase of
0,52Mt in tonnage and decrease in grade by 1,4% is primarily
due to the addition of the disseminated resources which in
turn was offset by depletions by mining of 0,27Mt during
the ﬁnancial year. The Mineral Resource of the LG2 remains
3,93Mt at an average grade of 33,54% and studies in 2018
indicated that it has the potential to be extracted as part of the
current operations.
The 2019 Mineral Reserves for the Moeijelijk Project, for the
Disseminated Footwall Chromite, LG6 and LG6A units totalled
3,90Mt at an average grade of 39,0% calculated at a 50m
highwall. The 2020 Mineral Resource for the Disseminated
Footwall Chromite, LG6 and LG6A units totals 3,68Mt at an
average grade of 38,4%. The decrease of 0,31Mt is primarily
due to depletions by mining during the ﬁnancial year.

Mining activities
The Moeijelijk Project is currently an underground operation
with the open pit resources depleted in December 2019. The
open pit consisted of a truck and shovel operation where
mining was conducted and managed by contract miners.
Sinking of the underground decline developments commenced
in January 2018, with production currently ramping up to
the planned capacity of 30 000 tonnes per month of stoping
material. The underground mine is a conventional mine, using
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handheld rock drills with scraper winch cleaning. All ore is
moved from the stope face to surface using mechanised
loading and hauling.
The Moeijelijk underground mine will be developed almost
entirely on the LG6 Reef horizon (including the Disseminated
Footwall Chromite) with limited off-reef development where
required. The LG6A will not form part of the mining target but
may be included in certain larger excavations.
Development of the main apparent dip trucking ramp and
strike drives is mechanised with mechanised drilling and
mechanised loading and hauling of rock to surface.
Stoping will be a conventional breast panel mining approach
with a strike and dip gulley system enabling the scraping of
mined ore to a strike drive. This strike drive will connect to an
apparent dip trucking ramp which will also be developed onreef. Ore will be loaded into trucks at the intersection of the
dip centre gully or raise and the strike drive, considering
a loading crosscut arrangement, for hauling to surface via
the strike drive and then up an apparent dip trucking ramp
developed at 9 degrees.
The priority in the mining schedule is to advance these two
declines as fast as possible, in order to make additional stope
face available and to provide trucking capability. Lockdown
due to COVID-19 and a fatality impacted production
negatively. The build-up will resume after the closure period
and is expected to take four months to get to the steady state
production rate of 30 000 tonnes of stope ore per month.
Materials will be transported underground in trackless vehicles
down the apparent dip trucking ramp and driven into the
working areas along the strike drives. Further transport into
individual panels will be by mono-winch.
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND MINERAL RESERVES REPORT continued

Men will initially walk to the working places in the shallow working areas. As mining becomes deeper, however, a chairlift installation
will be added to the mine for man transport to main strike drive elevations. From there, men will walk along strike to the mining
areas. The chairlift incline will be on true dip and situated centrally in the orebody. The ﬁgure below shows the life-of-mine layout.
Refer to Figure 16 detailing the Moeijelijk underground life-of-mine layout.

Figure 19: Plan of ﬁnal mine layout for Moeijelijk Chrome Mine

Production
During the reporting period, a total of 65 707 tonnes of open pit and 205 951 tonnes of underground RoM tonnes were produced
amounting to a total of 271 658 tonnes at an average grade of 38,7% Cr2O3 (Table 13). RoM material above 40% Cr2O3 is
sorted and trucked directly to Maputo port for export. During the ﬁnancial year 65 707 tonnes RoM was sold. A wash plant was
constructed to upgrade RoM chrome ore below 40% Cr2O3 into lumpy, foundry, chemical and metallurgical grade concentrates.
During the ﬁnancial year, 237 510 tonnes were fed through the wash plant at a yield of 62,84%. A total of 147 699 tonnes of
concentrate was trucked from the mine.
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Material risks
Many of the technical and infrastructural risks associated
with the chrome project have been minimised due to its
favourable location with respect to an established mining
region. The Moeijelijk Project is located in a well-understood
geological setting that is currently supporting numerous
mining operations. Due to diligent opencast and underground
mapping, the geological setting across the mining operation is
better understood. To date, no dykes have been intersected
across the full strike length of the mine and faults are rarely
observed. The greatest risk to the project is falling commodity
prices. It is expected that further drilling will not improve
conﬁdence in locating dykes and faults and reliance is placed
upon the geomagnetic survey. Low commodity prices can
affect both operators and downstream chrome purchasers
thereby limiting the market available to both contributors to the
industry.

Environmental management and
funding
An environmental impact assessment and EMPr Report
in support of the opencast and underground mining right
application was submitted on 28 July 2015 and granted on
13 July 2016. A WULA was submitted on 12 August 2015 and
granted on 30 March 2017 for the opencast and underground
mining project.

55

Bauba A Hlabirwa has made provision for both, scheduled
and unscheduled closure of the mining operations. The
provision also accounts for closure and rehabilitation
operations being performed according to the requirements of
the EMPr. The environmental liability assessment for Moeijelijk
Mine was updated in July 2020 and submitted to the DMRE
on 12 November 2020. The updated environmental liability
was calculated as R 11,1 million (including VAT).

Reference
Cameron E.N. (1980) Evolution of the Lower Critical Zone,
Central Sector, Eastern Bushveld Complex, and its chromite
deposits. Economic Geology, Vol. 75, page 845 – 871.
The South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(the SAMREC Code as amended July 2009), South African
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Geological Society
of South Africa, page 75.
The South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
(THE SAMREC CODE as amended July 2016), South African
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Geological Society
of South Africa, page 94.

A section 102 application was submitted on 7 December 2017
to amend Bauba A Hlabirwa’s Mine Works Programme and
EMPr to include a wash plant, stockpile areas for product,
tailings storage facilities and mining of the LG2 chrome
ore resource. The ﬁnal EIA and EMPr Report for the NEMA
application was submitted on 25 May 2018. An Integrated
Environmental Authorisation was subsequently granted on
12 October 2018. A WULA was submitted on 30 October 2017
and the WUL was granted on 4 July 2018.
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ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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There is a growing call around the world to ensure that local communities
benefit from the activities of the mining companies they host. It is
incumbent upon Bauba’s board and management to ensure that, from the
outset, the group has a full appreciation of the potential impact its activities
could have on employees, local communities and the environment within
which it operates and that it understands the needs and concerns of its
many stakeholders, particularly to inform decisions around socio-economic
development opportunities.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Introduced in 2015, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and associated
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) provide opportunities through a powerful
agenda for achieving peace and prosperity on a healthy planet. The 17 SDGs
balance the three dimensions of sustainable development: economic, social
and environmental. This distillation of challenges makes them actionable for
business leaders.

Bauba has identified seven
SDGs as its main long-term

priorities.

More details regarding the SDGs can be found online at
www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals.

Bauba is committed to the highest standards of ethics and
corporate governance. The Companies Act places certain
duties on directors and determines that they should apply the
necessary care and skill in fulﬁlling their duties. To ensure that
this is achieved, the board applies best practice principles,
as contained in King IV, where appropriate. Bauba endorses
King IV. As a JSE-listed entity, Bauba also complies with the
JSE Listings Requirements.

Bauba IAR Front 2020 P8.indd 58

2021/01/15 4:44 PM

BAUBA RESOURCES LIMITED INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

59

Caring for the environment
SDG outcomes

Bauba’s contribution

Environment
Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas
and marine resources for sustainable development

Implemented plan to reduce water consumption per tonne
produced.
Waste is sorted for recycling to reduce the impact on landﬁlls
and oceans.

Protect, restore and promote sustainable use
of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage
forests, combat desertiﬁcation, halt and reverse
land degradation and halt biodiversity loss

Bauba performs roll-over mining, ensuring rehabilitation
takes place concurrently with the mining footprint. Bauba is
currently planning on planting trees at the local schools and
surrounding areas as part of an environmental awareness
campaign.

Social responsibility
SDG outcomes

Bauba’s contribution

Basic needs
Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for
all at all ages

Our mine health and safety strategy aims to ensure Bauba
has a healthy workforce free of occupational and lifestyle
diseases.

Ensure availability and sustainable management
of water and sanitation for all

Bauba has provided water to surrounding communities
through our borehole project. In total, 12 boreholes have
been sunk and ﬁtted with pumps and tanks. On a monthly
basis, Bauba pays for the electricity of these boreholes to
pump the water into the tanks.

Empowerment
Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable
economic growth, full and productive employment
and decent work for all

Bauba prioritises the employment of local community
members ﬁrst.

Corporate citizenship
SDG outcomes

Bauba’s contribution

Governance
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Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for
sustainable development, provide access to
justice for all and build effective, accountable
and inclusive institutions at all levels

Bauba supports sustainable development as a member of
the Minerals Council of South Africa.

Strengthen the means of implementation and
revitalise the Global Partnership for Sustainable
Development

Bauba focuses on a sustainable future for all its stakeholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Nico
van der Hoven

Martin
Luyt

Damian
Smith

Dr Mathews
Phosa

Non-executive and
chairperson of the board

Lead independent
non-executive director

Independent
non-executive director

Non-executive
director

Appointed
30 May 2015

Appointed
30 May 2015

Appointed
17 September 2010

Appointed
28 March 2011

Nico is a commerce and
law graduate, director,
businessman and
entrepreneur with over
31 years’ experience in
exploration and mining.
Nico is also the founding
member of Hernic Chrome,
Bauba Resources,
Vanadium Resources and
GoldStone Resources
Limited.

Martin has 30 years’ postqualiﬁcation experience.
Since qualifying as a
chartered accountant in
1988, he has worked in
London for Ernst & Young
and Saﬁnvest, and more
recently was a director of
the former BDO Spencer
Steward (Cape Town). He
established LPH in March
2002, with its original
founding directors, Nicholas
Hall and John Proudfoot.

Damian is a registered
professional natural
scientist. He has 29 years’
experience in mining and
exploration for base metals,
gold and PGEs but has
had a particular focus on
the Bushveld Complex
geology for the past two
decades. Before becoming
a geological consultant to
various companies, Damian
was the group geologist
for Northam Platinum
Limited. He has conducted
exploration programmes
on projects in South Africa
and internationally, and has
undertaken due diligence,
evaluation and feasibility
studies on a number of
PGE and chrome ore
projects. Damian has
published extensively
on economic geology.
He holds a BSc (Hons)
Geology from the University
of Liverpool and an MSc
Exploration Geology from
the Camborne School
of Mines.

Dr Phosa opened the
ﬁrst black law practice in
Nelspruit in 1981 and was
elected as the ﬁrst Premier
of Mpumalanga province in
1994. In 1999, he resigned
his seat in parliament to
enter a career in business.
He returned to politics to
serve as Treasurer-General
of the National Executive
Committee of the ANC
between 2007 and 2012.
He sits on the boards of
a number of prominent
South African institutions
and companies, including
the University of South
Africa, the Afrikaanse
Handelsinstituut, Special
Olympics South Africa and
Hans Merensky Holdings.
He holds a BProc LLB
(UNIN) and PhD (Hons) in
Law (Boston University,
USA).
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Board
independence

3

Independent
non-executive
directors

2

Executive
directors

2

Non-executive
directors

King TV
Thulare

Thabile
Makgala

Nick van der
Hoven

Jonathan
Knowlden

Alternate non-executive
director to Dr NM Phosa

Independent non-executive
director

Executive director and chief
executive ofﬁcer

Executive and ﬁnancial
director

Appointed
1 July 2011

Appointed
8 February 2019

Appointed
30 May 2015

Appointed
1 December 2016

His Majesty King Thulare III
was King of the Bapedi
Nation and tragically
passed away on 6 January
2021. He joined the mining
industry in 2007 and had
gained 13 years’ valuable
experience. He was
the executive chairman
of the KT3 group of
companies and had also
served as a director of
Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining
Investments Proprietary
Limited since 2008.

Thabile holds a Bachelor
of Science in Mining
Engineering from
the University of the
Witwatersrand as well
as a Master of Business
Administration from the
University of Stellenbosch
Business School and
has dedicated almost
two decades of service
to the mining industry.
Her diverse professional
experience includes general
management, strategy,
business development and
business planning.

Nick is a commercial lawyer
with experience in both
the exploration and mining
sectors. His legal focus has
primarily been in mineral
law. He has managed
various mineral rights
and projects and equity
portfolios. He currently
holds directorships in
several unlisted exploration
companies. Nick has
obtained a Bachelor of
Commerce degree, a
Bachelor of Law degree
and was admitted as an
attorney of the High Court
of South Africa in 2014.

Jonathan is a CA (SA) and
holds a BCom Financial
Accounting degree and
a Postgraduate Diploma
in Accounting from the
University of Cape Town.
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After completing his
articles at Deloitte &
Touche, he served as
associate at The Royal
Bank of Scotland PLC
in London and group
ﬁnancial reporting
manager of Clicks Group
Limited.

Experience and
expertise
Legal

3

Mining

3

CA

2

Manufacturing

1

Financial

1

Scientist

1

LLB

3

PhD

1

BCom

1

BSc

1

MSc

1

MBA

1

Years’ service
10 to 14 years

1

5 to 9 years

2

2 to 5 years

4

0 to 2 years

1
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REVIEW
KING IV
King IV defines corporate governance as the exercise of ethical and eﬀective leadership
towards the achievement of four governance outcomes. The desired governance
outcomes are listed below, together with the practices implemented and progress
made by Bauba towards achieving the 16 principles in meeting the outcomes:

Governance outcome one:
Ethical culture
Principle 1: The board leads ethically and
eﬀectively
The directors hold one another accountable for decisionmaking and behave ethically. The chairperson is tasked to
monitor this as part of his duties.

Principle 2: The board governs the ethics of
Bauba in a way that supports the establishment
of an ethical culture
The board retains full and effective control over the group.
A formal board charter, as recommended by King IV, has
been adopted. The board has adopted a code of ethics
based on the fundamental principles of integrity, transparency
and accountability.

Principle 3: The board ensures that Bauba is and
is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen
The responsibility for monitoring the responsible corporate
citizenship of the organisation was delegated to the social and
ethics committee by the board.
Refer to the report of the social and ethics committee on
page 68.

Governance outcome two:
Performance and value creation

Refer to Bauba’s business model and how the inseparable
elements of the value creation process are linked on pages
12 and 13.

Principle 5: The board ensures that reports
issued by Bauba enable stakeholders to make
informed assessments of Bauba’s performance
and its short-, medium- and long-term
prospects
The board is also responsible for clear, transparent, balanced
and truthful communication to shareholders and relevant
stakeholders. In its interim and integrated annual reports to
stakeholders, Bauba details both its historical performance
and future outlook.
Refer to pages 10 and 11 for Bauba’s ﬁve-year historical
performance and pages 86 to 121 for the detailed
performance over the past year.

Governance outcome three:
Adequate and eﬀective control
Principle 6: The board serves as the focal point
and custodian of corporate governance in
Bauba
The board operates under an approved board charter and
generally meets four times a year.
Details of the board meetings held and attendance are
disclosed on page 64.

Principle 4: The board appreciates that Bauba’s
core purpose, its risks and opportunities,
strategy, business model, performance and
sustainable development are all inseparable
elements of the value creation process

Principle 7: The board comprises the
appropriate balance of knowledge, skills,
experience, diversity and independence
for it to discharge its governance role and
responsibilities objectively and eﬀectively

The board’s paramount responsibility is to ensure that Bauba
creates value for its shareholders. In so doing, it takes
into account the legitimate interests and expectations of
stakeholders. Bauba sets and achieves its strategic initiatives
with reference to its risks and opportunities. The board
assesses both the positive and negative outcomes resulting
from its business model continuously.

The board, with the assistance of the remuneration and
nomination committee, considers, on an annual basis, its
composition. The board is satisﬁed that there is a balance of
skills, experience, diversity, independence and knowledge
needed to discharge its roles and responsibilities.
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Bauba has a unitary board with a non-executive director as
chairperson. The chairperson is not independent, but the board
believes that Nico van der Hoven’s specialist knowledge of
the mining industry makes it appropriate for him to hold this
position. Martin Luyt is the lead independent non-executive
director. The composition of the board ensures a balance of
authority, precluding any one director from exercising unfettered
powers of decision making.
The board has committed to race and gender diversity at
board level.
For details of directors’ full names as well as a brief career of
each of the directors, refer to pages 60 and 61.

Principle 8: The board ensures that its
arrangements for delegation within its own
structures promote independent judgement,
and assist with balance of power and the
executive discharge of its duties
Certain functions of the board have been delegated to three
committees which operate according to charters approved
by the board. Members of the audit and risk committee are
elected each year by shareholders at the annual general
meeting while members of the remuneration and nomination
committee and the social and ethics committee are elected
by the board.
Refer to page 64 for the members of each committee.
Directors’ interests in the shares of the company are
disclosed on page 123.

Principle 9: The board ensures that the
evaluation of its own performance and that
of its committees, its chair and its individual
members, supports continued improvement in
its performance and eﬀectiveness
After evaluating their performance in terms of their respective
charters, the directors are of the opinion that the board and
the sub-committees have discharged all their responsibilities.
Assessments of the performance of the chief executive ofﬁcer
and company secretary are conducted annually and no major
issues or concerns have been identiﬁed.

Principle 10: The board ensures that
the appointment of, and delegation to,
management contribute to role clarity and
the executive exercise of authority and
responsibilities
The board reviews and approves the business plans
and monitors the ﬁnancial performance of the group and
implementation of the strategies.
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The executive directors have contracts of employment with
the group which can, subject to fair labour practices, be
terminated on three months’ notice.
A detailed delegation of authority policy and framework
indicate matters reserved for the board and those delegated
to management.

Principle 11: The board governs risk in a way
that supports Bauba in setting and achieving
its strategic objectives
It is the board’s responsibility, with the considered guidance of
the audit and risk committee, to review the effectiveness of its
control systems on a regular basis and to ensure their maturity
as the business grows.
Refer to the report of the audit and risk committee on
page 78 for more detail on the effectiveness of internal
control.

Principle 12: The board governs technology and
information in a way that supports Bauba in
setting and achieving its strategic objectives
The board is responsible for IT governance and the approval
of any signiﬁcant IT expenditure. The management team is
responsible for the implementation of IT governance within
the group.

Principle 13: The board governs compliance
with applicable laws and adopted, nonbinding rules, codes and standards in a way
that supports Bauba being ethical and a good
corporate citizen
The board is responsible for Bauba’s compliance with
applicable laws and legislation and how it has delegated the
responsibility for implementing compliance to the executive
team. The board is assisted by the audit and risk committee
in monitoring compliance.

Principle 14: The board ensures that
Bauba remunerates fairly, responsibly and
transparently so as to promote the achievement
of strategic objectives and positive outcomes in
the short, medium and long term
Bauba remunerates fairly, responsibly and transparently so as
to promote the creation of value in a sustainable manner.
The individual directors’ remuneration is disclosed.
Refer to the remuneration and nomination committee’s
report on page 65.
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Governance outcome four:
Trust, good reputation and
legitimacy

Principle 15: The board ensures that assurance
services and functions enable an eﬀective
control environment, and that these support the
integrity of information for internal decisionmaking and of Bauba’s external reports

Principle 16: In the execution of its governance
role and responsibilities, the board adopts a
stakeholder-inclusive approach that balances
the needs, interests and expectations of
material stakeholders in the best interests
of Bauba over time

Bauba receives external assurance from its independent
external auditor, BDO South Africa Incorporated, on the fair
presentation of the annual ﬁnancial statements.
The board is satisﬁed that assurance results in an adequate
and effective control environment and integrity of reports for
better decision-making.

The social and ethics committee assists the board in
monitoring the effectiveness of stakeholder management
and addressing the outcomes.

The independent auditor’s report is presented on page 80.
Refer to pages 14 and 15 for information on stakeholder
relationships and engagement.
Refer to the report of the social and ethics committee
on page 68 for more detail on how Bauba addressed
stakeholder management.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
All directors attended the annual general meeting of shareholders, which was held on 12 December 2019.

ATTENDANCE AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
Attendance at the board and committee meetings was as follows:

Number of meetings

Board

Audit
and risk

Remuneration
and
nomination

Social
and
ethics

Technical

4

4

4

2

4

Non-executive directors
4 (chair)

4 (invited)

2

4

Dr Mathews Phosa

Nico van der Hoven (chairperson)

4

n/a

n/a

4*

n/a

n/a

King TV Thulare (alternate)

3

n/a

n/a

2 (chair)

n/a

Martin Luyt (lead independent)

4

4 (chair)

n/a

4

Sholto Dolamo

–

2

–

2

–

Damian Smith

4

4

n/a

n/a

3

Thabile Makgala

4

3

3

1

4 (chair)

Nick van der Hoven (chief executive ofﬁcer)

4

4 (invited)

4 (invited)

2 (invited)

4 (invited)

Jonathan Knowlden (ﬁnancial director)

4

4 (invited)

4 (invited)

2 (invited)

4 (invited)

Independent non-executive directors
4@

Executive directors

* Chairperson of the nomination committee.
@
Chairperson of the remuneration committee.
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REMUNERATION AND
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
REPORT
The committee establishes the overall principles of remuneration and considers,
reviews and approves the group’s remuneration strategy. It is important to ensure
that the levels of reward are competitive and support the performance which is
required to achieve the group’s business objectives while taking into account the
group’s particular financial circumstances.
The remuneration and nomination committee consists of three
suitably skilled and experienced non-executive directors:
Nico van der Hoven (nomination committee chairperson), Martin
Luyt (remuneration committee chairperson) and Thabile Makgala.
The committee met four times during the reporting period.
Non-executive remuneration consists of a fee for attending
meetings, in line with King IV recommendations.
Remuneration for individual directors is detailed on
page 121.

Remuneration of the non-executive directors for the following
12 months will be presented to shareholders for approval at
the annual general meeting.

Remuneration policy
The group has developed a remuneration policy in line with
King IV. All components of the reward strategy, including the
basic salary and the short- and long-term performance-based
incentive payments, are aligned to the strategic direction and
business-speciﬁc value drivers of Bauba.
The key principles of the remuneration policy are to:
• Attract and retain competent employees that enhance
business performance;
• Reward, recognise and give appreciation for superior
performance;
• Direct employees’ energies and activities towards the key
business goals;
• Link the group and individual performance to reward; and

In the event that either the remuneration policy or the
implementation report receives 25% or more dissenting
votes, Bauba will reasonably engage with these shareholders
to understand the reasons for their dissenting votes. Any
legitimate and reasonable objections and concerns raised
may include clarifying or amending the remuneration policy, its
implementation or processes, or updating the remuneration
governance. The previous annual general meeting’s nonbinding advisory vote on Bauba’s remuneration policy had
100% of the votes carried for this resolution.
Furthermore, the remuneration and nomination committee
is responsible for developing policy around the appointment
of directors, investigates potential board members for
necessary skills and competence and makes appropriate
recommendations to the board. This function of the committee
is chaired by Nico van der Hoven and Martin Luyt.
The board’s race and gender diversity policy gives preference
to female candidates as board vacancies arise or additional
board appointments are required, taking into consideration the
necessary skills, expertise and race that would best serve the
interests of the company and the shareholders. The committee
is responsible for implementing this policy. As yet, no numerical
targets have been set.
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• Apply an integrated and holistic approach to the reward
strategy, encompassing a balanced mix of:
– Basic salary;
– Short-term incentive bonus, rewarding both group and
individual performance; and
– Long-term share-based incentive scheme, based on
performance measures.
The reward strategy and each of its components are dynamic
and are therefore reviewed regularly to ensure that Bauba’s
remuneration policy keeps pace with market practices, and the
group’s evolving organisational context and objectives.
Remuneration mix: The executives’ total remuneration
consists of a basic salary, deﬁned as the employment cost to
the company, an annual performance-linked bonus and a longterm share-based incentive scheme. This will ensure that there
is the necessary balance between ﬁxed and performancerelated remuneration as well as elements linked to short-term
performance and those related to longer-term growth in
shareholder value.
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Guaranteed package: This is the total guaranteed annual
employment cost to the company associated with the
employment of an individual. It is structured on the basis of
an all-inclusive salary package. No separate medical aid and
pension fund contributions are paid. A cost of living increase
in the basic salary is considered by the remuneration and
nomination committee on an annual basis and implemented
from 1 January in the applicable year, if the ﬁnancial position of
the group allows for such an increase.
Factors that are taken into consideration in determining
the recommended annual increase include: the consumer
price index, mining inﬂation, retention strategies, industry
performance, projected growth, contractual arrangements and
affordability.
Short-term incentive: This is a short-term incentive plan
for which rewards are determined against the achievement
of a set of annual group and individual performance targets
determined by the remuneration and nomination committee
and approved by the board. These incentives are offered at the
appropriate level within the company and are paid in cash.
The choice of performance measures considers the impact of
factors outside the control of executives. Where necessary, the
short-term incentives are benchmarked against competitors
in terms of amounts actually earned as well as amounts
that could potentially be earned by meeting various target
thresholds.
The incentive architecture provides for:
• Company and individual performance related to a speciﬁc
time period;
• Meaningful performance measures;
• Annual revision by the remuneration and nomination
committee to ensure the continuing appropriateness of
performance measures, the weighting of measures and the
split between individual and group performance;
• Where appropriate, the inclusion of non-ﬁnancial measures;
and
• The weighting of performance measures to vary depending
on seniority, relevance and ability to inﬂuence the outcome.
Long-term incentive plan (LTIP): A long-term sharebased scheme, based on performance, was approved by
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on
5 December 2013. Amendments to this scheme were
approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 12 December 2019. The intention is to incentivise
executives and selected employees of the group and this
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scheme was applied in the current reporting period. The
award under the scheme is governed by the board and the
remuneration and nomination committee and was subject to
JSE and shareholders’ approval.
The remuneration levels are benchmarked against a
comparator group of South African small and mid-cap
JSE-listed entities, as well as junior mining and exploration
companies. The group makes use of the services of an
independent consultant to assist with the benchmarking
exercise.
In terms of the LTIP, executives and selected employees of the
group may be offered annually a weighted combination of:
• Allocations of share appreciation rights (akin to net-settled
share options);
• Awards of performance shares; and
• Grants of restricted shares.
Offers of these shares will be governed by and will reﬂect
Bauba’s reward strategy-pay mix, in which the expected
value of incentive rewards is set for deﬁned categories of
executives and senior management. The LTIP will provide for
the inclusion of a number of performance conditions, designed
to align the interests of participants with those of Bauba’s
shareholders and to reward group and individual performance,
looking beyond factors which could inﬂuence this such as the
performance of the economy or the mining sector in which the
group operates.
The performance share element makes provision for annual
conditional awards of performance shares to be made to
executives and selected employees. The performance shares
will vest on the third anniversary of their award, to the extent
that the group has met speciﬁed performance criteria, as
determined by the remuneration and nomination committee,
over the intervening period.
The share appreciation rights element is similar in architecture
to a share option plan, but with a number of variations to bring
it in line with best practice in the mining industry and within
the remuneration guidelines of King IV. Annual allocations
of share appreciation rights will be made to executives and
selected employees. They will be available to be settled in
equal thirds on the third, fourth and ﬁfth anniversaries but need
not be exercised until the seventh anniversary, at which time
they will need to be exercised, failing which, they will lapse.
On settlement, the value accruing to participants will be the
appreciation of Bauba’s share price.
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Remuneration implementation
report
In accordance with the directives set in the company’s
remuneration policy, the committee and the board have
performed their respective duties with regard to oversight
of all remuneration matters concerning the remuneration
of executive directors, and where applicable, made
recommendations to the board regarding remuneration
during the year under review. The remuneration policy was
implemented accordingly.
Remuneration of executive directors for the year
under review is set out in note 35 to the annual
ﬁnancial statements on page 121.
Refer to note 22 to the annual ﬁnancial statements on
page 109, which details performance shares granted.

Martin Luyt
Chairperson – Remuneration committee

Nico van der Hoven
Chairperson – Nomination committee
15 January 2021
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE REPORT
In line with the requirements of King IV, the board has appointed a social and
ethics committee to ensure the highest standards of business integrity in
accordance with the relevant legislation and global best practice.
The committee consisted of three non-executive directors:
King Thulare Thulare (chairperson), Nico van der Hoven
and Thabile Makgala. The committee met once during the
reporting period.
The role of the social and ethics committee is to:
• Ensure that the group’s code of ethics is upheld at all levels
of the organisation;
• Assist the board in ensuring that the group is and remains
a committed, socially responsible corporate citizen;
• Monitor, support, advise and provide guidance on the
effectiveness of management’s efforts in respect of
sustainable development and social and ethics-related
matters;
• To the best of its ability, ensure that contractors and
suppliers have policies and practices congruent with
the group’s own social and ethics policies;
• Review content in the integrated annual report that is
relevant to the social and ethics committee, prior to
review by the audit and risk committee; and
• Identify the social and ethics risks and opportunities
and provide assurance to the board that the necessary
mitigation measures are in place.

Impact of King IV
King IV recommends that the committee should uphold,
monitor and report on organisational ethics, responsible
corporate citizenship, sustainable development and
stakeholder-inclusivity beyond mere compliance.
The committee will reassess its composition to ensure that
the requisite skills and experience are present to fulﬁl the
requirement of the oversight of ethics management including
the social aspects of the remuneration policy.

Social responsibility
Community relations are integral to Bauba’s stakeholder
engagement plans and meaningful engagement with
community representatives and members includes deploying
community-based liaison ofﬁcers who provide information
regularly about the company and its activities.
Bauba invests in projects that beneﬁt the entire community
rather than individuals and believes in the importance of
providing sustainable social development projects related to
its mining and exploration activities as well as platforms for
open dialogue with host communities.

Highlights of Bauba’s contribution to the community
470 employees
(including core contractors) 363 (77%)
are from local communities

R10,520 million
Total CSI spend

Community
• Over 200 food parcels distributed
during lockdown
• Planting of indigenous trees,
assisting with control of dust and
noise levels
• Expansion of water provision
project

A sound grasp of community needs and concerns enables us to respond appropriately.
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Corporate citizenship
There is a growing call around the world to ensure that
local communities beneﬁt from the activities of the mining
companies they host. It is incumbent upon Bauba’s board and
management to ensure that, from the outset, the group has
a full appreciation of the potential impact its activities could
have on employees, local communities and the environment
within which it operates and that it understands the needs
and concerns of its many stakeholders, particularly to inform
decisions around socio-economic development opportunities.
Bauba has a social and ethics committee, a key role of which
is to assist the board in ensuring that the group is and remains
a socially responsible corporate citizen.

Transformation
The Bapedi Nation holds a 40% interest in Bauba A Hlabirwa,
the operator and legal holder of the Moeijelijk mining right and
the PGM prospecting rights. This means that Bauba meets
the BBBEE requirements of the MPRDA. The cash generation
from the Moeijelijk chrome operation will greatly assist the
Bapedi Nation.
As our BBBEE partners and a signiﬁcant shareholder in the
business, the intention is to involve the Bapedi Nation in the
day-to-day activities of the operations. Much is being done
to build the business skills of those representing the Bapedi
Nation at different levels within the organisation to enable them
to take an active role in the business. We have continued our
engagement sessions with the community to ensure that there
is a common understanding of the scope and potential of our
activities and to enhance awareness around the constraints
within which the group is operating and how we are dealing
with these challenges.

Workplace
Even as a small employer, Bauba is committed to employment
practices which are founded on the fundamental principles of
fairness and equity.
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Although most of the mining and exploration activities are
undertaken by contractors, as far as possible the group
encourages the use of local employees in positions which do
not require specialist skills.

Environment
All exploration sites are rehabilitated immediately after
completion of the drilling of the particular hole. The drilling
contractor is responsible for rehabilitating the site to standards
agreed with Bauba. Rehabilitation is done at the Moeijelijk
Mine site after all mineable chrome has been removed from
that section of the pit. These mined sections of the opencast
pit are then back-ﬁlled and shaped when the next section is
being mined. Responsible land stewardship is critical and is
carefully monitored by the group.
The group’s main environmental impacts are:
• The use of diesel to power earth moving equipment,
drill rigs and generate electricity on-site;
• The management of waste; and
• The disturbance of land by mining and drilling activities.

Social development
Bauba acknowledges the need to engage with communities
in which it operates from the earliest stages of the mining life
cycle and has sought to provide the platform for open dialogue
with these communities. A proper grasp of the community’s
needs and concerns will enable the group to respond to these,
relative to its operational activities, and where appropriate.

Nico van der Hoven
Social and ethics committee member
15 January 2021

It is the responsibility of the group to ensure a safe and
healthy working environment. A health and safety policy,
which is aligned to occupational health and mining legislation
requirements, outlines the group’s zero harm objectives.
Management requires companies undertaking work on
behalf of Bauba to comply with relevant health, safety and
environmental regulations.
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These audited annual financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2020, published on 15 January 2021, were prepared under
the supervision of Jonathan Knowlden CA(SA), the financial director,
and were audited in compliance with the Companies Act of South Africa.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT AND
APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The board is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated and separate annual ﬁnancial
statements of Bauba Resources Limited (Bauba or the
company or the group), comprising the statements of ﬁnancial
position as at 30 June 2020, the statements of proﬁt or loss
and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash ﬂows for the year ended 30 June 2020, and the notes to
the annual ﬁnancial statements, which include a summary of
signiﬁcant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and
the directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the
Companies Act of South Africa.

Approval of the annual financial
statements
The consolidated and separate annual ﬁnancial statements of
Bauba Resources Limited, as identiﬁed in the ﬁrst paragraph,
were approved by the board and are signed on its behalf by:

Nico van der Hoven
Chairperson

The annual ﬁnancial statements were prepared under the
supervision of Jonathan Knowlden CA(SA), the ﬁnancial director,
and audited by BDO South Africa Incorporated in compliance
with section 30(2)(a) of the Companies Act.
The board is also responsible for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
ﬁnancial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate
accounting records and an effective system of risk
management.
The directors have reviewed the group’s cash ﬂow forecast for
the next 12 months and, in light of this review and the current
ﬁnancial position, they are satisﬁed that the group has access
to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future.

Nick van der Hoven
Chief executive ofﬁcer

Jonathan Knowlden
Financial director
15 January 2021

The external auditor is engaged to express an independent
opinion on the annual ﬁnancial statements.

CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY
In our capacity as company secretary, we hereby conﬁrm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, that for
the year ended 30 June 2020, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns
as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa and that all such returns are true, correct and up
to date.

Merchantec Proprietary Limited
Company secretary
15 January 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the
2020 ﬁnancial year.

Nature of the business
Bauba is a junior mining company focusing on the mining of
chrome ore and the exploration of platinum group metals (PGMs).
The group holds a 30-year chrome mining right that was
notarially executed on 13 July 2016 over the farm Moeijelijk
412KS. This chrome mine has a developed opencast operation.
The group holds new order prospecting rights over nine farms
which make up the Bauba PGM exploration assets. The new
order prospecting rights were successfully renewed to
17 July 2015. Applications for retention permits under section
31(1) of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development
Act (Act 28 of 2002) (MPRDA) for the group’s prospecting
rights were submitted on 13 July 2015. The granting (if so) of
such retention permits would in essence suspend any further
obligatory expenditure and work on these platinum assets for
a period of three years from the date of grant of such retention
permits. As an alternative, the group has also applied for a
mining right over the same areas, which is currently being
processed by the DMRE.
On 17 February 2016, the aforesaid retention permits received a
positive recommendation from the chief mine economist of the
DMRE, Limpopo region. The retention rights have not yet been
granted and we eagerly await feedback from the DMRE.
On 19 July 2019, Bauba entered into a Sale of Shares and
Claims Agreement with Ms DC Butler to acquire her shares
in Nuco Chrome Bophuthatswana Proprietary Limited for
an aggregate purchase consideration of R60 million. This
represents an acquisition of 74% of the issued share capital
of the company. Bauba has initially obtained 22% of the
issued share capital for a cash consideration of R10 million.
The transaction remains subject to section 11 approval from
the DMRE.

The COVID-19 pandemic
Our operating environment in 2020 was dominated by the
COVID-19 pandemic. The unfolding, global pandemic is a
human crisis of historic scale and complexity. It is straining
global markets and economies and the ability of many
organisations to cope with the changes wrought by the virus
and the related lockdowns. COVID-19 issues experienced
included extremely weak pricing, extremely high operating
costs during the lockdown with limited production and no
underground mining, delayed underground development
and ﬁnancing.
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Safety
Bauba experienced three lost-time incidents (2019: two) during
the current ﬁnancial year. It is with regret that we report a fatal
accident that occurred on 7 March 2020. Mr Garry Selepe,
an employee of our contractor, employed as a dump truck
operator, lost his life in a transport-related accident. The board
and management of Bauba extend their deepest condolences
to Garry’s family, colleagues and friends.

Financial and operational results
Unlike many other mining companies, COVID-19 has had a
particularly disruptive impact on Bauba’s operations due to
the timing of the pandemic. Our opencast was depleted in
December 2019 with underground development being
ramped up to planned 30 000 tonnes per month production in
June 2020 which would timeously replace the loss of opencast.
Our opencast chrome ore tonnes, the majority of which were
produced in December 2019, were sold in a weak and nervous
Chinese chrome market at the beginning of 2020 that was
plagued with COVID-19 uncertainty. The COVID-19 lockdown
signiﬁcantly delayed the development of our underground
operations with high lockdown and start-up costs and a
delayed restart due to a change in the underground mining
contractor. During lockdown, low chrome ore pricing did not
justify running the underground operation at 50% capacity due
to signiﬁcantly higher mining costs. Various advanced funding
discussions pre-COVID-19 with lenders were also materially
delayed further impacting the development of our Moeijelijk
underground mine.
Chrome ore CIF prices for benchmark 42% concentrate as
reported by FerroAlloyNet averaged US$129 per tonne for
January 2020 to March 2020 before lockdown disrupted
our operations, the third lowest quarter of pricing since
January 2011. To emphasise how low this quarter of pricing
was, H1 2020 prices averaged US$145 per tonne, full year
2019 averaged US$167 per tonne and the average CIF price
since January 2011 was US$188 per tonne.
Capital expenditure incurred in respect of mine infrastructure
and equipment for Moeijelijk Chrome Mine totalled
R44,289 million (2019: R61,942 million). This capital
expenditure was less than the prior year due to the impact of
the COVID-19 lockdown. Moeijelijk’s opencast was depleted
at the start of December 2020 with only 65 707 tonnes of
opencast mined during the year. Total run-of-mine (RoM)
production for the 2020 ﬁnancial year was 290 695 tonnes
versus 332 882 tonnes in the prior year, considering that there
was no mining from the start of March 2020 to the end of
June 2020. 218 214 tonnes of RoM and concentrates were
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued

sold during the year compared to 202 002 tonnes in the prior
year. A higher proportion of premium speciality concentrates
was also produced and sold in the current year versus the prior
year. Unfortunately, the drop in market prices far outweighed
the increase in saleable production and premium speciality
grade concentrates resulting in revenue declining 14% from
R302,122 million in the prior year to R260,394 million.
The annual ﬁnancial statements set out the ﬁnancial
results of the group and company on pages 86 to 121.
These annual ﬁnancial statements have been prepared using
appropriate accounting policies, conforming to IFRS, supported
by reasonable and prudent judgements where required.

Outlook
Currently Bauba’s underground development and ramp up
is progressing positively with over 25 000 tonnes of material
hauled in the months of September and October 2020, and
31 500 tonnes hauled in November 2020. A steep ramp up
is expected to reach full stable production in February 2021.
Chrome ore pricing is, however, still weak with this weakness
expected to linger due to reduced global demand for
stainless steel from developed markets that are now currently
experiencing a second wave or have never properly dealt with
COVID-19 from the outset.
The market price for 42% chrome concentrate has dropped
from US$160 (China CIF) at ﬁnancial year-end to the current
market price of US$135 (China CIF) in mid-November 2020,
while the US dollar/ZAR exchange rate has strengthened
from 17,36 at the end of the ﬁnancial year to 15,40. If the
chrome price drops below this level for an extended period,
or if the US dollar/ZAR exchange rate strengthens further, it
could cause a material uncertainty for the group to meet its
obligations as they fall due and its ability to continue as a
going concern.
Global market uncertainties, driven by COVID-19 and now a
rising global second wave of infections and renewed lockdowns
in Western Europe, have lowered global demand for stainless
steel and, in turn, demand for chrome ore. The proposed
chrome ore export tax in South Africa to support the local
ferrochrome industry has also created further uncertainty. These
issues will continue to have a negative impact on short-term
chrome ore pricing. This, together with higher local supply chain
costs, will keep Bauba’s chrome ore revenue generated per
tonne subdued. Bauba is, however, optimistic that its future
proﬁt margins will be cushioned by the continued sales of
premium speciality chrome ore concentrates and that long-term
pricing will improve to above the industry’s cost of production.
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Going concern
The group has net current assets of R28,150 million
(2019: R73,271 million) and shareholder’s equity of
R278,371 million (2019: R321,019 million). The cash ﬂow
forecast prepared by Bauba management, based on current
available information, indicates that the group will have funds
available to ﬁnance future operations and that the realisation of
assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
As is common with many junior exploration and mining
companies, the group raises capital for exploration and other
projects as and when required. There can be no assurance
that the group’s projects will be fully developed in accordance
with current plans or completed on time or to budget. Future
work on the development of these projects may be adversely
affected by factors outside the control of the group as the
group’s operating results are subject to changes in the
average chrome price and US dollar exchange rate.
The directors have, subject to the aforesaid caveats, a
reasonable expectation that the group will have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for at least the
next 12 months from the reporting date.

Stated capital
The authorised share capital of the company is 750 million
shares of which 379 020 249 were in issue as at 30 June 2020.
(Refer to note 20 to the annual ﬁnancial statements.)
During the year under review the company issued no
additional shares.

Borrowing powers
In terms of article 79 of the memorandum of incorporation
of Bauba, the company has unlimited borrowing powers
vested in the directors. Refer to notes 25 and 26 to the annual
ﬁnancial statements for detail of the group’s borrowing. The
group currently does not have an overdraft facility.

Litigation
The group is involved in three litigious matters that meet the
deﬁnition of a contingent asset or liability. The details are:
• A dispute over rental claims with the surface rights owner of
Moeijelijk;
• Bauba ﬁled an appeal against the DMR’s decision to grant
Lethabo Exploration Proprietary Limited a mining right in
respect of certain minerals on the farm Waterkop 113KT,
although Bauba held a prospecting right and had
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• submitted a retention application in respect of the
prospecting right; and
• Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited
(Absolute) ﬁled a review application against the DMR’s
decision to grant Samancor Chrome Limited (Samancor) a
mining right for chrome ore on the farm Zeekoegat 421KS
and against the DMR’s decision to refuse Absolute’s
application for a prospecting right. The review was upheld
and Samancor appealed that decision. Their appeal
was upheld and Absolute is subsequently appealing the
decision in the Constitutional Court.
The company has taken senior counsel advice on these
matters and was informed that the company has a strong
case in all instances. The potential ﬁnancial effect of the
outcomes is uncertain in light of the outcome being subject
to the judicial process.
The directors are not aware of any legal proceedings or
material conditions that may impact the company’s ability
to continue mining or exploration activities.

Events after the reporting date
Refer to note 34 to the annual ﬁnancial statements for detail of
subsequent events.
The directors are not aware of any other signiﬁcant matter or
circumstance arising since the end of the ﬁnancial year, not
otherwise dealt with in this report or the annual ﬁnancial
statements, which signiﬁcantly affect the ﬁnancial position of the
group or the results of its operations to the date of this report.
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Resolutions
All ordinary and special resolutions were passed at the annual
general meeting (AGM) held on 12 December 2019. The
special resolutions that were passed are as follows:

Special resolution number 1: Non-executive
directors’ remuneration
“Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of sections 66(9) of
the Companies Act, the annual remuneration payable to the
non-executive directors for their services as directors of the
company for the ﬁnancial year ending 30 June 2020, be and is
hereby approved on the basis as set out below:
Proposed daily non-executive directors’ fee of R35 000 for the
year ended 30 June 2020.”

Special resolution number 2: General authority
to repurchase securities
“Resolved that, subject to compliance with the JSE Listings
Requirements, sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, and
the company’s memorandum of incorporation, the company
and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to time be and are
hereby authorised, at their discretion, to acquire or repurchase
ordinary shares issued by the company, provided that:
• The number of ordinary shares acquired by the company in
any one ﬁnancial year will not exceed 20% (twenty percent)
of the ordinary shares in issue as at the beginning of the
ﬁnancial year;

Directorate

• The repurchase of securities will be effected through the
order book operated by the JSE trading system and done
without any prior understanding or arrangement between
the company and the counterparty (reported trades are
prohibited);

During the reporting period, Mr Sholto Dolamo resigned
as a non-executive director and King Victor Thulare III tragically
passes away. There were no other changes to the board.

• This general authority shall be valid only until the next
annual general meeting or for 15 (ﬁfteen) months from the
date of this resolution, whichever period is shorter;

Directors’ remuneration and
shareholding
Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 35 to the annual ﬁnancial statements and details of
directors’ shareholdings are set out under shareholders’
page 123.
information on

Directors’ interests in contracts
During the period under review the group did not enter into any
other contracts in which directors have an interest.

Bauba IAR Fins 2020 P9.indd 75

• At any point in time, a company may only appoint one
agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the company’s behalf;
• In determining the price at which the company’s ordinary
shares are acquired in terms of this general authority, the
maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may
be acquired will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted
average of the market value at which such ordinary shares
are traded on the JSE, as determined over the 5 (ﬁve)
business days immediately preceding the date on which the
transaction is effected;
• Any such general repurchase will be subject to the
applicable provisions of the Companies Act (including
sections 114 and 115 to the extent that section 48(8) is
applicable in relation to that particular repurchase);
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• The number of shares purchased and held by a subsidiary
or subsidiaries of the company shall not exceed 10% (ten
percent) in aggregate of the number of issued shares in the
company at the relevant times;
• The company may only effect the repurchase once a
resolution has been passed by the board conﬁrming that
the board has authorised the repurchase, that the company
has passed the solvency and liquidity test (test) and that
since the test was done there have been no material
changes to the ﬁnancial position of the group;
• The solvency and liquidity test (test) and that since the
test was done there have been no material changes to the
ﬁnancial position of the group;
• The company or its subsidiaries may not acquire
ordinary shares during a prohibited period as deﬁned in
paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements unless
they have in place a repurchase programme where the
dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the
relevant period are ﬁxed (not subject to any variation) and
have been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the
commencement of the prohibited period;
• Any such general repurchases are subject to exchange
control regulations and approval at that point in time; and
• An announcement in accordance with 11.27 of the JSE
Listings Requirements will be released on SENS once the
company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent)
of the number of the ordinary shares in issue at the time
this general authority is granted (initial number), and for
each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number
acquired thereafter.”

Special resolution number 3: Financial
assistance for subscription of securities
“Resolved that, in terms of section 44 of the Companies
Act, the shareholders of the company hereby approve of the
company providing, at any time and from time to time during
the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this
special resolution number 3, ﬁnancial assistance by way of
a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise,
as contemplated in section 44 of the Companies Act, to
any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the
subscription for any option, or any securities, issued or to be
issued by the company or a related or interrelated company, or
for the purchase of any securities of the company or a related
or interrelated company, provided that:
• The board, from time to time, determines (i) the speciﬁc
recipient, or general category of potential recipients of such
ﬁnancial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such
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ﬁnancial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under
which such ﬁnancial assistance is provided; and
• The board may not authorise the company to provide any
ﬁnancial assistance pursuant to this special resolution
number 3 unless the board meets all those requirements
of section 44 of the Companies Act which it is required to
meet in order to authorise the company to provide such
ﬁnancial assistance.”

Special resolution number 4: Financial
assistance to directors and/or related or
interrelated entities
“Resolved that shareholders hereby approve, in terms of
section 45 of the Companies Act, of the provision by Bauba
of direct or indirect ﬁnancial assistance to any of its present or
future subsidiaries.
Special resolution 4 is hereby approved provided that no such
ﬁnancial assistance may be provided at any time in terms of
this authority after the expiry of 2 (two) years from the date of
the adoption of the special resolution and provided that:
• The recipient(s) of such ﬁnancial assistance, the form,
nature and extent of such ﬁnancial assistance, and the
terms and conditions under which such ﬁnancial assistance
is provided, are determined by the board from time to time;
• The board may not authorise Bauba to provide any ﬁnancial
assistance pursuant to this special resolution unless the
board meets all the requirements set out in section 45 of
the Companies Act, which it is required to meet in order to
authorise Bauba to provide such ﬁnancial assistance; and
• Such ﬁnancial assistance to a recipient thereof is, in the
opinion of the board, required for the purpose of meeting
all or any of such recipient’s operating expenses (including
capital expenditure), and/or funding the growth, expansion,
reorganisation or restructuring of the businesses or
operations of such recipient, and/or funding such recipient
for any other purpose which, in the opinion of the board, is
directly or indirectly in the interests of Bauba.”

Company secretary
Merchantec Proprietary Limited
13th Floor, Illovo Point, 68 Melville Road, Illovo
Sandton, Johannesburg, 2196
PO Box 41480, Craighall, 2024
The functions of the company secretary are outsourced to an
independent supplier, Merchantec Proprietary Limited. The
multi-disciplinary team of professionals includes company
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secretaries, lawyers and ﬁnancial and business administrators.
Merchantec Proprietary Limited has extensive experience
and a strong track record in the listed environment. In having
assessed the performance of the company secretary, the
board can conﬁrm that it is satisﬁed that the company
secretary is competent, objective, independent and maintains
an arm’s length relationship with the company.
The role and functions of the company secretary include:
• Providing the directors, collectively and individually, with
detailed guidance on their duties, responsibilities and
powers;
• Providing information on laws, legislation, regulations and
matters of ethics and good corporate governance relevant
to the company;
• Reporting to the company’s board any failure on the part of
the company or a director of the company to comply with
the memorandum of incorporation or the Companies Act;
• Properly recording the minutes of all shareholder meetings;
• Properly recording the minutes of all board and subcommittee meetings; and
• Certifying in the company’s annual ﬁnancial statements
whether the company has ﬁled required returns and notices
in terms of the Companies Act, and whether all such returns
and notices appear to be true, correct and up to date.

Registered oﬃce
Bauba Resources Limited
Cube Workspace, 1 Wedgewood Link
Bryanston, Johannesburg, 2191
PO Box 1658, Witkoppen, 2068
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The audit and risk committee is constituted as a statutory
committee of Bauba Resources Limited to fulﬁl its
responsibilities to shareholders in terms of the Companies Act
of South Africa, to ensure compliance with the provisions of
King IV, and in respect of all other duties that may be assigned
to it by the board. The committee has complied with its legal
and statutory duties for the 2020 ﬁnancial year.

the tone for organisations to realise that risk management
should cover both the negative and positive potential
governance outcomes. The board is responsible for setting
the risk tolerance levels relevant to the organisational strategy
and objectives.
King IV expands on the King III combined assurance model to:
• Include “ﬁve lines of assurance”;

Committee composition
The committee comprises three independent non-executive
board members, of which one is the chairperson. The
chairperson of the committee is Martin Luyt, a chartered
accountant by profession. He is supported by Damian Smith
and Thabile Makgala as members. The chairperson of the
board is a standing invitee, but has no voting rights.

Meetings
Four audit and risk committee meetings were held during
the year.

Terms of reference
The committee has adopted formal terms of reference set
out in a charter and approved by the board. These terms of
reference are reviewed on an annual basis and updated where
necessary. During the past year, the committee has executed
its duties according to the terms of reference.

Impact of King IV
King IV recommends disclosing the date of the ﬁrst
appointment of the external auditor on 25 June 2011
and the date of the appointment of the predecessor ﬁrm,
2 October 2006. King IV recommends that the audit and
risk committee be responsible for the auditor independence
oversight as recommended by the Independent Regulatory
Board for Auditors and provides factors that may inﬂuence the
independence of the auditor. The committee has to apply the
independence test of the external auditor annually to ensure
that reporting is reliable, transparent and a fair representation
for the use of stakeholders. The committee has satisﬁed itself
of the auditor’s independence.
Audit quality is enhanced by reporting on signiﬁcant audit
matters arising from the audit and how the matters were
addressed.
King IV introduces the term “risk and opportunity governance”.
The board is stretched to utilise integrated thinking to
exercise caution not to take excessive risks that may lead to
organisational failure. Risk and opportunity governance sets
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• Incorporate all assurance providers;
• Enable an effective control environment; and
• Strengthen decision-making.
Horizontal assurance includes internal audit, risk and
compliance while vertical assurance includes line managers,
frameworks, policies, procedures and system controls.

Duties performed
The committee is acutely aware of its statutory and other
responsibilities, the most signiﬁcant of which executed are
listed below:
• Recommend the reappointment of BDO South Africa
Incorporated (BDO) as external auditor, having determined
that they have the necessary expertise, are independent of
the group and are approved by the JSE. The committee had
requested from the external auditor, the information detailed
in paragraph 22.15(h) in performing our assessment of the
suitability for reappointment of the external auditor;
• Approved the terms of engagement of the external auditor
and the fee to be paid;
• Reviewed the annual ﬁnancial statements, the integrated
annual report as well as the interim report before
recommending them to the board for approval;
• Reviewed compliance with applicable legislative
requirements of the appropriate regulatory authorities;
• Reviewed the solvency and liquidity of the group;
• Reviewed all trading statements before recommending
them to the board for approval;
• Reviewed the group’s internal control systems;
• Received regular reports on litigation and tax matters;
• Recommended the continued suspension of the
outsourced internal audit function due to the structure of
the group and scope of the external audit;
• Assessed the various components of combined assurance,
and is satisﬁed that there is adequate coverage;
• Ensured that the external auditor conducted such
procedures to mitigate the risk associated with the
suspension of the internal audit function and ensuring the
safeguarding of assets;
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• Monitored the whistle-blowing reports – there were no
reportable irregularities noted by the committee or BDO;
• In meetings held separately with BDO, without the
executive management present, no matters of concern
were raised; and
• Ensured that there are established ﬁnancial reporting
procedures that are operating appropriately.

Risk management
The board has assigned oversight of the group’s risk
management to the committee. A risk register, which lists the
material risks to which the business is exposed, as well as
mitigation strategies, is discussed and if need be, updated at
audit and risk committee meetings. The report is presented
at board meetings.
The committee satisﬁed itself that the processes and
procedures followed in terms of identifying, managing and
reporting on risk are adequate and that the following areas,
among other strategic and operational risks, have been
appropriately addressed:
• Cash ﬂow risk;
• Legal compliance risk;
• Financial reporting risks;
• Internal ﬁnancial controls;
• Local communities on and around the mining/prospecting
areas;
• Legal tenure of the mining/prospecting rights;
• Fraud risks relating to ﬁnancial reporting; and
• IT risks related to ﬁnancial reporting.

Internal audit and internal
financial controls
Due to ﬁnancial constraints the group experienced during the
previous ﬁnancial years, the services of the internal auditor
were suspended and the scope of the external auditor was
amended in order to alleviate the risk associated with the
suspension of the internal audit services. The board will assess
whether to reinstate the outsourced internal audit services in
the near future.
Based on the assurance from management, the external audit
and the observance of the committee of the cash ﬂow and
expenditure status of the group, the committee is satisﬁed
that there was no breakdown of internal controls for the
reporting period.
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IT governance
The audit and risk committee is required by King IV to
provide assurance to the board on information technology
(IT) governance. The group has developed an IT policy which
incorporates the relevant requirements to safeguard the
group’s assets, in particular intellectual property. The policy
was reviewed at committee meetings. An ongoing review
process ensures that the group’s intellectual property is
properly safeguarded and that the external service provider
has satisfactory controls in place as per their service level
agreement.

Regulatory compliance
The committee is satisﬁed that the group has fully complied
with the provisions as set out in its memorandum of
incorporation (MOI), the Companies Act, JSE Listings
Requirements and all relevant legal and regulatory laws.
The group has legal compliance framework and processes
in place to detect non-compliance.

Financial director review
As required by paragraph 3.84(g)(i) of the JSE Listings
Requirements, the audit and risk committee has satisﬁed itself
that the ﬁnancial director has the appropriate experience and
expertise to ﬁll that position.

Integrated annual report
The audit and risk committee reviewed the annual ﬁnancial
statements for Bauba Resources Limited for the year ended
30 June 2020 and considers that they comply, in all material
respects, with the statutory requirements of the various
acts and standards governing reporting and disclosure.
The committee reviewed the integrated annual report and
recommended the report to the board and shareholders for
approval.
On behalf of the audit and risk committee

Martin Luyt
Audit and risk committee chairperson
15 January 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Bauba Resources Limited

Report on the Audit of the
Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate ﬁnancial
statements of Bauba Resources Limited and its subsidiaries
pages 86 to 121, which comprise
(“the group”) set out on
the consolidated and separate statements of ﬁnancial position
as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated and separate
statements of proﬁt or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated and separate statements of changes in
equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash
ﬂows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
and separate ﬁnancial statements, including a summary of
signiﬁcant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate ﬁnancial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated and separate ﬁnancial position of Bauba
Resources Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020,
and its consolidated and separate ﬁnancial performance and
consolidated and separate cash ﬂows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
group and company in accordance with the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct
for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits of ﬁnancial
statements in South Africa. We have fulﬁlled our other ethical
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responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent
with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards). We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufﬁcient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related
to going concern
We draw attention to note 33 in the audited consolidated and
separate ﬁnancial statements, which indicates that due to
the current subdued market conditions such as low chrome
ore prices and the strengthening of the South African Rand
to the United States Dollar exchange rate which, should
they continue for an extended period of time, could cause a
material uncertainty for the group to meet its obligations as
they become due. Thus, these events or conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 33, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast signiﬁcant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modiﬁed in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most signiﬁcance in our audit of the
consolidated and separate ﬁnancial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated and separate ﬁnancial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the Material Uncertainty relating to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Consolidated Financial Statements
Assessment for impairment of mineral rights
As disclosed in note 11 to the ﬁnancial statements, the
group has Intangible Mineral Rights with a carrying value of
R142 million as at 30 June 2020 (2019: R145 million).
The group have capitalised exploration and evaluation costs
which was incurred in prior periods to obtain mineral rights
over the Chrome and Platinum mineral rights.
In the current year, management identiﬁed indicators of
impairment as a result of the decrease in market conditions.
This resulted in an assessment for impairment of mineral
rights in terms of IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
The assessment for impairment of the mineral rights was
considered through the Life-of-Mine valuation calculation
which requires signiﬁcant judgements due to the inherent
complexity in estimating the quantum and timing of the
recoverability of the assets in future.
The impairment assessment of the mineral rights was
considered a key audit matter due to the signiﬁcance of the
balance and wide scope in matters regarding the possible
impairment.

In considering the appropriateness of management’s judgements
and estimates used in the testing of mineral rights for assessment
of impairment, we performed the following audit procedures:
• We obtained an understanding of the of key controls around
the assessment of mineral rights for impairment;
• We assessed the appropriateness of capitalisation of costs in
terms of IFRS 6; and
• We reviewed the work of management’s experts and compared
to methods and assumptions used by the expert to those used
in the preceding period in order to ensure consistency.
In considering the appropriateness of management’s estimates
and judgement used in the life-of-mine models, we performed the
following audit procedures:
• We identiﬁed the key assumptions in the models;
• We obtained from management available evidence that
supported their key assumptions and assessed the
reasonability/appropriateness of these assumptions;
• We performed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions;
• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the model; and
• We considered the reasonableness of the revenue and
costs forecasted against current year actuals as well as
management’s forecast accuracy.
Our internal valuation experts assisted us by assessing the
reasonability of the assumptions used and independently
calculating the value in use of the mineral rights and related
impairment assessment of the intangibles.
As part of our audit, we also focused on the appropriateness and
completeness of the group’s disclosures (refer note 11), that is
required in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Consolidated Financial Statements: Impairment indicator and useful life assessment of the mine infrastructure
As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements, the group has Mine Infrastructure and
Equipment with a carrying value of R173 million (2019:
R138 million).
Management is required to assess useful lives and to
consider indicators of impairment, relating to the Mine
Infrastructure and Equipment on an annual basis (refer
accounting policy note 3.3).
Management utilises the life-of-mine valuation model as
the basis of their useful life determination and impairment
indicator consideration of the Mine Infrastructure and
Equipment. The life-of-mine valuation calculation involves a
high level of judgement and estimates in determining the life
span of the resource.
As a result, the life-of-mine valuation assessment used in the
determination of the useful life and impairment indicator of
the mine infrastructure and equipment is considered a key
audit matter.

In considering the appropriateness of management’s estimates
and judgement used in the life-of-mine valuation models, we
performed amongst others, the following audit procedures:
• We obtained an understanding of the of key controls around
the assessment of useful life of the mine infrastructure assets;
• We assessed management’s useful lives assessment for
consistency with expectations, prior periods and the group’s
accounting policy;
• We recalculated the depreciation charge for the year and
compared the actual charge to expectations;
• We evaluated management’s assumptions for the Mine
Infrastructure and Equipment against life-of-mine calculation
and our understanding of the operations, and critically
challenged the key estimates and assumptions used by
management; and
• We reviewed the work of management’s experts and compared
to methods and assumptions used by the expert to those used
in the preceding period in order to ensure consistency.
In considering the appropriateness of management’s estimates
and judgement used in the life-of-mine models, we performed the
following audit procedures:
• We identiﬁed the key assumptions in the models;
• We obtained from management available evidence that
supported their key assumptions and assessed the
reasonability/appropriateness of these assumptions;
• We performed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions;
• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the model; and
• We considered the reasonableness of the revenue and
costs forecasted against current year actuals as well as
management’s forecast accuracy.
Our internal valuation experts assisted us by assessing the
reasonability of the assumptions used and independently
calculating the value in use of the mineral rights and related
impairment assessment of the intangibles.
As part of our audit, we also focused on the appropriateness and
completeness of the group’s disclosures (refer note 12), that is
required in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Separate Financial Statements: Impairment testing of investments in subsidiaries
As disclosed in note 14 to the ﬁnancial statements the
Company has investments in subsidiaries with a
carrying value of R203 million as at 30 June 2020
(2019: R203 million) which arose due to the investments
made in these subsidiary companies.
Management indicated that due to the decrease in market
conditions that there are impairment indicators in the
carrying value of the investment in the subsidiary We have
determined this is a key audit matter due to the judgement
required by management in preparing the valuation models
to satisfy the impairment tests of these material investments.
These models are required to calculate an estimated
fair market value for these investments in subsidiaries
which includes forecasting future cash ﬂows and applying
appropriate discount rates, which inherently involves a high
degree of estimation and judgement by management

In considering the appropriateness of management’s estimates
and judgement used in the valuation models, we performed
amongst others, the following audit procedures:
• We obtained an understanding of the of key controls around
the assessment of mineral rights for impairment;
• We identiﬁed the key inputs and managements assumptions in
the model;
• We evaluated the model applied are in terms of International
Financial Reporting Standards.
• We obtained from management evidence that supported
the key assumptions and where relevant obtained alternative
sources of evidence;
• We performed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions;
• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the model; and
• We considered the reasonableness of the revenue and costs
forecasted against current year actual performance.
Our internal valuation experts assisted us by assessing the
reasonability of the assumptions used and independently calculating
the estimated fair market value of the subsidiary companies.
As part of our audit, we also focused on the appropriateness and
completeness of the Group’s disclosures (refer note 14), that is
required in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
document titled “Bauba Resources Limited Integrated Report
30 June 2020”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit
Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certiﬁcate
as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other
information does not include the consolidated or the separate
ﬁnancial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated ﬁnancial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors
for the Consolidated Financial
Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated ﬁnancial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated ﬁnancial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to inﬂuence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
ﬁnancial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufﬁcient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s
internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
signiﬁcant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
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report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufﬁcient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
ﬁnancial information of the entities or business activities
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
signiﬁcant audit ﬁndings, including any signiﬁcant deﬁciencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on Other Legal and
Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that BDO
South Africa Incorporated has been the auditor of Bauba
Resources Limited for nine years.

BDO South Africa Incorporated
Registered Auditors
Jacques Barradas
Director
Registered Auditor
15 January 2021
Wanderers Ofﬁce Park
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo, 2196

We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most signiﬁcance in
the audit of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest beneﬁts of such
communication.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2020

GROUP

Note
Revenue

4

2020
R’000

COMPANY
2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000
14 876

260 394

302 122

13 611

Cost of sales

(249 325)

(190 475)

–

–

Gross proﬁt

11 069

111 647

13 611

14 876

–

71

–

–

(69 390)

(67 834)

(23 307)

(24 115)

885

3 939

1 183

4 518

(2 005)

(74)

–

–

Other income
Operating and administrative expenses

5

Finance income
Finance cost
Share of loss of associate accounted for using the equity
method
(Loss)/proﬁt before tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

6

(Loss)/proﬁt for the year
Other comprehensive income

(54)

–

(54)

–

(59 495)

47 749

(8 567)

(4 721)

14 219

(14 718)

–

–

(45 276)

33 031

(8 567)

(4 721)

–

–

–

–

(45 276)

33 031

(8 567)

(4 721)

Equity holders of the parent

(30 592)

17 930

Non-controlling interest

(14 684)

15 101

Equity holders of the parent

(30 592)

17 930

Non-controlling interest

(14 684)

15 101

Total comprehensive (loss)/proﬁt for the year
(Loss)/proﬁt attributable to:

Total comprehensive (loss)/proﬁt attributable to:

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

8

(8,07)

4,73

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

8

(8,07)

4,71
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2020

GROUP

Note

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Assets
Non-current assets

332 405

285 144

328 796

322 251

Intangible assets

11

141 838

145 315

115 677

119 052

Property, plant and equipment

12

180 621

139 829

160

186

Investment in associate

13

9 946

–

9 946

–

Investments in subsidiaries

14

–

–

203 013

203 013

128 099

130 754

38 804

43 008
23 362

Current assets
Loan to subsidiary

16

–

–

–

Inventory

17

64 985

87 033

–

–

Trade and other receivables

18

14 600

10 899

612

550

Cash and cash equivalents

19

48 514

32 822

38 192

19 096

460 504

415 898

367 600

365 259

Total assets

Equity and liabilities
Equity

278 371

321 019

343 190

349 129

Stated capital

20

512 500

512 500

512 500

512 500

Reverse asset acquisition reserve

21

(282 988)

(282 988)

–

–

Share-based payment reserve

22

6 973

4 345

6 973

4 345

(13 454)

17 138

(176 283)

(167 716)

55 340

70 024

–

–

82 184

37 396

–

–

23

5 794

6 650

–

–

Deferred tax

7

16 527

30 746

–

–

Borrowings

25

46 578

–

–

–

Loan from shareholder

26

10 000

–

–

–

Lease liability

27

3 285

–

–

–

99 949

57 483

24 410

16 130

Retained (loss)/earnings
Non-controlling interest

15

Non-current liabilities
Environmental rehabilitation provision

Current liabilities
Loans from subsidiary

16

–

–

21 183

–

Trade and other payables

28

54 354

32 610

2 897

2 660

Prepayment

24

–

13 364

–

13 364

Borrowings

25

24 059

–

–

–
–

Loan from shareholder

26

194

–

–

Lease liability

27

1 790

–

–

–

Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

17 911

7 449

330

106

1 641

4 060

–

–

460 504

415 898

367 600

365 259

Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 30 June 2020

GROUP

Note
Cash inﬂow from operating activities before tax paid

10

2020
R’000

COMPANY
2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000
(1 234)

8 922

7 297

(3 188)

Tax paid

(2 419)

(2 670)

–

–

Net cash effects from operating activities

6 503

4 627

(3 188)

(1 234)

Net cash effects from investing activities

(54 788)

(55 246)

35 648

(12 010)

Movement in loan to subsidiary

16

–

–

44 545

(16 399)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

12

(45 673)

(59 185)

(80)

(129)

Acquisition of investment in associate

13

(10 000)

–

(10 000)

–

885

3 939

1 183

4 518

63 977

13 364

(13 364)

13 364

Finance income
Net cash effects from ﬁnancing activities
Proceeds from prepayment

24

–

73 500

–

73 500

Repayment of prepayment

24

(13 364)

(60 136)

(13 364)

(60 136)

Proceeds from borrowing

25

68 853

–

–

–

Advance of loan from shareholder

26

10 000

–

–

–

Principle paid on lease liabilities

27

(910)

–

–

–

Finance cost paid – lease liabilities

(375)

–

–

–

Finance cost paid – loan from shareholder

(227)

–

–

–

15 692

(37 255)

19 096

120

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Total cash movement for the year
19

32 822

70 077

19 096

18 976

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

19

48 514

32 822

38 192

19 096
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Stated
capital
R’000

Reverse
asset
acquisition
reserve
R’000

Sharebased
payment
reserve
R’000

Retained
(loss)/
earnings
R’000

Noncontrolling
interest
R’000

Total
equity
R’000

GROUP
Balance as at 1 July 2018

512 500

(282 988)

1 294

(792)

54 923

284 937

Share-based payment reserve
movement

–

–

3 051

–

–

3 051

Total comprehensive proﬁt
for the year

–

–

–

17 930

15 101

33 031

Balance as at 30 June 2019

512 500

(282 988)

4 345

17 138

70 024

321 019

Share-based payment reserve
movement

–

–

2 628

–

–

2 628

Total comprehensive loss
for the year
Balance as at 30 June 2020
Note

–

–

–

(30 592)

(14 684)

(45 276)

512 500

(282 988)

6 973

(13 454)

55 340

278 371

20

21

22

15

COMPANY
Balance as at 1 July 2018

512 500

–

1 294

(162 995)

–

350 799

Share-based payment reserve
movement

–

–

3 051

–

–

3 051

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

–

–

–

(4 721)

–

(4 721)

Balance as at 30 June 2019

512 500

–

4 345

(167 716)

–

349 129

Share-based payment reserve
movement

–

–

2 628

–

–

2 628

–

–

–

(8 567)

–

(8 567)

512 500

–

6 973

(176 283)

–

343 190

Total comprehensive loss
for the year
Balance as at 30 June 2020
Note
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OPERATING SEGMENT REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Operating segments

The reportable segments are accounted for in line with the
accounting policies described in note 3.13 with transactions
between segments described in note 3.9.

In the opinion of the group’s chief executive ofﬁcer, the
operations of the group comprise three reporting segments,
being:

Information regarding the actual expenses of each reportable
segment is included below. Performance is measured based
on the segment results as included in the internal management
reports that are reviewed by the group’s chief executive
ofﬁcer as the chief operating decision-maker on a regular
basis. Segment results are used to measure performance
as management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative
to other entities that operate within these industries.

• The chrome project that represents the mining of chrome
ore on the farm Moeijelijk and expenses related to
Kookfontein and Hartebeesfontein;
• Platinum exploration, being activities associated with
platinum exploration; and
• Corporate activities, being administration, regulatory and
corporate expenses incurred.

Chrome
projects
R’000

Platinum
exploration
R’000

Corporate
R’000

Intragroup
elimination
R’000

Total
R’000

Revenue

260 394

–

13 611

(13 611)

260 394

Loss before tax

(54 303)

–

(5 192)

–

(59 495)

Income tax credit

14 219

–

–

–

14 219

Loss after tax

(40 084)

–

(5 192)

–

(45 276)

25

–

1 183

(323)

885

(2 328)

–

–

323

(2 005)

(14 158)

–

(94)

–

(14 252)

(54)

–

–

–

(54)

Total assets

380 196

20 161

38 964

21 183

460 504

Total liabilities

(136 540)

–

(24 410)

(21 183)

(182 133)

30 June 2020

Finance income
Finance cost
Depreciation and amortisation
Share of loss of associate

30 June 2019
Revenue

302 122

–

14 876

(14 876)

302 122

(Loss)/proﬁt before tax

48 885

–

(1 136)

–

47 749

Income tax expense

(14 718)

–

–

–

(14 718)

(Loss)/proﬁt after tax

34 167

–

(1 136)

–

33 031

Finance income

1 499

–

4 590

(2 150)

3 939

Depreciation and amortisation

(8 956)

–

(80)

–

(9 036)

Total assets

375 905

20 161

43 194

(23 362)

415 898

Total liabilities

(115 477)

–

(2 764)

23 362

(94 879)

All turnover was generated in South Africa, therefore no geographical segments are presented.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1.

Reporting entity

Bauba Resources Limited (the company) is a company
domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The company’s
registered address is Cube Workspace, 1 Wedgewood
Link, Bryanston, Johannesburg, 2191. The annual ﬁnancial
statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2020
comprise the company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the group and individually as group entities).

2.

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance

The annual ﬁnancial statements were prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the
SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting
Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the
Companies Act of South Africa, SAICA circular 1/2019, and
the JSE Listings Requirements. The accounting policies are
in terms of IFRS and are supported by reasonable and fair
judgements and estimates. The same accounting policies as in
2019 were applied, except for the adoption of IFRS 16 in the
current year, which impact is disclosed in note 26.
The consolidated and separate annual ﬁnancial statements
(together referred to as the annual ﬁnancial statements) were
authorised for issue by the board on 15 January 2021.

2.2

Basis of measurement

The annual ﬁnancial statements are prepared on the historical
cost basis and incorporate the following principal accounting
policies which have been consistently applied, unless
otherwise stated. All transactions are recognised under the
accrual basis of accounting except for the statement of
cash ﬂow.

2.3

Functional and presentation currency

The annual ﬁnancial statements are presented in South
African rand, which is the presentation currency and functional
currency of all operations within the group.
All amounts in the annual ﬁnancial statements, reports and
supporting schedules are stated to the nearest thousand rand
(R’000) except where otherwise indicated.

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of annual ﬁnancial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
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assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. The use of estimates and
judgements are further disclosed in 3.18.

3.

Significant accounting
policies

3.1

Basis of consolidation

3.1.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities that are controlled by the group.
The group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The annual ﬁnancial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated annual ﬁnancial statements from the date on
which control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intragroup transactions and balances and any unrealised
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions,
are eliminated.
In the separate annual ﬁnancial statements of the company,
investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.
The interest of non-controlling shareholders may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquired entity’s
identiﬁable net assets. This measurement choice is done
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the carrying amounts of the non-controlling
interests are adjusted for movement in the non-controlling
interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

3.2

Intangible assets

3.2.1 Exploration and evaluation resources
Exploration assets include expenditure incurred after the
award of the legal licence to explore a speciﬁc area for mineral
resources (area of interest) has been obtained. Pre-licence costs
are recognised as an expense in proﬁt or loss as incurred.
Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised as exploration
assets on a project-by-project basis pending determination of
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project.
Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the
rights of the area of interest are current and either:
• The expenditures are expected to be recouped through
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the year ended 30 June 2020

successful development and exploitation of the area of
interest; or
• Activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting
date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves and active and signiﬁcant operations
in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.
Exploration assets include costs of acquisition of rights to
explore, costs to acquire licences, topographical, geological,
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling,
trenching, sampling and activities to evaluate the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a Mineral
Resource. All exploration and evaluation assets are deemed
to be intangible assets.
Administration and other general overhead costs, which are
not directly attributable to the speciﬁc exploration assets,
are expensed as incurred. When a licence is relinquished
or a project is abandoned, the capitalised expenditure is
recognised in proﬁt or loss immediately.
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the
extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are
demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable
to that area of interest are ﬁrst tested for impairment and then
reclassiﬁed in accordance with other relevant standards.

Capitalised mineral rights in production have a ﬁnite life and are
amortised on the units-of-production method.

3.3

Property, plant and equipment

3.3.1 Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost,
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. When an item of plant and equipment comprises a
number of signiﬁcant components each with different useful
lives, these components are accounted for as separate items.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when future economic beneﬁts are no longer
expected from its use. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
included in proﬁt or loss.

3.3.2 Subsequent costs
Expenditure incurred to replace or modify a signiﬁcant
component of plant and equipment is capitalised and any
remaining carrying amount of the original component is
recognised in proﬁt or loss. The costs of adding to, replacing
part of, or servicing an item, following a major inspection, are
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment
as a replacement, where applicable. The costs of day-to-day
servicing of the property, plant and equipment are recognised
in proﬁt or loss as incurred.

Amortisation or depreciation of the cost will only occur once
the project moves from the exploration and evaluation phase
to the mining phase. The value of the capitalised cost is
subjected to an impairment test.

3.3.3 Depreciation

3.2.2 Mineral rights in production

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

Mineral rights in production are initially recognised at cost
if reclassiﬁed from exploration and evaluation resources or
acquired externally, or at fair value, if acquired as part of a
business combination. Expenditure on internally generated
development activity is capitalised if the product or process
is technically and commercially feasible, the company has
sufﬁcient resources to complete development, the company
has the intention to complete and use or sell it, it is probable
that future economic beneﬁts relating to the asset will ﬂow
to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. The
expenditure capitalised includes direct costs and attributable
overhead costs. Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised
when it increases the future economic beneﬁts embodied in
the associated mineral right.
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Depreciation is recognised in proﬁt or loss on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of an item of property,
plant and equipment, down to its residual value.

Mining infrastructure, plant,
machinery and equipment
Motor vehicles
Furniture and ﬁttings
Ofﬁce equipment

Units of production
5 years
3 years
2 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting period.

3.3.4 Stripping activities
The removal of mine waste materials (including overburden)
to gain access to the mineral ore deposit is referred to as
“stripping activities”.
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The cost of stripping activities which provides a beneﬁt in the
form of improved access to ore is initially recognised as a noncurrent asset within mine infrastructure and equipment.
The stripping activities asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently carried at cost less depreciation using the
units-of-production method.
When the stripping activities improve access to ore extracted
in the current period, the costs of production stripping are
recognised in proﬁt or loss as operating costs.

3.4

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amount of the group’s intangible assets is
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is an indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment
loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an
asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value
in use and its fair value less the cost to sell. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash ﬂows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reﬂects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
speciﬁc to the asset.
Other non-ﬁnancial assets are subject to impairment tests
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the impairment test is carried out on the asset’s cashgenerating unit.

3.4.1 Impairment losses are recognised in proﬁt or
loss
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed
at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment had
been recognised.
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Financial instruments

3.5.1 Classiﬁcation
The group or company identiﬁes the following ﬁnancial
instrument categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost (loans to subsidiary, trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents); and
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, borrowings, loans from subsidiaries, loans from
shareholders and other ﬁnancial liabilities).
The group only classiﬁes its ﬁnancial assets at amortised cost
only if both of the following criteria are met:
• The asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash ﬂows; and
• The contractual terms give rise to cash ﬂows that are solely
payments of principal and interest.

3.5.2 Measurement: Financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost
• Financial assets at amortised cost are initially recognised
at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost
less any impairment by applying the effective interest rate
method.
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised
at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost by
applying the effective interest rate method.

3.5.3 Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash ﬂows have expired or when the group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

3.5.4 Impairment of ﬁnancial assets
Impairment of ﬁnancial assets measured at amortised cost is
determined using the expected credit loss model. The general
approach is applied to the ﬁnancial assets, whereby the
12-month expected credit losses are calculated unless there
has been a signiﬁcant increase in credit risk in which case
the lifetime credit losses are calculated.

3.6

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax
and deferred tax are recognised in proﬁt or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination or items
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received
that reﬂects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
ﬁnancial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax
purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:
• The initial recognition of goodwill;
• The initial recognition of assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable proﬁt; and
• Differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable proﬁt will be
available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax beneﬁt will be realised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively been enacted by the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the group
has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to
taxes levied by the same tax authority on either:
• The same taxable entity; or
• Different group entities which intend either:
– To settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis;
or
– To realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which signiﬁcant
amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected
to be settled or recovered.
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3.7

Inventory

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of ﬁxed and
variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories by the
method most appropriate to the particular class of inventory.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

3.8

Share capital

The group’s ordinary shares are classiﬁed as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares are recognised as a deduction from equity net of
tax effects.

3.9

Revenue

Group revenue is generated primarily from the sale of chrome
ore. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when the separate performance obligations are satisﬁed,
which is when control of the promised goods is transferred
to the customer.
Control passes to the customer once the chrome ore has
been loaded and has left the mine premises. The performance
obligation will be the chrome ore sold and collected by the
customer. This is considered to be a single performance
obligation in terms of IFRS 15. The amount of revenue
recognised upon collection is based on the price included in
the agreement. Depending on contractual terms, a portion
of the transaction price is ﬁxed and another portion may only
become due once performance obligation is met. Payment
terms are also dependent on contractual arrangements.
Intergroup management fees are recognised in the company
as revenue over the period during which these management
services are provided to subsidiaries. These services are
charged on a monthly basis as detailed in the management
agreement and are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.10 Distributions/dividends
Distributions/dividends to equity holders are only recognised
as a liability when declared and are included in the statement
of changes in equity.
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3.11

Leased assets

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability except for:
• Leases of low-value assets; and
• Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.
Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the
lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives received, and
increased for:
• Lease payments made at or before commencement of the
lease;
• Initial direct costs incurred; and
• The amount of any provision recognised where the group is
contractually required to dismantle, remove or restore the
leased asset.
Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the remaining term of the lease or over the remaining
economic life of the asset if, rarely, judged to be shorter than
the lease term.
The group recognises a lease liability at the commencement
date of the contract for all leases conveying the right to control
the use of identiﬁed assets for a speciﬁc period.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments outstanding at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method (2019: operating lease costs are
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease).

3.12 Mining royalties
Mining royalties are recognised with reference to the conditions
speciﬁed in the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Royalty
Act (Act 28 of 2008), for the transfer of reﬁned and unreﬁned
mined resources, upon the date such transfer is effected.
These costs are included in proﬁt or loss as a part of operating
and administrative expenses.
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3.13 Finance income
Finance income comprises interest income earned on loans
and bank balances and funds invested and is recognised in
proﬁt or loss. Finance income is recognised as it accrues,
using the effective interest method.

3.14 Employee benefits
Short-term employee beneﬁts are expensed during the year in
which the employee renders the related service. The accruals
for employee entitlements to remuneration and annual leave
represent the amount which the group has a present obligation
to pay as a result of the employee’s services provided to the
reporting date.

3.15

Contingent assets and liabilities

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be conﬁrmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the group. Contingent
assets are not recognised as assets.
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will be conﬁrmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the group, or a present
obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised
because it is not probable that an outﬂow of resources
embodying economic beneﬁts will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufﬁcient reliability. Contingent liabilities are not recognised
as liabilities.

3.16 Environmental rehabilitation provision
A provision for environmental rehabilitation is recognised
when there is an obligation for rehabilitation and mine closure
costs arising from environmental disturbance caused by
the development or ongoing production of mining activities.
Estimated environmental rehabilitation provisions are measured
considering the current contracted mining rates, technological,
environmental and regulatory requirements. Any subsequent
changes to the carrying amount of the provision resulting
from changes to the assumptions used in estimating the
provision are recognised in proﬁt or loss. Ongoing rehabilitation
expenditure is recognised in proﬁt or loss as incurred.
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3.17

Share-based payments

The group has awarded performance shares in terms of
the 2013 share incentive plan. In terms of this scheme, the
group has the choice to either settle in cash or by issuing
shares to the participants on vesting date.

and Mineral Reserves estimates, technological innovation and
maintenance programmes. Changes in estimates can result
in signiﬁcant variations in the carrying value and amounts
recognised in proﬁt or loss in speciﬁc periods.

3.18.2 Impairment testing
The group treats share-based payment transactions with
settlement alternatives as equity-settled share-based payments.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is based on the fair
value at grant date using an appropriate valuation model after
taking into consideration the vesting conditions and rules of
the scheme. The expense is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the reporting date until the vesting date
reﬂects the company’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest taking into consideration
service and non-market performance conditions. Market
performance conditions are reﬂected in the fair value at grant
date of the performance shares awarded.
The dilutive effect of outstanding performance shares is
reﬂected in diluted earnings per share and diluted headline
earnings per share.

3.18 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements
The group makes certain estimates and assumptions
regarding the future. Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual
experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions.
The estimates and assumptions that have a signiﬁcant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next ﬁnancial year are
discussed below.

3.18.1 Useful lives of intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment
As described in 3.2 and 3.3, the estimated useful lives of
intangibles (see note 11) and property, plant and equipment
(see note 12) are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period. The group depreciates/amortises its assets over
their estimated useful lives, as more fully described in the
accounting policies for property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets. The actual lives of these assets can vary
depending on a variety of factors, including Mineral Resources
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The determination of value in use and fair value less cost to sell
calculations requires the use of estimates and assumptions.
A reasonable possible change in these estimates and
assumptions may impact the group’s recoverable amount
determination for the particular asset or cash-generating unit
and may then require a material adjustment to carrying value
of intangible assets. These recoverable amount calculations
take into account the estimated Mineral Resources statement,
future commodity prices, exchange rates and mining costs
among others. These estimates are determined using
reasonable and supportable assumptions.

3.18.3 Environmental rehabilitation provision
Environmental rehabilitation obligations are based on the best
estimate of the costs to be incurred based on the group’s
environmental rehabilitation plans, in compliance with current
environmental and regulatory requirements (see note 24).
Full provision is made based on the net present value of the
estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance
that has occurred up to the reporting date. Estimates are
based upon currently agreed costs with our contract miner.
Actual costs in the future may differ from the estimates due
to changes in discount rates, Mineral Resources and life-ofmine estimates, mining contractor costs and environmental
laws and regulations. The estimated cost of rehabilitation is
reviewed annually and adjusted where appropriate.

3.19 New standards and interpretations
At the date of approval of these annual ﬁnancial statements,
certain new accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published but
are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the
group.
Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the group’s accounting policies for
the ﬁrst period beginning after the effective date of the
pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments
and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to Bauba’s
annual ﬁnancial statements are provided as follows. Certain
other new standards and interpretations have been issued but
are not expected to have a material impact on Bauba’s annual
ﬁnancial statements.
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3.19.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
The group has adopted the following standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board that
became effective on or after 1 January 2019:

Standard/interpretation and description

Effective date: years
beginning on or after

Expected impact

IAS 19: Employment Beneﬁts – The amendments require an entity to use
the updated assumptions from a remeasurement net deﬁned beneﬁt liability
or asset resulting from a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement to
determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the
reporting period after the change to the plan.

1 January 2019

This standard does not
have a material impact
on Bauba’s accounting
records.

IFRS 16: Leases – IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term
of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.

1 January 2019

This standard does not
have a material impact
on Bauba’s accounting
records. The group has an
operating lease that is for a
period of 12 months. Refer
to note 27.

1 January 2019

This interpretation does
not have a material impact
on Bauba’s accounting
records.

The group has elected to apply IFRS 16 utilising the modiﬁed retrospective
approach under which the cumulative effect of adopting the new standard is
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at
1 July 2019 with no restatement of comparative information. The cumulative
effect of adopting the standard had no impact on opening retained earnings.
IFRIC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – This
interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12.

3.19.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards, amendments and interpretations, which have been published and
are applicable for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2020 or later periods:

Standard/interpretation and description

Effective date: years
beginning on or after

Expected impact

IFRS 16: Leases – COVID-19-related Rent Concessions: The amendment
providing lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID19-related rent concession (a rent concession that reduces lease payments
due on or before 30 June 2021) is a lease modiﬁcation.

1 June 2020

This standard will not
have a material impact
on Bauba’s accounting
records.

IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements – Deﬁnition of Material: The
amendments clarify and align the deﬁnition of “material” and provide
guidance to help improve consistency in the application of that concept
whenever it is used in IFRS.

1 January 2020

This standard will not
have a material impact
on Bauba’s accounting
records.

IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
– Deﬁnition of Material: The amendments clarify and align the deﬁnition
of “material” and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the
application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS.

1 January 2020

This standard will not
have a material impact
on Bauba’s accounting
records.
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4.

Revenue
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

260 394

302 122

–

–

–

–

13 611

14 876

Revenue comprises:
Sale of chrome ore
Management fees from subsidiary (see note 32)
The group derives revenue from the sale of chrome ore at a point in time.
The company derives revenue from management fees at a point in time.

5.

Operating and administrative expenses
GROUP
2020
R’000

COMPANY
2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Operating and administrative expenses include:
Royalties

2 308

3 376

–

–

19 563

18 777

10 287

10 276

Short-term lease expense

722

721

722

721

Low value lease expense

30

27

–

–

780

654

780

654

Employee beneﬁts

The group currently has one operating lease in place over
its head ofﬁce. This rental agreement is subject to a 60
calendar day notice period and expires on 30 April 2021
with an annual renewal option.
The total future value of minimum lease payments due:
Not later than one year
There are no other lease payments due.
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Income tax
GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Tax expense
Current tax expense
Current tax expense for the year
Deferred tax expense
Current year origination and reversal of temporary differences

–
–
(14 219)
(14 219)

3 434
3 434
11 284
11 284

Total income tax (credit)/expense in proﬁt or loss

(14 219)

14 718

Reconciliation of the effective rate
(Loss)/proﬁt before tax
Income tax credit/(expense)
Proﬁt for the period

(59 495)
14 219
(45 276)

47 749
(14 718)
33 031

28,00
2,50
(6,60)
23,90

28,00
3,11
(0,29)
30,82

Statutory income tax rate (%)
Disallowable expenditure (%)
Unrecognised tax loss (%)
Effective tax rate (%)

Disallowable expenditure includes amortisation of intangible assets and other expenses of a capital nature. The company
realised an estimated tax loss of R16,552 million (2019: taxable income of R13,801 million). Refer to note 7 for details on
estimated tax loss carried forward.

7.

Deferred taxation
GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

As at 1 July

(30 746)

(19 462)

Expense recognised in proﬁt or loss
As at 30 June

14 219
(16 527)

(11 284)
(30 746)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary
differences where the directors believe it is probable that these will be recovered.
Details of the deferred tax liability with all amounts recognised in proﬁt or loss are as follows:
Property, plant and equipment
Estimated tax loss
Provision for rehabilitation
Revenue received in advance
Accruals
Total

(45 790)
23 479
1 622
4 069
93
(16 527)

(34 175)
–
1 862
1 518
49
(30 746)

The estimated tax loss carried forward for the company is R57,529 million (2019: R40,977 million). The company’s assessed
tax loss may not be used to offset taxable proﬁt elsewhere in the group and no deferred tax asset has been recognised as it
is uncertain whether future taxable proﬁt would be generated in the company to utilise this. There is no expiry date on these
unused tax losses.
The estimate tax loss carried forward for the group is R82,256 million (2019: Rnil). A deferred tax asset was raised as it is
considered probable that sufﬁcient future taxable proﬁts will be available against which the tax loss can be utilised.
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8.

(Loss)/earnings per share
GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

(30 592)

17 930

Headline (loss)/earnings reconciliation
(Loss)/proﬁt attributable to equity holders of the parent
Loss on disposal of assets
Headline (loss)/earnings

21

–

(30 571)

17 930

379 020

379 020

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares to diluted weighted average
number of shares
Weighted average number of shares in issue ('000)
Dilutive potential ordinary shares relating to long-term incentive scheme ('000)

323

1 448

379 343

380 468

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(8,07)

4,73

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(8,07)

4,71

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(8,07)

4,73

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

(8,07)

4,71

379 020

379 020

Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue ('000)

Number of shares in issue at the end of the year ('000)

The dilutive impact arose from the performance shares granted in terms of the long-term 2013 share incentive plan in 2019
and had an anti-dilutive effect on the diluted loss per share calculation in 2020 thus no impact has been noted.
Headline earnings per share has been calculated in accordance with the SAICA Circular 1/2019 entitled Headline Earnings
which forms part of the JSE Listings Requirements.

9.

Distribution
No distribution (2019: nil cents per share) has been declared during the current ﬁnancial year or after year-end.
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10. Cash flow information
GROUP

Cash ﬂow from operating activities
(Loss)/proﬁt before tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation (note 11)
Write-off of inventory to net realisable value (note 17)
Depreciation (note 12)
Loss on derecognition of property, plant and equipment
Environmental rehabilitation provision (note 23)
Finance income
Finance cost
Equity-settled share-based payment expense (note 22)
Non-cash adjustments to borrowings (note 25)
Share of loss of associate
Rehabilitation asset
Finance cost capitalised on shareholder loan (note 26)

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

(59 495)
36 672
3 477
18 802
10 775
12
(856)
(885)
602
2 628
1 784
54
–
194

47 749
8 090
3 695
–
5 341
–
3 030
(3 939)
–
3 051
–
–
(3 030)
–

(8 567)
4 979
3 375
–
94
12
–
(1 184)
–
2 628
–
54
–
–

(4 721)
2 197
3 586
–
80
–
–
(4 518)
–
3 051
–
–
–
–

Other non-cash items
Changes in working capital

COMPANY

85

(58)

–

(2)

31 745

(48 542)

399

1 290

Trade and other receivables

(3 701)

(7 612)

(62)

(178)

Trade and other payables

32 200

28 662

461

1 468

Inventory

3 246

(69 592)

–

–

Cash inﬂow from operating activities before tax paid

8 922

7 297

(3 189)

(1 234)

11. Intangible assets
GROUP

COMPANY

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation and
impairments
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation and
impairments
R’000

Carrying
values
R’000

Cost
R’000

Carrying
values
R’000

2020
Platinum mineral rights – exploration and
evaluation Mineral Resources

30 555

(10 394)

20 161

–

–

–

Chrome mineral rights – in production

156 907

(35 230)

121 677

150 000

(34 323)

115 677

Total mineral rights

187 462

(45 624)

141 838

150 000

(34 323)

115 677

2019
Platinum mineral rights – exploration and
evaluation Mineral Resources

30 555

(10 394)

20 161

–

–

–

Chrome mineral rights – in production

156 907

(31 753)

125 154

150 000

(30 948)

119 052

Total mineral rights

187 462

(42 147)

145 315

150 000

(30 948)

119 052
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11. Intangible assets continued
Reconciliation of intangible assets

Opening
balance
R’000

Additions
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Total
R’000

2020
GROUP
Platinum mineral rights – exploration and evaluation
Mineral Resources1
Chrome mineral rights – in production2
Total mineral rights

20 161
125 154
145 315

–
–
–

–
(3 477)
(3 477)

20 161
121 677
141 838

COMPANY
Platinum mineral rights – exploration and evaluation
Mineral Resources1

–

–

–

–

Chrome mineral rights – in production2
Total mineral rights

119 052
119 052

–
–

(3 375)
(3 375)

115 677
115 677

2019
GROUP
Platinum mineral rights – exploration and evaluation
Mineral Resources
Chrome mineral rights – in production
Total mineral rights

20 161
128 849
149 010

–
–
–

–
(3 695)
(3 695)

20 161
125 154
145 315

COMPANY
Platinum mineral rights – exploration and evaluation
Mineral Resources
Chrome mineral rights – in production
Total mineral rights

–
122 638
122 638

–
–
–

–
(3 586)
(3 586)

–
119 052
119 052

1

2

Bauba has an effective 60% holding in Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited (Bauba A Hlabirwa) which has an
accepted retention permit over the following farms in Limpopo province: Dingaanskop 534KS, Fisant Laagte 506KS, Switzerland
473KS, Indië 474KS, Schoonoord 462KS, Genokakop 285KT, Groot Vygenboom 284KT, Houtbosch 323KT and Waterkop 113KT.
The prospecting rights held over Genokakop 285KT, Groot Vygenboom 284KT and Houtbosch 323KT were subject to a review application
brought by Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited. The application was dismissed on 10 July 2020 and the applicants were ordered to
pay costs.
Bauba has a 30-year mining right over the farm Moeijelijk 412KS granted in June 2016. The recoverability of the mineral rights was
assessed using the value-in-use methodology based on the net present value of the current life-of-mine plan and Mineral Reserves and
Mineral Resources on the various farms. Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources are determined by an independent expert. The chrome
mineral rights were amortised using the units-of-production method.

Platinum mining rights
Platinum mining rights are currently not in production therefore the group performs an impairment assessment on an annual
basis. Waterkop 113KT property will be mined in 18 months therefore effects of discounting are immaterial. Production
volumes are based on mineral reserves and mineral resources as determined by an independent expert. Other major
assumptions are as follows:
2020

2019

ZAR/US$ exchange rate

17,27

14,05

PGM basked price (ZAR)

31 069

17 436

PGM basked price (US$)
CIF chrome ore price (US$/tonne)*

1 799

1 241

150 to 180

142 to 157

* CIF chrome price as determined by FerroyAlloyNet.

The recoverable amount was assessed to be R306,513 million (2019: R83,446 million).
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12. Property, plant and equipment
GROUP

C COMPANY

Motor
vehicles
R’000

Rightof-use
assets
R’000

Furniture
and ofﬁce
equipment
R’000

Mine infrastructure
and
equipment
R’000

Cost
As at 1 July 2019
Additions
Disposal
As at 30 June 2020

2 998
1 201
–
4 199

–
5 905
–
5 905

612
183
(21)
774

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 July 2019
Depreciation
Disposal
As at 30 June 2020

1 677
426
–
2 103

–
1 049
–
1 049

Carrying value as
at 30 June 2020

2 096

Cost
As at 1 July 2018
Additions
As at 30 June 2019

Total
R’000

Furniture
and ofﬁce
equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

144 793
44 289
–
189 082

148 403
51 578
(21)
199 960

372
80
(21)
431

372
80
(21)
431

269
197
(9)
457

6 628
9 102
–
15 730

8 574
10 774
(9)
19 339

186
94
(9)
271

186
94
(9)
271

4 856

317

173 352

180 621

160

160

2 998
–
2 998

–
–
–

339
273
612

82 851
61 942
144 793

86 188
62 215
148 403

243
129
372

243
129
372

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 July 2018
Depreciation
As at 30 June 2019

1 217
460
1 677

–
–
–

131
138
269

1 885
4 743
6 628

3 233
5 341
8 574

106
80
186

106
80
186

Carrying value as
at 30 June 2019

1 321

–

343

138 165

139 829

186

186

During the current ﬁnancial year, there were additions of R44,289 million (2019: R61,942 million) to the mine infrastructure
and equipment. The additions relate mainly to the development of the Moeijelijk underground mine of R46,889 million
(2019: R35,222 million), additions to the wash plant of R3,955 million (2019: R20,761 million) and a decrease in the
capitalisation of the pre-stripping costs in accordance with IFRIC 20 of R14,002 million (2019: R1,885 million). Additions to
right-of-use assets amounted to R5,905 million (2019: Rnil) during the current ﬁnancial year (refer to note 26).
None of the items of property, plant and equipment have been encumbered.

Bauba IAR Fins 2020 P9.indd 103

2021/01/15 4:45 PM

104

BAUBA RESOURCES LIMITED INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the year ended 30 June 2020

13. Investment in associate
On 19 July 2019, Bauba entered into a Sale of Shares and Claims Agreement with Ms DC Butler to acquire her shares in
Nuco Chrome Bophuthatswana Proprietary Limited (Nuco Chrome) for an aggregate purchase consideration of R60 million
which represents 74% of the issued share capital of the company. Bauba has initially obtained 22% of the issued share
capital for a cash consideration of R10 million. Bauba has signiﬁcant inﬂuence over this investment and it is accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Nuco Chrome’s principal place of business is Rustenburg, South Africa.
Investment in associate is evaluated for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the investment to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use or fair value less costs to sell. A discounted cash ﬂow model is used to calculate
the net present value of the investments. The impairment valuation during the current year resulted in Rnil impairment being
recognised.
The carrying amount of the equity-accounted investment is as follows:
GROUP

Balance at the beginning of the year
– acquisition of associate
– share of loss of associate for year
Balance at the end of the year

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

–

–

–

–

10 000

–

10 000

–

(54)

–

(54)

–

9 946

–

9 946

–

Summary of the significant financial information of Nuco Chrome
The information disclosed reﬂects the amounts presented in the ﬁnancial statements of Nuco Chrome and not the group’s
share of those amounts.
GROUP
2020
R’000
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Investment revenue

13 225
627
20 079
43
35

Loss for the year

(366)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(366)

Nuco Chrome’s non-current assets balance consists of intangible assets (R13,225 million), current assets includes cash and
cash equivalents (R0,627 million), and the non-current liabilities balance consists of loans from shareholders (R7,718 million)
and other ﬁnancial liabilities (R12,361 million).
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13. Investment in associate continued
Summary of the significant financial information of Nuco Chrome continued
GROUP
2020
R’000
Reconciliation to carrying amounts:
Opening net assets

(5 903)

Loss for the year

(366)

Closing net assets

(6 269)

Group’s share in %

22

Group’s share in net assets

(1 379)

14. Investments in subsidiaries
COMPANY
2020
R’000
Bauba A Hlabirwa
Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited*

2019
R’000

86 618

86 618

116 393

116 393

Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited**

–

–

Eight dormant entities*

2

2

203 013

203 013

Total
* Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited directly holds 34,4% of Bauba A Hlabirwa.
** Investment is R100 (zero due to rounding effect).

In the legal structure, Bauba holds the following investments whose principal business is conducted in South Africa:
Directly and indirectly:
• Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018010724 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 70% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018010766 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018010819 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018010850 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 70% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018368266 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018368290 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 70% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018368317 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• K2018368353 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited – 100% (2019: 100%) – dormant
• Bauba A Hlabirwa – effective holding 60% (2019: 60%) – holder of the
Waterkop 113KT prospecting right and the Moeijelijk 412KS mining right.
The remaining 40% interest in Bauba A Hlabirwa is held in favour of and for the beneﬁt of the Bapedi Royal Family (2,4%)
and the Bapedi Nation (37,6%), whose voting rights are in proportion to their ownership rights.
All voting rights are in proportion to the ownership rights in Bauba A Hlabirwa.
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15. Non-controlling interest
Bauba A Hlabirwa, a 60% owned subsidiary of the company, has material non-controlling interest. The non-controlling
interest of all other subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the group are considered to be immaterial.
Summarised ﬁnancial information in relation to Bauba A Hlabirwa , before intra-group eliminations, is presented below
together with amounts attributable to non-controlling interest:
COMPANY
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Revenues

260 394

302 122

Cost of sales

(249 325)

(190 475)

Gross proﬁt

11 069

111 647

Operating and administrative expenses

(59 695)

(58 522)

(2 329)

(2 151)

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2020

Finance cost
Finance income

26

1 498

(50 929)

52 472

Income tax credit/(expense)

14 219

(14 718)

(Loss)/proﬁt for the year

(36 710)

37 754

–

–

(36 710)

(37 754)

(Loss)/proﬁt before tax

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (loss)/proﬁt for the year
Statement of cash ﬂows for the year ended 30 June 2020
Net cash effects from operating activities

9 369

3 783

Net cash effects from investing activities

(66 752)

(57 557)

Net cash effects from ﬁnancing activities

53 979

16 399

Net cash outﬂows

(3 404)

(37 375)

Statement of ﬁnancial position as at 30 June 2020
Assets
Intangible assets

26 161

26 263

180 462

139 644

Inventory

64 985

87 033

Trade and other receivables

13 986

10 349

Cash and cash equivalents

10 322

13 726

Loans to subsidiary

21 183

–

Property, plant and equipment

Liabilities
Environmental rehabilitation provision

5 794

6 650

Deferred tax

16 527

30 746

Borrowings

70 637

–

Loan from shareholder

10 194

–

5 075

–

Trade and other payables

Lease liability

51 459

29 951

Other ﬁnancial liabilities

17 581

7 345

1 641

4 060

Current tax payable
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16. Loans (from)/to subsidiary
COMPANY
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

(21 183)

23 362

Loans (from)/to subsidiary
Bauba A Hlabirwa

This loan (from)/to Bauba A Hlabirwa is unsecured with no ﬁxed repayment terms and bears interest at prime minus 3%
(2019: prime minus 3%).
The business model of the company is to hold the loans to subsidiaries to collect the contractual cash ﬂows. The
contractual cash ﬂows represent solely payment of principal and interest and are therefore recognised at amortised cost.
In calculating the expected credit loss, the following was taken into account (refer to note 31.2):
• The net position of the subsidiary
• The loans have no ﬁxed terms of repayment and are payable on demand.

17. Inventory
GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Chrome ore

83 787

87 033

Write-off of inventory to net realisable value

(18 802)

–

Total

64 985

87 033

Inventory is based on direct and indirect costs incurred in the production of chrome ore.

18. Trade and other receivables
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2 239

7 475

508

462

11 008

3 424

100

88

Trade and other receivables comprise:
Financial assets
Trade receivables
Deposits and other
Non-ﬁnancial asset
VAT

1 353

–

4

–

Total

14 600

10 899

612

550

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers as a result of chrome ore sold in the ordinary course of business.
The group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash ﬂows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Refer to note 31.2 for the expected credit loss
assessment.
Deposits and other include deposits that have been paid over in respect of the group’s head ofﬁce lease, operational site
and a rehabilitation insurance guarantee issued to the DMRE over the farm Moeijelijk 412KS.
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19. Cash and cash equivalents
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Bank and cash balances

10 364

12 589

109

74

Call deposits

38 020

16 475

38 020

16 475

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Money market deposits
Total

130

3 758

63

2 547

48 514

32 822

38 192

19 096

20. Stated capital
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

750 000

750 000

750 000

750 000

512 500

512 500

512 500

512 500

Authorised share capital
750 000 000 (2019: 750 000 000) ordinary shares
of no par value
Issued share capital
379 020 249 (2019: 379 020 249) ordinary shares
of no par value

21. Reverse acquisition reserve
During the 2011 ﬁnancial year, Bauba concluded an asset-for-share transaction. The effect of the accounting treatment,
as a result of the reverse asset acquisition, is that even though the consolidated annual ﬁnancial statements are issued
under the name of Bauba, it represents a continuation of Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited (Ndarama) and
Bauba A Hlabirwa, except for its capital structure.
The accounting treatment requires that the share capital structure of Ndarama and Bauba A Hlabirwa is replaced by that
of Bauba Resources as at the transaction date, taking into consideration the value of the purchase price and the fair value
of the assets bought. The following values were taken into consideration at the transaction date:
GROUP
R’000
Fair value of Bauba A Hlabirwa and Ndarama – 68 124 600 at R2,98

203 011

Share capital of Bauba

128 074

Net deemed value of Bauba

331 085

Share capital of Bauba A Hlabirwa and Ndarama
Non-controlling Interest

(637)
255

Purchase price of Bauba – 16 011 854 shares at R2,98

(47 715)

Reverse assets acquisition reserve

282 988

At the transaction date, the fair value of Bauba was R21 803 000 and the purchase price was R47 715 000
(16 011 854 shares at R2,98) resulting in a reverse asset acquisition cost of R25 913 000.
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22. Share-based payment reserve
Equity-settled share-based payment
Performance shares issued in terms of the Bauba 2013 share incentive plan
Under this approved scheme, the group issued performance shares in the prior year to executives and key employees who
have elected to participate in lieu of their basic salary remuneration. These performance shares carry no strike price and vest
after three years if certain performance conditions are achieved. The company has the choice to settle on vesting date either
through the issuance of ordinary shares or cash.
Performance share reconciliation
Opening
balance

Granted
during
the year

Forfeited
during
the year

Vested
during
the year

Closing
balance

December 2019

–

6 411 440

–

–

6 411 440

December 2018

5 907 684

–

(412 164)

–

5 495 520

December 2017

4 601 000

–

(321 000)

–

4 280 000

December 2016

6 450 000

–

–

(6 450 000)

–

16 958 684

6 411 440

(733 164)

(6 450 000)

16 186 960

December 2018

–

5 907 684

–

–

5 907 684

December 2017

–

4 601 000

–

–

4 601 000

December 2016

6 450 000

–

–

–

6 450 000

Total

6 450 000

10 508 684

–

–

16 958 684

Share price
at grant date
(cents)

Forfeiture
rate (%)

Expected
dividend
yield (%)

40
49
74
38

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Grant date
2020

Total
2019

Key assumptions used in estimating the fair values at grant date

December 2019
December 2018
December 2017
December 2016

GROUP

Share-based payment reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year
Equity-settled share-based payment expense
Balance at the end of the year
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22. Share-based payment reserve continued
GROUP

Reconciliation of the number of shares which may be utilised for purposes
of this scheme
Opening balance
Increase in number of shares to be utilised
Performance shares forfeited during the year
Performance shares granted during the year
Closing balance

2020

2019

4 816 836
18 000 000
733 164
(6 411 440)
17 138 560

11 550 000
–
–
(6 733 164)
4 816 836

23. Environmental rehabilitation provision
Environmental obligations are based on the group’s environmental plans. Full provision is made based on the net present
value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance, based on current mine mining and rehabilitation
plans, contracted mining rates and surveyor’s measurements, that have occurred up to the reporting date. Estimates are
determined by independent environmental specialists in accordance with environmental regulations.
Provisions for future rehabilitation costs have been determined, based on calculations which require the use of estimates.
In determining the provision for rehabilitation, management used a discount rate of 9,3% (2019: 9,1%), estimated
rehabilitation timing of nine years (2019: 10 years) and a long-term inﬂation rate of 5,5% (2019: 5,5%).
The current estimated rehabilitation cost to be incurred at the end of the life-of-mine is R12,389 million.
GROUP

Balance at the beginning of the year
Unwinding of discount
– provision recognised during the year

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

6 650

3 620

619

–

–

3 030

– provision reversed during the year

(1 475)

–

Balance at the end of the year

5 794

6 650

–

–

5 794

6 650

Current
Non-current

24. Prepayment
GROUP

Balance at the beginning of the year
Add: Prepayment advanced
Less: Repayment
Balance at the end of the year

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

13 364

–

–

73 500

(13 364)

(60 136)

–

13 364

Bauba successfully concluded an offtake agreement for the supply of 240 000 tonnes of chrome ore to be supplied over a
12-month period. In August 2018, Bauba received a prepayment of R73,500 million which represents a part-payment of the
offtake agreement. This prepayment was repayable in equal monthly instalments of R6,682 million, with the ﬁnal payment
executed at the end of August 2019.
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25. Borrowings
In March 2020, the group entered into a long-term loan agreement to ﬁnance the expansion of the underground operations.
The total principal amount under the agreement is US$5 million of which US$4 million has been drawn down as at
30 June 2020. The loan is repayable in 33 equal monthly instalments, commencing at the end of August 2020.
The loan is a variable rate (three-month LIBOR plus 6,45%), US dollar-denominated loan which is carried at amortised cost.
A loan structuring fee of US$27 500 was payable on draw down of the ﬁrst utilisation of the loan amount.
GROUP

Balance at the beginning of the year

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

–

–

68 853

–

Finance costs capitalised

731

–

Structuring fee payable

477

–

Drawdowns

Foreign exchange loss

576

–

Balance at the end of the year

70 637

–

Current

24 059

–

Non-current

46 578

–

Less than one year

27 740

–

Between one to two years

28 133

–

Between two to ﬁve years

22 109

–

The maturity of the borrowings is as follows:

26. Loan from shareholder
In October 2019, the group entered into a short-term loan agreement with a shareholder for an amount of R10 million
repayable on 31 March 2022. The loan is a ﬁxed rate loan that is carried at amortised cost.
GROUP

Balance at the beginning of the year
Loan advanced
Finance costs capitalised
Balance at the end of the year
Current

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

–

–

10 000

–

194

–

10 194

–

194

–

10 000

–

787

–

Between one to two years

10 468

–

Between two to ﬁve years

–

–

Non-current
The maturity of the borrowings is as follows:
Less than one year
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27. Leases
There were no long-term operating leases in the previous ﬁnancial year that were subject to the ﬁrst-time adoption of IFRS 16.
The group entered into lease arrangements for the renting of mining equipment and motor vehicles. Leases relating to
mining equipment are for a period of three years and bear interest at between 11% to 13%. Right-of-use asset has been
included as a part of property, plant and equipment. Refer to note 3.11 for the leased assets accounting policy.
Leases relating to motor vehicles are for a period of ﬁve years and bear interest at the South African prime interest rate plus 1,5%.
GROUP 2020

Right-of-use asset
Balance at the beginning of the year
– additions
– depreciation
Balance at the end of the year
Lease liability
Balance at the beginning of the year

Motor
vehicles
R’000

Mining
equipment
R’000

Total
R’000

–
534
(45)
489

–
5 371
(1 004)
4 367

–
5 905
(1 049)
4 856

–

–

–

– additions
– ﬁnance costs
– lease payments
Balance at the end of the year

614
21
(73)
562

5 371
354
(1 212)
4 513

5 985
375
(1 285)
5 075

Lease liability included in statement of ﬁnancial position
Current
Non-current

562
103
459

4 513
1 687
2 826

5 075
1 790
3 285

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash ﬂows
Less than one year
Between one to two years
Between two to ﬁve years
Total at the end of the year

148
148
389
685

2 157
2 157
946
5 260

2 305
2 305
1 335
5 945

There are no contingent payables, restrictions nor covenants imposed on these leases. Leases are all ﬁxed term leases with
no variable portion.

28. Trade and other payables
GROUP

Trade and other payables comprise:
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Non-ﬁnancial liabilities
VAT
Accrued expenses
Total

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

52 255
555

29 613
421

2 190
268

1 682
238

–
1 544
54 354

2 377
199
32 610

–
439
2 897

643
97
2 660

Other payables include payroll liabilities and accrued expenses.
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29. Other financial liabilities
GROUP

Royalty taxes
Revenue received in advance

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2 719

1 747

–

–

14 534

5 421

–

–

Other

658

281

330

106

Total

17 911

7 449

330

106

Revenue received in advance arises from customers paying for chrome ore prior to delivery being affected. During the
current ﬁnancial year, R5,421 million (2019: Rnil) was recognised as revenue. Delivery of chrome ore is expected to be
affected within a 12-month period.

30. Commitments and contingencies
30.1 Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments relate to mining infrastructure and equipment necessary for the expansion of Bauba’s
underground operations.
GROUP
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Contracts for capital expenditure

80 051

36 366

Total capital commitments

80 051

36 366

30.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
The group is involved in four litigious matters that meet the deﬁnition of a contingent asset or liability. The details are:
• A review application was lodged by Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited (RPM) against the acceptance of an application
for a mining right over the farms Genokakop 285KT, Groot Vygenboom 284KT and Houtbosch 323KT and at the same
time reviewing the refusal of its own application for a prospecting right. RPM was refused an interim application barring
the DMR from processing any further mining or prospecting rights in respect of the area. The High Court set aside RPM’s
review application and RPM have been granted leave to appeal the decision in the Supreme Court of Appeal.
• A dispute over rental claims with the surface rights owner of Moeijelijk;
• Bauba ﬁled an appeal against the DMR’s decision to grant Lethabo Exploration Proprietary Limited a mining right in
respect of certain minerals on the farm Waterkop 113KT, although Bauba held a prospecting right and had submitted
a retention application in respect of the prospecting right; and
• Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited (Absolute) ﬁled a review application against the DMR’s decision to grant
Samancor Chrome Limited (Samancor) a mining right for chrome ore on the farm Zeekoegat 421KS and against the
DMR’s decision to refuse Absolute’s application for a prospecting right. The review was upheld and Samancor appealed
that decision. Their appeal was upheld and Absolute is subsequently appealing the decision in the Constitutional Court.
To the best of the board’s knowledge and belief, there are no other contingent liabilities to third parties and/or contingent
assets not set out or referred to in this report which may materially affect the ﬁnancial position of the group as at
30 June 2020.
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31. Financial instruments
31.1

Risk management activities
In the normal course of its operations, the group is exposed to credit, interest rate and liquidity risk. This note describes
the group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and methods used to measure them. In order
to manage these risks, the group has developed a comprehensive risk management process to facilitate control and
monitoring. The board has overall responsibility for the determination of the group’s risk management objectives and policies
and, while retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that
ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the group’s ﬁnance function. The company’s treasury
function provides services to the subsidiaries, coordinates access to domestic ﬁnancial markets and monitors and manages
the ﬁnancial risks relating to the operations of the group. Operational and business risks are reviewed and addressed on a
monthly basis. These risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and cash ﬂow interest rate risk. The group does not enter into or
trade ﬁnancial instruments, including derivative ﬁnancial instruments, for speculative purposes.

31.2 Credit risk
The group’s credit risk pertains to selling of goods and services on credit. The company fulﬁls a centralised treasury function
for the group. Trade receivables credit risk is monitored by management with reference to the ageing of trade and other
receivables to obtain comfort that there are no past due amounts. The group manages its exposure on cash and cash
equivalent by dealing only will well-established ﬁnancial institutions of high-quality credit standing. The carrying amount of
ﬁnancial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

–

–

–

23 362
462

Financial instruments
Credit risk
Loans to subsidiaries
Trade receivables

2 239

7 475

508

Deposits and others

12 606

3 424

100

88

Cash and cash equivalents

48 514

32 822

38 192

19 096

The ﬁnancial assets are subject to the expected credit loss model of IFRS 9, however, the identiﬁed impairment loss was
immaterial.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are subject to the expected credit loss model. For trade receivables, the
simpliﬁed model is used. Bauba generally receives payment for chrome ore upfront therefore the credit risk is deemed to
be low. Bauba has not written off any trade receivables during the current ﬁnancial year (2019: nil). No trade receivables
have been written off between the ﬁnancial year-end and the date the annual ﬁnancial statements were approved. For all
other ﬁnancial assets, the general model is used i.e. the probability of default occurring in the next 12 months is considered
together with the loss which may arise from such events of default, unless there has been a signiﬁcant increase in credit risk.
Financial assets at amortised cost are shown net of credit losses in the statement of ﬁnancial position. These ﬁnancial assets
are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Expected credit losses for all amortised cost ﬁnancial assets were assessed to be immaterial.
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31. Financial instruments continued
31.3 Foreign exchange risk
The group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk arises from a US dollar-denominated loan. Refer to note 25 (Borrowings) for
details on the agreement. Foreign exchange risk arises from currency ﬂuctuations and is monitored on a regular basis by
management, who may enter into forward exchange contracts in order to manage the corresponding risk. The spot rate
used at the reporting date against the US dollar is 17,36. A 10% change in the exchange rate would affect proﬁt or loss as
follows:
GROUP
2020
R’000
Sensitivity analysis: Rand against US dollar
Balance as at 30 June

70 637

Strengthen by 10%

7 064

Weaken by 10%

(7 064)

31.4 Interest rate risk
At the reporting date, the interest rate proﬁle of the group’s interest-bearing ﬁnancial instruments were:
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Financial assets (cash and cash equivalents)

48 514

32 822

38 192

19 096

Financial liabilities (borrowings)

70 637

–

–

–

Interest rate risk

A sensitivity analysis is performed by assuming that the assets and liabilities outstanding at year-end have been outstanding
for the whole year and that the interest rate has increased or decreased by one hundred basis points. The effect will be that
proﬁt before tax for the year ended 30 June 2020 would increase/decrease by R485 140 (2019: R328 220) for cash and
cash equivalents, and would increase/decrease by R706 370 (2019: Rnil) for the borrowings.

31.5

Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk arises from the group’s management of working capital. It is the risk that the group will encounter difﬁculty in
meeting its ﬁnancial obligations as they fall due. The group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufﬁcient cash to
allow it to meet its liabilities when they become due. The group manages liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves and by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash ﬂows.
The group has no overdraft facility. In the ordinary course of business, the group generates cash from operations. If
additional cash is required, this can be raised through the issuing of shares for cash. Surplus cash is centrally managed to
maximise returns while ensuring that the capital is safeguarded by investing only with top ﬁnancial institutions.
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31. Financial instruments continued
31.5

Liquidity risk management continued
The following table details the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative ﬁnancial liabilities. This table was
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash ﬂows of ﬁnancial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group would
be required to pay:

Note

Less than
one year
R’000

Between
one to
two years
R’000

Between
two to
ﬁve years
R’000

Total
R’000

Carrying
amount
R’000

2020
GROUP
Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

658

–

–

658

658

Trade and other payables

28

54 354

–

–

54 354

54 354

Borrowings

25

27 740

28 133

22 109

77 982

70 637

Loan from shareholder

26

787

10 468

–

11 255

10 194

Lease liability

27

2 305

2 305

1 335

5 945

5 075

85 844

40 906

23 444

150 194

140 918

Total
COMPANY
Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

330

–

–

330

330

Trade and other payables

28

2 897

–

–

2 897

2 897

Loan from subsidiary

26

Total

21 183

–

–

21 183

21 183

24 410

–

–

24 410

24 410

2019
GROUP
Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

281

–

–

281

281

Trade and other payables

28

30 233

–

–

30 233

30 233

30 514

–

–

30 514

30 514

Total
COMPANY
Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

106

–

–

106

106

Trade and other payables

28

2 660

–

–

2 660

2 660

2 766

–

–

2 766

2 766

Total

It is not expected that the cash ﬂows included in the maturity analysis could occur signiﬁcantly earlier, or at signiﬁcantly
different amounts. Refer to note 25 for details on the borrowings and note 26 for details on loan from shareholder.
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31.6 Fair value of financial instruments
All ﬁnancial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
The directors are of the opinion that the carrying value of the ﬁnancial assets and liabilities as reﬂected on the face of the
consolidated statement of ﬁnancial position approximates the fair value of these ﬁnancial assets and liabilities.
2020

2019

Note

Amortised
cost
R’000

Fair value
R’000

Amortised
cost
R’000

Fair value
R’000

Trade and other receivables

18

13 247

13 247

10 899

10 899

Cash and cash equivalents

19

48 514

48 514

32 822

32 822

61 761

61 761

43 721

43 721

GROUP
Financial assets

Total
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

28

52 810

52 810

29 613

29 613

Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

17 911

17 911

7 449

7 449

Borrowings

25

70 637

70 637

–

–

Loans from shareholder

26

10 194

10 194

–

–

Leases

27

5 075

5 075

–

–

156 627

156 627

37 062

37 062

Total
COMPANY
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

18

608

608

550

550

Cash and cash equivalents

19

38 192

38 192

19 096

19 096

Loan to subsidiary

16

Total

–

–

23 362

23 362

38 800

38 800

43 008

43 008

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

28

2 458

2 458

1 920

1 920

Other ﬁnancial liabilities

29

330

330

106

106

Loan from subsidiary

16

21 183

21 183

–

–

23 971

23 971

2 026

2 026

Total
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31. Financial instruments continued
31.7

Capital management
The cash generated from the Moeijelijk chrome mining operation provides cash ﬂow in support of expansionary projects
based on historical 10-year average CIF US$ pricing. The group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure that the
group remains adequately protected against potential future market downcycles without compromising the group’s ability
to continue operating as a going concern. Should the net cash generated from the chrome operation not be sufﬁcient,
additional capital will be raised by the issuing of shares for cash. The cash outﬂows are managed by adjusting the dividends
and capital expenditure on expansionary projects to coincide with the cash inﬂows from mining operations.
The group’s audit and risk committee reviews the liquidity of the group at every meeting to ensure that the group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders.
The group is not subjected to externally imposed capital requirements.

32. Related parties
32.1 Ultimate holding company
Highland Trading Investments Limited is the group’s ultimate holding company with an effective shareholding of 59,93%.

32.2 Transactions and balances
Subsidiaries (refer to note 14)
Transactions between the group and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the group, have been eliminated on
consolidation. The subsidiaries and associates are:
Effective
holding
%
Absolute Group Management Proprietary Limited

100

Ndarama Mineral Resources Proprietary Limited

100

Bauba A Hlabirwa

60

K2018010724 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

70

K2018010766 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

100

K2018010819 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

100

K2018010850 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

70

K2018368266 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

100

K2018368290 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

70

K2018368317 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

100

K2018368353 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited

100

Nuco Chrome
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32. Related parties continued
32.2 Transactions and balances continued
COMPANY
2020
R’000

2019
R’000

(21 183)

23 362

Trade payable – Bauba A Hlabirwa

686

686

Trade receivable – Bauba A Hlabirwa

476

476

270

–

13 611

14 876

323

2 151

6

–

Loans (from)/to subsidiary
Loans (from)/to subsidiary
Refer to note 16 for detail

Related party transactions
Consultancy fee paid to director of Nuco Chrome by Bauba Resources Limited
Management fees are raised between Bauba Resources Limited and Bauba A Hlabirwa
for the management of the chrome and platinum projects.
Interest charged on the intercompany loan between Bauba A Hlabirwa and
Bauba Resources Limited.
VDH Holdings Proprietary Limited – legal fees

32.3 Directors
The directors of the group during the year were:
Appointed
NPJ van der Hoven

1 June 2015

Chairperson – non-executive

M Luyt

1 June 2015

Lead independent non-executive and chairperson of the audit and
risk committee

SM Dolamo*

17 September 2010

Independent non-executive

DS Smith

17 September 2010

Independent non-executive

Dr NM Phosa

22 March 2011

Non-executive

King TV Thulare**

1 July 2011

Alternate to Dr NM Phosa

NW van der Hoven

1 June 2015

Chief executive ofﬁcer

JA Knowlden

1 December 2016

Financial director

T Makgala

5 February 2019

Independent non-executive

* Resigned: 5 December 2019.
** Passed away: 6 January 2021.

For details of the directors’ remuneration, refer to note 35. Details of other transactions between the group and its directors
are disclosed below.
GROUP

Related party
Prospect Geoservices CC (DS Smith – director – geological services)
Fees
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33. Going concern
The group has net current assets of R28,150 million (2019: R73,271 million) and shareholder’s equity of R278,371 million
(2019: R321,019 million). The group experienced a loss for the year of R45,276 million (2019: proﬁt of R33,031 million). The
cash ﬂow forecast prepared by Bauba management, based on current available information, indicates that the group will
have funds available to ﬁnance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
As is common with many junior exploration and mining companies, the group raises capital for exploration and other projects
as and when required. There can be no assurance that the group’s projects will be fully developed in accordance with current
plans or completed on time or to budget. Future work on the development of these projects may be adversely affected by
factors outside the control of the group as the group’s operating results are subject to changes in the average chrome price
and US dollar exchange rate. Global market uncertainties, driven b COVID-19, have lowered the global demand for stainless
steel and, in turn, demand for chrome. The market price of 42% chrome concentrate has dropped from US$160 (China CIF)
at ﬁnancial year-end to the current market price of US$135 (China CIF) in mid-November 2020. While the US dollar/ZAR
exchange rate has strengthened from 17,36 at the end of the ﬁnancial year-end to 15,33 on 30 November 2020. If the chrome
price drops below this level for an extended period, or if the US dollar/ZAR exchange rate strengthens further, it could cause a
material uncertainty for the group to meet its obligations as they fall due and its ability to continue as a going concern.
The directors have, subject to the aforesaid caveats, a reasonable expectation that the group will have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for at least the next 12 months from the reporting date.

34. Subsequent events
On 22 December 2020, Bauba entered into a binding subscription agreement with Pelagic Resources PTE Limited (Pelagic) in
terms of which Pelagic will subscribe for 113 683 334 ordinary shares of the company (Subscription Shares). The Subscription
Shares represent 29,99% of the issued share capital of the company and will be issued at a price of 22 cents per share, being a
7,04% discount to the 30-day volume weighted average price at the close of business on Friday, 18 December 2020.
The issue of the Subscription Shares is subject to the fulﬁlment or waiver, as the case may be, of various conditions
precedent as set out in the Agreement, including company and regulatory approvals.
The directors are not aware of any other signiﬁcant matter or circumstance arising since the end of the ﬁnancial year, not
otherwise dealt with in this report or the annual ﬁnancial statements, which signiﬁcantly affect the ﬁnancial position of the
group or the results of its operations to the date of this report.
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35. Directors’ emoluments
GROUP AND COMPANY

Salary
R’000

Sharebased
Other
beneﬁts payments
R’000
R’000

Shortterm
incentive
R’000

Longterm
incentive
R’000

Total
R’000

Executive directors
2020
JA Knowlden
Appointed 1 December 2016
NW van der Hoven Appointed 1 June 2015
Total

1 408
1 408
2 816

49
48
97

1 140
1 140
2 280

–
–
–

–
–
–

2 597
2 596
5 193

2019
JA Knowlden
NW van der Hoven
Total

1 329
1 329
2 658

31
30
61

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

1 360
1 359
2 719

Appointed 1 December 2016
Appointed 1 June 2015

The remuneration of the executive directors is determined by the remuneration and nomination committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends. None of the executive directors received short-term incentives, postemployment beneﬁts, other long-term incentive and termination beneﬁts during the year.
Executive directors are subject to the company’s standard conditions of employment.
GROUP

Non-executive directors
NPJ van der Hoven
(Chairperson)
M Luyt
SM Dolamo*
Dr NM Phosa
DS Smith
T Makgala
King TV Thulare
(Alternate)**
– Fees
– Salary

COMPANY

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

2020
R’000

2019
R’000

Appointed 1 June 2015
Appointed 1June 2015
Appointed 17 September 2010
Appointed 28 March 2011
Appointed 17 September 2010
Appointed 8 February 2019

299
252
–
123
281
275

627
180
38
79
90
110

299
252
–
123
281
275

627
180
38
79
90
110

Appointed 1 July 2011

477
125
352

471
139
332

125
125
–

139
139
–

* Resigned: 5 December 2019.
** Passed away: 6 January 2021.

Executive directors of Bauba Resources Limited do not receive directors’ fees and all the directors have service contracts
with the company.
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Shareholder analysis
As at 30 June 2020
Number

%

Shares

%

0 – 1 000

973

55,03

294 299

0,08

1 001 – 10 000

422

23,87

1 748 255

0,46

10 001 – 100 000

272

15,38

10 050 860

2,65

85

4,81

26 463 106

6,98

16

0,91

340 463 729

89,83

1 768

100,00

379 020 249

100,00

Range

100 001 – 1 000 000
1 000 000 +
Total shares in issue
Major shareholders directly owning 5% or more of shares
in issue
Highland Trading Investments Limited

227 160 272

59,93

The Kumane Trust

24 540 443

6,47

Northlew Investments Limited

24 000 000

6,33

Bauba A Hlabirwa

19 866 066

5,24

Shareholder spread
Public
Non-public

1 762

99,66

115 591 838

30,50

6

0,34

263 428 411

69,50

– Highland Trading Investments Limited

1

0,06

227 160 272

59,93

– Directors

5

0,28

36 268 139

9,57
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Directors’ shareholding
Directly
held

Indirectly
held

Total

% of shares

NPJ van der Hoven/NW van der Hoven*

–

24 540 443

24 540 443

6,47

King TV Thulare

–

9 933 033

9 933 033

2,62

Dr NM Phosa

–

1 255 128

1 255 128

0,33

JA Knowlden

300 735

–

300 735

0,08

–

238 800

238 800

0,06

300 735

35 967 404

36 268 139

9,56

NPJ van der Hoven/NW van der Hoven*

–

24 540 443

24 540 443

6,47

King TV Thulare

–

9 933 033

9 933 033

2,62

Dr NM Phosa

–

1 255 128

1 255 128

0,33

JA Knowlden

300 735

–

300 735

0,08

2020

M Luyt
Total number of shares
2019

M Luyt
Total number of shares

–

167 500

167 500

0,04

300 735

35 896 104

36 196 839

9,54

* NPJ van der Hoven and NW van der Hoven are both beneﬁciaries of The Kumane Trust.

There has been no change to directors’ shareholding since the year-end of the company and the date of issuing of this report.
None of the shares held by any director of the company are subject to security, guarantee, collateral or otherwise pursuant to
paragraph 3.63(h)(ix) of the JSE Listings Requirements.
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Financial year-end

30 June

Integrated annual report posted to shareholders

Friday, 15 January 2021

Annual general meeting

Wednesday, 3 March 2021

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS
Bauba A Hlabirwa
BBBEE
CIF
Companies Act
CSI
DMRE
DWS
EBITDA
EIA
EMP
ESG
FW
GDP
HW
IFRS
IT
<IR> Framework
JSE
King IV
LG
LTIP
MG
Moz
MPRDA
Mt
NEMA
PGE
QA/QC
RD
RoM
SAMREC Code
SANAS
PGM
SAPS
SG
SDG
SENS
WML
XRF
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Bauba A Hlabirwa Mining Investments Proprietary Limited
Broad-based black economic empowerment
Cost, insurance and freight
Companies Act of South Africa (Act 71 of 2008, as amended)
Corporate social investment
Department of Mineral Resources and Energy
Department of Water and Sanitation
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
Environmental impact assessment
Environmental management plan
Environmental, social and corporate governance
Foot wall
Gross domestic product
Hanging wall
International Financial Reporting Standards
Information technology
International Integrated Reporting Framework
Johannesburg Stock Exchange
King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016
Lower group chrome ore
Long-term incentive plan
Middle group chrome ore
Million ounces
Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act (Act 28 of 2002)
Million tonnes
National Environmental Management Act (Act 107 of 1998)
Platinum group element
Quality assurance and quality control
Relative density
Run-of-mine
South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves
South African National Accreditation System
Platinum group metal
South African Police Service
Speciﬁc gravity
Sustainable Development Goal
Stock Exchange News Service
Waste management licence
X-ray ﬂuorescence
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Nature of business

Company secretary

Exploration and mining of mineral resources
Registration number:1986/004649/06
Country of incorporation: Republic of South Africa
Share code: BAU
ISIN code: ZAE000145686

Merchantec Proprietary Limited
Email: bauba@acorim.co.za

Registered address
Cube Workspace
1 Wedgewood Link
Bryanston, Johannesburg, 2191
Republic of South Africa
Telephone: +27 (0) 11 699 5720
Fax:
+27 (0) 11 388 3962
Email:
info@bauba.co.za
web:
www.baubaresources.co.za

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers 15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
PO Box X9000
Saxonwold, 2132
Telephone: +27 (0) 11 370 5000

Sponsor
Merchantec Capital

Auditor

Postal address

BDO South Africa Incorporated

PO Box 71036
Bryanston, 2021

Attorney

Directors
Non-executive

Venter de Villiers Tabacks Legal Advisors

Banker
Nedbank Limited

NPJ van der Hoven (Chairperson)
M Luyt*
D Smith*
Dr NM Phosa
T Makgala*
King TV Thulare (Alternate)
* Independent

Executive
NW van der Hoven (Chief executive ofﬁcer)
JA Knowlden (Financial director)
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